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Avis at a glance

Our vision

Loval customers choosing Avis everywhere.

Who we are

Avis Europe plc is a leading car rental company in Furope, Africa,
the Middle East and Asia operating the globally recognised Avis and
Budget brands.

The Avis brand operates across four
continents via a netwerk of over
2,800 locations in 110 countries,
through wholly-owned subsidiaries
in 13 countries complemented by
franchisees in a further 97 countrigs.

The Budget brand, acquired by

Avis Eurcpe in March 2003, serves
customers across three centinents
{Europe, Asia and the Middle East)
threugh over 1,100 locations in 66
countries. These are predominantly

franchise businesses with corporate
operations in Austria and Switzerland,

together with a small number of
locations in France and the UK.

Our market presence

We are a market leader in Europe with an aggregate 17.7%
market share in our 10 largest corporately-owned countries
{Source: Euromonitor IMIS trave! database 2007)

P see Overview page &

Europe Africa Middle East and Asia

Avis corporate revenue

European car rental market

by country by brand
Oeher France Avis
W
Europe” 17.7%
UK Europcar"l 25.6% |
Hertz 153%
Italy
Spain Sixt B.7%
Germany * Includes Budget 2.7%
“Inciudes Vanguard 5.0%
Source: Euromonitor IMIS
Travel Database 2007
Strategic focus
We remain focused on our key strategic priorities, whilst continving to adapt
our business model to the difficuit frading environment.
Brand leadership, service differentiation and Capital allocation

geographic diversification
These priorities supported volumes in a weakening demand background,
with Group revenues ahead by 1.3% on a constant currency basis.

Capital management and cash gensration are key priorities and we
anticipate a positive free cash flowin 2009.

Cost efficiency
We took substantiat and early actions to reduce costs to protect our
operating margin which increased by 0.6% peints to 8.6%.

Business model flexibility
We optimised our fleet evels and reduced capacity to match weakening
demand, delivering a 0.2% improvement in utilisation.
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and actions

We measure ourselves
not just on our financial
performance, but also
how we perform as a
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Chairman’s statement

We made continued trading
progress, despite the deteriorating
economic environment and

weak used car markets. Brand
leadership, service differentiation
and geographic diversification
supported volumes. Strong
revenue management and pricing
actions helped us to deliver a
further improvement in rental
revenue per day, on a constant
currency basis. We also achieved
a significant reduction in the fixed
cost base to protect and indeed
to deliver an increase in our
underlying operating margin.

Results overview

Revenues from continuing operations were ahead
by 1.3% on a constant currency basis and just
1.0% lower at €1,313.8 million on a reported basis,
with good growth from licensees and in the Budget
branded business offset by the impact of currency
translation in the Avis corporate business. We
achieved a 0.7% increase in rental revenue per day
on a constant currency basis. This improvement
was mainly due to the benefits of previous
investraent in revenue management initiatives

and pricing actions. Rental revenue per day on a
reported basis was 1.2% lower due to translation
impacts from sterling and Swiss franc revenue.

We increased underlying operating profit on
continuing operations to €312.7 million (2007:
€i06.5 million), reflecting the improvement in
rental revenue per day on a constant currency
basis, together with significant cost reductions as
a result of strong actions taken by management
and from translational foreign exchange benefits
on the sterling element of the Group's ¢ost base.

These cost reductions oifset the negative impact of
weaker used car markets on residual valugs.

Net finance costs on continuing operations
increased to €75.1 million (2007: €69.7 million)
reflecting an increase in average net debt, offset
by a reduction in the underlying effective finance
rate from 6.7% to 6.2% per annum.

Undertying profit before tax on continuing
operations increased to €38.0 million (2007: €376
million). Earnings per share on the same basis were
2.4 eguro cents (2007: 2.9 euro cents).

Total operating profit was €97.1 million {2007
€101.3 million), total net tinance costs were €34.5
million (2007: €68.9 mitfion) and total profit before
tax on continuing operations was €3.0 million
{2007: €33.2 million). This is stated aftar a net
exceptional charge before tax of €28.8 million
(2007; €6.9 million) and certain re-measurement
items and ecenomic hedging losses of €6.2 million
{2007: gains of €2.5 million). Exceptional items
primarily relate to restructuring costs. Loss per
share on the same basis was 1.2 euro cents (2007:
earnings per sharg 1.6 euro cents). Overall profit
before fax (including the discontinued operation)
was €4.3 million (2007; €19.7 million). Loss per
share on the same basis was 1.1 guro cents (2007;
earnings per share 0.3 eurc cents}.

Currency effects

The 2008 results were affected by exchange

rate movements, in particutar the euro/sterling
exchange rate, when compared with the prior year,
The average sterling/euro rate for 2008 was 1.28
compared te 1.47 in the prior year. From a trading
perspective the strength of the euro had an agverse
gftect on inbound business from the US into Europe
and UK cutbound business into Europe, but a
positive efiect on the translation of the net cost of
the Group's UK activities.

Dividends

In line with recent previous statements, and in view
of the current difficult trading eswiranment, the
Board has not recommended payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2008. The
Board's intention is 1o recommence the payment of
dividends when the financial and trading position of
the Group allows.

Strategic development

We will remain focussed on our key strategic
priorities; brand keadership, service differentiation
and geographic diversification; optimising the
allocation of capital; and improving relentlessly
our cost pasition and business mode! flexibility. At
the same time we will place additional emphasis
on certain elements of our strategy to adapt the

business 1o the present particulady tough economic
outlock. In particular we will focus on oppertunities
in the current industry gavironment to protect our
revenue, reduce capacity and raise prices. We are
also developing further significant cost actions fo
defend the business from inflationary pressures,
whilst continuing to adapt our business model.

Outlook

Whilst we are anticipating lower wolumes, we are
tightening fleet capacity and planning a further
improvement in pricing and a step-change
improvement in utlisation. In addition, the benefit
of last year's restructuring together with the impact
of further cost actions are now being realised.
We have ensured that we have sufficient
committed liquidity for the next 12 months and,
trom the actions cutlined above, anticipate a
positive free cash flow to face successfully the
challenges of 2009

Employees and Directors

In my last statement, | welcomed Pascal Bazin,
who was appointed Group Chief Executive

on 1 January 2008. Additionally, we have
strengihgned the senior management teams with
the appointment of both new Group Commercial
and HR Directors and a new Managing Director in
Spain. At the same time we have ensured that our
management structure reflects the international
nature of our business, an aim which we have now
achieved with the Avis Executive Board. These
new appointments, together with the experienced
Avis management on the team, are providing

the: balance and ¢apability necessary t0 manage
the business through a very ditficult trading
environment.

I would like to thank Gilbert van Marcke de
Lummen and Malcolm Miller for their many
contributions to the Company, following their
retirement from the Beard in May. [n addition,
Lesley Colyer retired as Group HR and Corporate
Affairs Director and stood down from the Board in
July after 19 years with the Group. | would like to
thank Lesley for her substantial contributions to the
development of Avis throughout her career with us.

Finally, | would ke to thank all our employees
arpund the world for their continued hard work,
enthusiasm, loyalty and professionalism. As always,
it is their efforts on behalf of our customers that
really make the difference and we have continued
to achieve solid customer satisfaction scores this
year, despite reducing staff numbers, again winning
many industry awards in 2008.

Alun Cathcart
Chairman




Chief executive’s review

| am very pleased to report a
strongly resilient underlying
trading performance, despite
the deteriorating economic
environment and weak used
car markets we faced in 2008.
Underlying operating profit
increased by 5.8% to €112.7
million and profit before tax

on the same basis was ahead
by 1.0% to €38.0 million. Total
operating profit was €97.1
million and total profit before
tax was €3.0 million, being after
restructuring charges to reduce
the Group’s fixed cost base.

Following my appoiniment as Group Chief Executive
on 1 January 2008, we undertook an initial review
of our strategy and dacided to place more emphasis
on brand (eadership and service cifferentiation,
geographic and customer diversification, cost
reduction and improving the flexibility of our
business model.

We also adopted a stronger operational approach
with meore emphasis on delivery and accountability,
which are fundamental in a service, customer-facing
and extensively networked business, as well as on
accelerating benefits from recent investment in
initiatives such as revenue management.

During the year we made very good progress in
implementing this strateqy, but also in reacting very
quickly, particutarty in the second half, as the trading
envircnment weakened.

Brand leadership and senvice differentiation, as well
4as our geographic and customer diversification,
supported volumes in a weakening demand

background. Group revenues weve ahead by

1.3% in constant currency and just 1.0% lower &t
€1,313.8 million on a reported basis. Our exceltent
and well balanced customer portfolio enabled us
10 compensate lower revenues in the less resilient
Leisure segment with continued growth in the
Corporate and Insurance/Replacement segments.
The strength of our brand alse supported our
leading positian with industry partners; we recenty
agreed a five-year global and exclusive partnership
with British Airways, in addition to strengthening
our partnerships with Iberia, K1M and Luithansa.
The renewal of our five-year exclusive partnership
with SNCF and our preferred partner status with
Eurostar also put us in an excellent position 1o share
in the growth of the rapidly expanding high-speed
rail networks.

We reinforced the differentiation of our brand by
implementing further customer-oriented initiatives
across the network, all designed to improve speed
and quality of service. Our absolutely unigue
"3-minute promise”, for Avis Preferred members,
is now rolled out across 600 stations in Europe
and is serving customers with an exceptional 99%
SUCCess ate. As a consequence we generated a
very strong 18% increase in sign-ups 10 our loyalty
programme, Avis Prefermed, and achieved solid
customer satisfaction scores,

We placed a daily operational focus on achieving
gains in constant currency rental revenue per day,
our measure of pricing, to offset the pressures

on costs. In particular we maximised the benefits
from our recent three-yeas investment in revenue
management, a series of toels and processes which
help us maximise pricing, vields and utilisation. As a
consequence, for the year as a whole, we achieved
a 0.7% improvement in rental revenue per day at
constant currency.

We took substantial and early actions to reduce
Costs to protect and indeed deliver an improvement
in our operating margin, These included the
enforcement of a rigorous recruitment freeze, faster
release of seasonal staff and redundancies, which
together saw a 9% reduction in full time employees
in the second half, We also focussed on the
rationalisation of property with the transfer of the
staff of the UK business head-office into the Group
headquarters building and the closing of low margin
stations, as well as significant cuts in discretionary
expenditure. Overall these actions delivered some
cost benefits in 2008 and are expected to deliver
savings of approximately €16 million annualty
thereafter. Since the year end we have implemented
a salary fregze across the Group.

in terms of improving the flexibility of our business
model we have ensured proactive management of
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our fleet, We constantly optimised our fleet levels
and reduced capacity to match demand, as soon
as the trading environment began to weaken in the
second ha!f. As an example, in the fourth quarter
of the year, we demonstrated this flexibility by
reducing capacity by just under 5% and exiting
December with utilisation ahead by 3.1%.

Regarding funding, the credit markets are generally
difficult at present, therefore we have ensured

that we will have sufficient kquidity for the next 12
months, with good headroom for our anticipated
reguirements. We continue to benefit from the
flexibility of our business model, have strong capital
and cash flow controls in place, and are focussed
on improving asset retums. It is our intention to put
further financing in place in good time for maturnities
that fall due from mid-2010.

In summary, these actions and results mean that
we are well positioned to face the challenges and
opportunities of 2008, as recessionary pressures
intensify and the trading environment is expected to
remain very difficult.

Our key strategic priorities outlined abave will
remain unchanged, with a particular focus and
enphasis on;

* Protecting profitable revenue and lsading the
industry opportunity 1o change;

» Developing further radical cost actions to defend
the business from economic pressures;

« Continuing to adapt our business mode! and its
flexibility; and

* Focussing on capital management and ¢cash
generation as key priorities.

We are developing further significant cost actions,
whilst continuing 10 adapt our business model.

We expect cost savings of around €22 milfion in
2009, incleding the run-rate savings from 2008,
and anticipate a further reduction in fleet capacity
of around 5% 1o 10% as we target a step-change
impravement in utilisation. These actions will help
to maintain our flexibility in this difficult environment
and ensure further progress in 2009,

Pascal Bazin
Chief Executive

3
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Performance in brief

Operational highlights

Strongly resilient performance in 2008, despite deferiorating trading environment.

Brand leadership, service differentiation and geographic diversification supported volumes.

Further improvement in rental revenue per day® resulting from rigorous revenue management and pricing actions.
Continuing positive performance by Licensees.

Increased fleet costs mainly due to weak used car markets, particularly in Spain and the UK.

Significant reduction in fixed cost base and maximised business flexibility to protect operating margin.

Financial highlights

Revenue on continuing operations ahead by 1.3% at constant currency and 1.0% lower at €1,313.8 million on a reported basis.
Underlying operating prefit® up 5.8% at £112.7 million and underlying operating margin ahead by 0.6% points to 8.6%.
Underlying profit before tax® on continuing operations® of €38.0 million (2007; €37.6 miliion).

Currency translation gains offset by trading exchange rate impacts.

Net exceptional pre-tax charge of €275 million {2007: €22.8 million).

Total operating profit on continuing operations® 4.1% lower at €87.1 million.

Profit before tax on cortinuing operations of €3.0 million (2007: €33.2 million).

Loss per share on continuing operations of 1.2 euro cents (2007: earnings per share of 1.6 euro cents).

Underlying earnings per share® on continuing operations of 2.4 euro cents (2007: eamings per share of 2.9 eurg cents}.

Loss after taxation of €9.9 million (2007: profit of €2.9 million).

Key Performance Indicators

2008 2007
Avis Corporate - Continuing:

Rental revenue per day — constant currency’ (% change) 0.7 08
Rental revenue per day - reported currency? (% change) (1.2) 0.7
Bifled days® (% change) 0.t 4.7
Utilisation — average® (% pts change) 0.2 04
Total Group:

Underlying operating margin — continuing operations {%) 8.6 3.0
Underlying return on capital employed — continuing operations® (%) 85 9.0

Calcedated on a corstant currency basis whereby bath current and prior period non-eurg rental revenye is translated into euro at the exchange rate prevailing in the equivalent moath in the prior period.
Uneertying exchides net exceptional charges, certain net re-measurernent gains and economic hedges (see Basis of Preparation). Underlying ks not a defined term under IFRS, and is not intended to be
@ substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures of profit.

Undertying profit hefore taxation from continuing operations in the comparative period exchudes the undestying peofit betore taxation on the discontinued operation of £2.4 mition. Underlying profit
before taxation including the discontinued operation in the comparative pericd is therefore €40.0 milion. These profit measures exclude exceptional charges of €27.5 million (2007 €22.8 milien} and
certain net re-measurement losses and economic heaging adjustments 1atalling a loss of €6.2 milion (2007: gain of €2.5 million).

Other footnotes and detailed definitions are described on page 19.







Business review Business description

The Group is an international vehicle rental services company and a market leader in many of its
markets. Under the Avis and Budget brands, we cperate more than 3,900 corporate and licensee
locations throughout Eurape, Africa, the Middle East and Asia, which completed over eight milfion rental
transactions in 2008 across the network. During the year, our corporately-owned locations employed
some 5,960 staff (based on average full-time equivalent headcount) and had an average fleet of
117,000 vehicles.

We enjoy close commercial ties with Avis Budget Group, Inc., which owns the global rights to the

two brands, as well as the Wizard renta) and reservation system. Long-term agreements with Avis
Budget Group, Ing. give the Group the rights to use the Avis and Budget names, brands and operating
systemns through master licensing agreements until 2036, whilst cross-marketing and joint promotional
agreements are in place to provide custormers with access to a global network.

Avis Europe pic

Avis Budget Group, Inc.

Avis Budget Avis Budget
Europe Europe Americas  Amgricas
Africa Africa  Australasia  Australasia
Middle East Middie East Asia

Territories: Asia
Corporate Countries 13 4 8 5
Corporate Locations 1,646 151 1,268 893
Licensee Countries 97 62 49 55
Licensee Locations 1,200 994 867 994

Our network comprises countries in Western Europe (the corporate countrigs), which operate their own
directly-owned locations and also appoint local agencies anc licensees plus a wider network of national
licensee operations across the rest of Europe, Africa, the Middle East and Asia. We also have joint
ventures in China and France, and minority interests in operations in India and Malaysia.

Corpoerate locations are directly owned by the Group and employ Avis Europe’s staff, premises and fleet.
Agency operations are ownad and aperated by third parties who rent the Group's vehicles, but employ
their own staff and usa their own premises. Agency revenue is accounted for as Group revenue, with the
agent receiving a percentage of revenue as commission, Licensed locations are owned and operated by
licensees who pay fees in return for the use of the brand and operating system. In the latter case, we
only include the licensee fee receivable in revenue.

In 2008, revenues from the Avis branded business represented 96% of overall revenue, and the Avis
corporate countries accounted for approximately 93% of overall revenue.

The Budget branded business in Europe, Asia and the Midd'e East serves customers through over 1,100
rental locations in 66 countries. Corporate countries comprise France, United Kingdom, Austria and
Switzeriand. In 2008, the Budget branded business represented 4% of our overa¥ revenue.

A description of the performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008, and significant
developments which occurred during the year, is set out in the Chairman's statement on page 2, the
Chief Executive's review on page 3, and on pages 10 to 19 of this Business Review.
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Brand leadership and
service differentiation

We continued to differentiate the Avis
brand by reducing waiting times with our
“3-minute promise” and speeding up

the retum process with our Rapid Retum
Service. These efforts were recognised
with many industry awards in 2008.

Geographic
diversification

We benetited from our good geographic
balance with trading in Italy and Germany
mitigating the tough economic environment
in Spain and the UK. We have strengthened
cur leading position in Eastern Europe and
the Asian countries.

Strong customer
satisfaction scores

Cur award winning “We Try Harder.” blog in
the UK, enables customers to have an online
dialogue with the marketing and customer
service departments to continually review
and imprave the service provided. We
achieved solid customer satisfaction scores
in 2008

Overview I

Business review
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Business review Market analysis

Avis corporate revenue by country

Operating environment

Market size and growth

There is litile external data available regarding
the car rental market on a Eurgpean-wide basis,
the latest being the Euromanitor IMIS Travel
Database 2007. Euromonitor estimated the

car rental revenue generated in the 10 main
countries where we operate on a corporate basis
(see below) was €8.81 billion during 2007, The
largest countries by revenue were Germany
(22%), the United Kingdom (18%), France
(17%), Spain (16%) and laly (12%). During this
period, Euromonitor estimated that 44 millioa
rentals were made and that a combined ileet of
approximately 1.2 million vehicles was employed
by the car rental industry.

Whilst there is no market data currently available
for the car rental industry in 2008, growth has
historically been closely tied 1o general economic
activity levels and, in the case of rentals from
airports, 1o airline passenger volume growth.
The glabat econamic environment deteriorated
during 2008, particutarly in the second half of
the year, with The Economist Intelligence Unit
reporting growth of 1.1 % in Euro-area GDP for
2008, compared with growth of 2.6% in 2007.
The international Air Transport Association

(IATA) reported full year growth of 1.8% in Intra-
European passenger numbers, although there
was significant varation between the first and
second halves of the year. The growth rates in
the gar rental market in 2008 are likely to have
been similar,

In 2009, the overall demand outlock in the
Group's main markets is expected 1o be
challenging and uncertain. As at January 2009,
The Economist Intelligence Linit was forecasting

a 1.2% deciine in Eurc-area GDP in 2009 with
growth of 0.5% in 2010, with UK GDP forecast to
decline by 2.5% in 2009 and by 0.9% in 2010.

Growth expectations for the airine sector tend

to be higher than GDP growth, driven in part by
structural trends, in particular by the continued
growth of low Cost airines. IATA forecasts growth
in passenger arrivals tor flights within Eurape of

Avis corporate revenue by customer

Individual

Individual
intermediary

4.4% per annum for 2008 to 2011, marginally
down from their previous forecast of 4.8%.

Air passenger growth estimates 2008-2(12
(average annual rate)

Intra-European 4.4%
Europe-Asia Pacific 6.5%
Europe - North America 3.5%
Source: |ATA

Market composition

The car rental market is generally categorised
either by the type of customer, (Leisure,
Corporate, Insurance/Replacement) or by the
location of remal (airport, non-airport). In 2007,
Euromonitor estimated just undes 54% of the
market to be leisure, with approximatety 40%
being corporate and 6% being replacement
busingss. Ouring 2007, 42% of the industry’s
revenue came from airport rentals, with 58%
attributable 1o non-airport locations.

Customer groups

Reflecting the above, we recognise three key
customer types, each with differing needs
and expectations: individuals, Corporate ancd
Insurance/Replacement.

Individual:

These customers are individual travellers booking
directly or indirectly through travel companies, tour
aperators, partnership arrangements and brokers.

The individual customer category is mare seasonal
than the corporate customer category, with
demand peaking over the key holiday perieds.
Individual customers are principally attracted

to Avis by its widespread network, quality of
service, reliability, car choice, brand, website and
competitive prices.

Corporate;

Corporate customers book via negotiated
arrangements with their employers and through
vehicle replacement companies.

Avis corporate revenue by location

The total European
car rental market
in which we operate

is worth around
€8.8 billion




The corporate customer category displays a
relatively even paftern of demand throughout
the year. The key requirements of corporate
customers are competitive prices, speed and
guality of service, refiability, car choice,
availability of management information and
geographical coverage.

Insurance/Replacement;

These customers come through insurance and
leasing companies, vehicle dealerships and repair
shops with which Avis has a direct contractual
relationship.

This category alse displays a relatively even
pattern of demand throughoust the year and
customess' requirements are similar to those in
the corporate segment.

Partnerships

To support business frem both individual and
corporate customers we have an extensive
portfolio of over 70 international partnerships with
the world's airlines, raitway networks and other
leading travel companies.

Stations/locations
Renta locations throughout the network are

selected for their convenience to customars, with .

particular importance attached to representation
at airports, rail focations and other major travel
points. Whilst Euromonitor estimates that across
the market as a whole, 42% of revenue comes

from airport rentals, Avis benefits from a broadly
even distribution of revenue from airport

and non-airport locations due 1o its significant
intarnational network.

Competition

The European car renial market is dominated

by three large multinational companies that
comprise around 60% of the overall market. The
Euromonitor research refered to earlier shows
that the Avis and Budget brands had the second
highest aggregate market revenue share in our
10 largest corporate countries in 2007 at 17.7%.

The merger between Europcar and Vanguard
(primarily National and Afamo brands) in
November 2007 gave Europcar a leading position
in the European market place with a reported
share of 25.6%. Hertz is the third largest with a
reported market share of 15.3% in 2007.

In specific markets we face competition from
other car rental operators. For example, Sixt are
a major competiter in Germany and Enterprise in
the United Kingdom. There are a large number of
smaller-scale operators with strength in particutar
markets (frequently the Mediterrangan), examples
being Maggiore in taly and ADA in France.

It is noteworthy that the Group operates two of
the four established giobal brands, Avis, Budget,
Hertz and Europcar (Vanguard).
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We are a leading
player in high-speed
European rail
networks — exclusive
partner to SNCF and
preferred Eurostar
partner

Business review |
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Customer focus

Delivering

customers a
better rental
experience

Avis has taken Avis Preferred to a
new level and is committed to serving
customers in 3 minutes
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Business review Financial review

Key performance indicators

The Board monitors a range of financial and
non-financial parformance indicaters, reported
on a periodic basis, to measure the Group's
performance. Of these, the key measures are set
out in the table below:

Pertormance indicators 2008 2007
Avis Corporata — Continuing:

Rental revenue per day — 07 0.8
constant cusrency’ {% change)

Rental revenue per day — {1.2) 07
reported currency? (% change)

Bifled days? (% change) 01 47
Utilisation - average (% pts change) 02 0.4
Total Group:

Ungertying operating margin — B6 80
continling operations (%)

Ungerlying return on capital employed — 8.5 9.0
continuing operations® (%)

Feotnotes and detailed definitions are described on page 19,

Resulis overview

Revenues from continuing operations were ahsad
by 1.3% on a constant currency basis' and just
1.0% lower at €1,313.8 million on a reported
hasis, with good growth from licensees and in

the Budget branded business offset by the
impact of currency translation in the Avis
corporate business. We achieved a 0.7%
increase in rental revenue per day? on a constant
currency basis. This improvement was mainly
due to the benefits of previpus investment in
revenue management initiatives and pricing
actions. Rental revenue per day on a reported
basis was 1.2% lower due to translation impacts
from sterling and Swiss franc revenue.

We increased underlying operating profit on
continuing operations to €112.7 million (2007
€1086.5 million), despite the very tough economic
environment, This reflected the improvement in
rental revenue per day on a constant currency
basis, together with significant cost reductions as
a result of strong actions 1aken by managerment
on the Group's ongoing restructuring programme
and from translational foreign exchange benefits
on the sterling element of the Group's cost base.
These cost reductions offset the negative impact
of weaker used car markets on residual values.

Net underlying finance costs increased to
€75.1 million (2007: €69.7 millign) reflecting
an increase in average net debt, offset by a

reduction in the undertying effective finance rate
from 6.7% 10 6.2% per annum.

Undertying profit befere tax on continuing
operations increased to €38.0 million (2007;
€37.6 million), Eaenings per share on the same
basis were 2.4 euro cents (2007: 2.9 euro cents).

Total operating profit was €97.1 million (2007:
€101.3 million), total net finance costs were
€94.5 million (2007: €68.9 million} and total
profit before tax on continuing operations

was €3.0 million {2007: €33.2 million). This is
stated after a net exceptional charge before
tax of £28.8 million {2007. €6.9 million) anc
certain re-measurement itemns and economic
hedging losses of €6.2 million (2007: gains of
€2.5 million). Exceptional items primarily relate
to restructuring costs. Loss per share on the
same basis was 1.2 euro cents (2007: earnings
per share 1.6 euro cents).

Overall prefit before tax (including the
discontinued operation) was €4.3 million (2007:
€19.7 milion). Loss per share on the same basis
was 1.1 euro cents (2007; earnings per share
0.3 euro cents).

Turnaround of the Budget
brand continues

Internet drives
volume growth

During 2008 the new Budget brand website
was rolled out to 10 additional countries and
is now live in 30 countries in 22 languages.
it is helping to drive a significant increase

in internet reservations (+29% on 2007},
improving conversion rates and enabling
Budget to strengthen its direct relationship
with customers.

New partnerships

2008 showed strong growth in contracted
leisure volumes and in the acquisition of key
airline parinerships including Etihad, Kuwait,
Guif Air, Jazeera, Pegasus and Turkish Airlines.

Overall Budget achieved double-digit growth
in network revenues and market share gains
across EMEA.

Strengthening
network locations

In 2008 Budget continued to strengthen its
network in key European airport locations,
inciuding the addition of London Gatwick
and Rome Flumicino. A further 95 locations
and two new countries were added to the
licensee network to take advantage of higher
growth rates in these markets.




Currency effects

The 2008 resuits were affected by exchange
rate movements, in particular the euro/sterling
exchange rate, when compared with the prior
year. The average euro/sterding rate for 2008 was
.28 compared to 1.47 in the prior year, From a
frading perspective the strength of the eura had
an adverse effect on inbound business {rom the
US into Europe and UK outbound business into
Europe, but a positive effect on the translation of
the net cost of the Group's UK activities.

Revenue overview

%
€ milkion 2008 2007 change
Rental revenue 11016 3,194.2 (1.1)
Other non-rental revenue 194 1258 {5.)
Corgorate - continuing 1,221.0 12400 (1.5
operations”

Licensees 366 381 13
Avis — continuing operations 1,257.6 11,2741 (1.3
Corporate 43.2 426 14
Licensees 13.0 1041 287
Budget 56.2 527 G686
Revenue - continuing 1,3138 i1,3268 (1.0
operaticns

Revenue — discontinued - 487 nfa
operation

Revenue including 1,313.8 13795 A
discontinued operation

"Excluding inter-segment sales
nfa means not applicable

Avis Corporate revenue

Revenue from continuing operations in the Avis
corporately-owned business segment was broadly
flat, being ahead 0.4% on a constant currency
and 1.5% lower than the grior year at €1,221.0
million on a reported basis.

For the full year we increased billed days® volume
by 0.1%, driven by an improvement in rental
length. First half volume growth of 2.2% was
offset by mare difficult demand conditions in the
second hatf when volumes were 1.7% lower, with
later months being weaker.

We achieved a (0.7% gain in rental revenue per
day on a constant currency basis, despite the
mix effect of continued strong volume growth in
the Insurance/Replacement customer segment
and overall longer rental length. Rental revenue
per day was ahead by 2.0% in the first haf,

but began to reflect the weakening demand
conditions referred to above in the third quarter.
As a consequence, in October, we implemented
a significant price increase in non-gontracted
business, thereby holding revenue per day flat

year-on-year in the fourth quarter and 0.5%
lower in the second half overall. The market
remained competitive in the first half, with some
noticeable easing of competitive pressures

on pricing 1owards the end of the year. Rental
revenue per day on a reported basis was 1.2%
lower following the translation of sterling revenue
into euro at a weaker sterling exchange rate than
in the prior year.

Our excellent customer portfolio balance
supported our performance with continued growth
in the Corporate and insurance/Replacement
segments, balancing lower revenugs in the less
resilient Leisure segment.

The analysis of rental revenue by customer
type follows:

Indfvicual

Billed days through individual direct customers
were ahead in the first half, reflecting the strength
of the brand, but were lower in the second half as
economic conditions worsened. This led 1o overall
revenue from this customer group being below
prior year.

During the year we reduced the volume of
business through the broker intermediary channel
in order to both improve vields and hold the
customer relationship directly.

We achieved rental revenue per day gains in this
segment, albeit weakening in the second half.

From a geographic perspective the market in
Spain has been particularty difficult throughout
2008 reflecting its early economic slowdown, with
other main markets being relatively more resitiept
for most of the year.

Corporate
Overall rental revenue from this customer group
was ahead of the prior year,

Billed days were up, largely driven by an increase
in both rentals and average rentat length, with
{lat rental revenue per day. Lower revenues in
Spain and the UK, reflecting economic conditions
in those markets, were offset by good growth in
both Germany andi Italy.

Insurance/Replacement

Overall rental revenue from this customer group
was ahead strongly again, reflecting good
performances in Italy, Germany and the UK.
Rental revenue per day was below the prior year,
partty driven by an increase in rental length.
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Avis Licensee revenue

Overall revenue from licensee countries grew

by 14.7% on a constant currency basis and by
7.3% on a reported basis, Excluding the impact
of the licensing of the Group's operations in
Greece, cengee revenues were 12.4% ahead on
a constant cursency basis and 4,.9% ahead on a
reported basis,

Budaget Corporate revenue
Budget Corporate revenue of €43.2 million was
1.4% ahead of prior year with volume growth in

all corporate countries.

2
Budget Licensee revenue =
Budget Licensee revenue of €i3.0 million was 2
€2.9 million ahead of prior year, with continugd &2
growth in network revenues across the EMEA _E
region, g

(]
Discontinued operation

Revenue from the discontinued operation in Greece
for the seven months of ownership in 2007, before
being franchised, was €48.7 miliion.

Operating Profit Overview
%
2008 2007 change

127 1065 58

€ million

Underlying operating profit -
continuing operations
Undertying operating profit — - 79 e
dfscontinued operation

Amounts excluded from

underlying

Operating profit including
discontinued operation and
amounts exciuded from undertying

(143) 211y  nfa

984 233 55

The analysis of underlying operating profit
— continuing operations follows:

Avis Corporate - continuing

€ million 2008 2007
Revenue 1,221.0 1,240.0
Cost of sales {126.5) {7187}
Administrative expenses {4131.5) {442.8)
{including headguarter costs)

Underlying operating profit — 81.0 775
continuing

Underlying Avis operating profit* for continiuing
operations, including headquarter costs, was
€81.0 milion compared to €77.5 million in

the prior year. The improvement resulted from
substantial savings in headquarters costs, which
more than offset higher fleet costs.
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Business review Financial review continued

We took substantial

actions to reduce
costs to protect
and indeed deliver
an increase in our
operating margin.

Underlying operating cosis of continuing
operations at €1,340.0 milion were 2.0% lower
than the prior year.

Cost of sales of €726.5 million was just

€6.8 million or 0.9% higher than the pricr year,
despite fleet costs increasing by €16.4 miltion

or 3.8%. These higher fleet costs were largely due
10 the weaker used car markets impacting residual
values on non-repurchase cars, particulary in
Spain and the UK, as well as purchase price
inflation from the car manufacturers. Increased
fleet costs were partly offset by savings in damage
and insurance costs, foreign exchange translation
benefits of fleet costs in the UK and a 0.2%
improvement in utilisation®. Whilst utilisation was
0.4% lower than the prior year in the first half, it
was 0.8% higher in the second half despite the
more difficutt resale market conditions.

Sellirg costs were 7.4% lower, mainly benefiting
from actions taken in the second half to minimise
discretionary marketing expenditure. Rental related
costs and revenue related costs were controlled
tightly, being 3.1% lower and flat respectively.

Administrative expenses (which comprise staff
costs and overheads) of €413.5 million, were
€29.3 million lower than the comparative
period. Staff costs were reduced by €7.5 millian,
reflecting both headcount reductions and
exchange translation benefits. Overhead costs
were €21.8 million lower, despite property disposal
gains in the prior period, targely reflecting lower
depreciation, benefits from the transiation of
sterling based overheads into euro, lower bad
debt charges, and a reduction in operating
taxation charges.

Avis Licensees

€ milion 2008 2007
Revenue 36.6 341
Cost of sales and . (1.9 2.2)
adminisirative expenses

Underlying operating profit a7 319

Avis Licensees undertying operating profit

{after the afocation of direct marginal costs) of
€34.7 million improved by €2.8 million, primarity
as a result of good revenue growth and excellent
cost management.

Budget

€ million 2008 2007
Revenue 56.2 527
Cost of sales and (59.2} (55.6)
administrative expenses

Underlying operating profit {3.0) (2.9

Revenue of €56.2 million was up €3.5 million.
Cost of sales was €1.8 million higher than the
comparative period, primarily driven by volume
growih, whilst administrative expenses were
€1.8 million higher, seflecting inflationary
increases and non-exceptional reorganisation
costs. Consequently, the undertying operating
loss increased marginally to €3.0 million.

Underlying operating margin - continuing
Undertying operating margin on continuing
operations was 8.6%, being 0.6% points higher
than the prior year, primarily reflecting the
improvements in constant currency rental revenug
per ¢lay and reductions in the cost base referred
to earligr.

The operating margin on continuing operations
after exceptional items, certain re-measurement
items and economic hedges reduced marginally
from 7.6% to 7.4%.

Discontinued operation

On 25 July 2007 the Greup disposed of and
re-licensed its eperation in Greece. tUnderlying
operating profit for the seven months of ownership
in 2007 was €7.9 million.

Net finance costs

€ million 2008 2007
Finance costs

Continuing operations 7249 67.1
{excluding oeferred consideration)

Deferred consideration 22 26
Continuing operations 75.1 69.7
Discontinued operation - 5.5
Undertying net finance costs” 751 75.2
including discantinuad aperation

Average net debt

Continuing operations 1,183 1,004
Discontinued operation - 95
Average net debt including 1,183 1,089
discontinued operation

* Excludes certain re-measurement items and economic hedges,
totafling a loss of €19.4 million (2007 gain of €0.8 million).

The increase in average net debt of continuing
operations from €1,004 million to €1,183 million
primarily resulied from a reduction in net fleet
creditors, offsetting the benefit from disposing of
the operation in Greece. The underlying effective
finance rate on continuing operations was 6.2% in
2008 (2007: 6.7%), reflecting lower market rates,
lower interest receivable, and lower interest on
tax charges. Undertying net finance costs on the
discontinued operation were nil in the curent year
{2007: €5.5 million).




Net exceptional charges

Net exceptional charges before taxation of €27.5
million were incurred in the year, summarised as
{ollows:

€ million 2008 2007
Restructuring costs 276 71
Goodwill impairment 15 4.0
Centrus receivables 0.3) 0.7)
Independent investigation and - 48
associated costs

Project termination credit - (2.6)
Net Insurance provision release - 5.7
Net exceptional items before 28.8 6.9
tax - continuing operations

Discontinued operation {1.3) 15.9
Net exceptional itens after tax 275 228

including discontinued operation

The cash cost in 2008 of exceptional items (pre
taxation) was €21.1 milion (2007: €11.7 million).

Restructuring costs of €27.6 million included €1.9
million of costs incurred ini the first half in respect
of a redundancy programme that commenced in
December 2007, Restruciuring costs of €257
million were then recognised in the second halt
reflecting a further rationalisation of operations

in response to the deterioration in the trading
environment, ingluding redundangies, the closure
of certain low margin rental locations, and the
rationalisation of property with the transfer of

the siaff of the UK business head-office into the
Group headquarters building. These restructuring
costs include redundancy costs, onerous

lease provisions, fixed asset impairments, and
exceptional pension curtaiiments,

In the prior year, restructuring costs of €7.1 million
were incurred with respect to the redundancy
programme commenced in December 2007,

and the final elements of a restructuring project
commenced in 2005.

During 2008, the Group recognised an exceptional
impairment provision against the goodwill arising
on the acquisition of certain licensees in Holland.
This followed a reappraisal of the business in
conjunction with the restructuring referred to
above. In the comparative year, the Group acquired
the assets of a licensee in Germany and an
impairment provision was made in respect of the
goocwill arising.

During the current and prior years, the activities
associated with the closure of the Centrus
credit hire business were more successful than
previously anticipated. The Group therefore

partially reversed provisions recognised in prior
years, resulting in a further exceplional credit of
€0.3 million {2007: €0.7 million).

In the prior year, the Group disposed of its
subsidiary in Greece. The Group has recognised
an exceptional credit of €1.3 million in the current
year to reflect the final settiement of a warranty
provision,

Certain re-measurement items and economic
hedges

The tollowing items have been recognised in

the year and are excluded from undertying profit
hefore tax:

Operating  Finance Profit
€ million prefit items  before tax
Re-measurement gains/ 80 {184) {10.4)
(losses) on derivative
financial instruments
Economic hedge adjustments 5.2 0.5) 47
Foreign exchange loss - 0.5) 0.5
on borowings

132 (19.9) (6.2

Re-measurerent gains and losses on derivative
financial instruments arise from the recognition

in the Incoma Statement of movements in the fair
value of certain derivatives under IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The Group uses such derivatives to hedge its
underlying economic positions, but only applies
hiedge accountiag to those relationships where it
is both permissible and practical to do so.

Re-measurement gains and losses on derivative
financial instruments are excluded from underlying
profit, However, an economic hedge adjustment is
then made to underlying profit to the extent that
the re-measurement gain or loss economically
hedges the movement in a related position that
iiself has been recognised in undertying profit.

During the year the Group experienced net gains
on forgign exchange contracts, but experienced
losses on interest rate swaps, caps and collars
given falls in base interest rates,

Accounting standards as applied atso restrict

the recognition of barrowings as part of a net
investment in foreign operations. Forgign exchange
movements on certain short-term borrowings are
therefore recognised in the Income Statement, but
are excluded from undetlying prodit.
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Business review I

We are developing
further significant cost
actions and expect
cost savings of around
€22 million in 2009,
including the run-rate
savings from 2008.
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Business review Financial review continued

Joint ventures and associates

€ milicn 2008 2007

Share of profit of joint 04
ventures and associates

The Group's joint venture in China continued 1o
demonstraie strong revenue and profit growth,
benefiting in part from the Beijing Olymipics.

The Group's share of profit of joint ventures and
associates is lower than prior year due to start-up
costs of the Group’s OKIGO car club initiative in
France which is being undertaken in partnership

with Vinci Park.

Taxation

€ milion 2008 2007
Undertying taxation:

Continuing operations 16.2
Discomtinued operation credit -

Underlying taxation — total 16.2 10.3
Charge on exceptional items -
{Credit)/charge on certain 2.0y
re-measurement items and

economic hedges

Taxation charge including exceptional 14.2 16.8

iterns, certain re-measurement items
and economic hedges and
discontinued operation

The underlying effective rate of taxation on

continuing operations rose to 43% (2007; 30%)

as a consequence of resulls arising in different

jurisdictions impacting both current and deferred

{axation together with a reassessment of
deferred taxation in the light of the current
ECONOMIC envirpnment.

The underlying 1ax charge in respect of
discontinued ¢peraticns was €nil in 2008

compared 1o a tax credit of €1.1 million in 2007,

The 2007 credit arpse from a reduction of
deferred tax tiabilities following the lowering of
the corporate tax rate in Greece in 2007.

The tax credit on exceptional, certain re-
measurement items and economic hedges in

2008 was €2.0 milion compared to a €6.5 million

charge in 2007, reflecting the change in mix of

exceptional items and the conservative approach
adopted with respect to the deductibility of certain

expenses.

Fleet

The majority of vehictes continue to be subject
to manufacturer repurchase arrangements,
which guarantee a disposal value at the end of

the holding period, thereby reducing the Group’s

exposure to residual value risk. The analysis of

closing non-repurchase and repurchase vehicles
on the Balance Sheet is set out below:

€ milon {net book amoust) 2008 2007
Non-repurchase vehicles on flest 410 4487
Non-repurchase vehicles held for resale  10.3 Al
Manufacturer repurchase vehicles 8412 8789
Total fleet 1,292.5 13347

The average number of fieet units operated in
continuing operations during the year was around
1% lower at 117,000 (2007: 118,000} vehicles,
reflecting a 2.6% reduction in fleet levels in the
second half in response to the weakening demand
background. Within this total, vehicles under non-
repurchase (off-balance sheet) operating leases
reduced by 3.0% 10 9.5%.

Return on capital employed

ROCE® for underlying continuing operations was
slightly lower at 8.5% (2007: 9.0%). The higher
undertying return achieved by the Group was
offset by a higher average capital employed,
particutarly in the first half of the year.

Shareholders’ funds and returns

At the end of the year, sharsholders’ equity in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet was €69.3 million
(2007: €96.2 million). Movements in shareholders’
funds comprised the loss attributable to equity
holders as recognised in the Income Statement,
cash flow hedge losses of €9.6 million, actuarial
gains in respect of the Grouwp’s pension scheme of
€11.2 million, and translation reserve adjusiments
of €19.3 million which arose from the translation
of the UK asset base at the weaker closing
sterling/euro exchange rate.

The direct impact of foreign exchange (pre
taxation) on shargholders’ equity was €2.4 million
as the translation reserve adjustment of €23.1
million together with the loss arising from foreign
exchange on net debt of €0.5 million, were ofiset
by the net gain on foreign exchange derivatives of
€13.2 miltien.

Shareholders’ equity in the unconsolidated
Parent Company Balance Sheet at 31 December
2008 was £314.6 million (2007: £421.5 million).
The principal movement in the year was following
a review of the Company's investment in its
subsidiaries. This review indicated that this
investment carrying value should be reduced
and, as a resuit, an impairment charge of £113.2
millien has been recognised in the unconsolidated
Parent Company Financial Statements, This
impairment is a non-cash charge and has no
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements
or on banking facilities or financial covenants.

Cash flow/net debt movement

€ million 2008 2007
Net cash generated from operating  132.0 436
acthvities

Net cash used in {157.8) (70.6)
investing aclivities

Net cash used in (0.8) (33.8)
financing activities

Net change in cash and cash (26.6) (60.8)
equivalents before foreign exchange

Other movements in net debt 81.3) (65.9)
resulting from cash fiows

New finance leases (23.2) {48.3)
Other non-cash movements, {21.3) 5.3
including the effects

of foreign exchange

Mavement in net debt (152.3) {169.7)
{exciuding Greece disposal)

Debi disposed with the operation - 196.7
in Greece

Movement in net debt {152.3) 270

Overall when aggregating repurchase and risk
vehicles, fleet cash outflows were broadly in
line: with prior year, with the benefit from lower
flest tevels offset by reduced credit terms on
certain finance lease vehicles following taxation
rule changes.

The improvenent in cash generated from
operating activities is mainly attributable 10 the
disposal of vehicles under repurchase agreements
and a reduction in trade receivables, This is
partialy offset by the increase in cash used in
investing activities, which includes the effect of the
change in purchase structures on finance lease
vehicles and a switch from operating lease vehicle
financing to owned fleet in certain countries.

Net cash used in financing attivities reduced due
1o the realisation of certain debt derivatives in the
prior year in ling with foan note maturities, Gther
movements in net debt resulting from cash flows
orimarity comprise additional tax settlements and
interest payments. Other non-cash movements,
including the effect of foreign exchange in the
current year are primarily due to reductions in the
fair values of debt related derivatives.

Nat debt
31 December 1 January
2008 2008
% Emillion % € miion
Inerest bearing assets (5) 521 (B 663
Debt due within one year 4 (451) 3 (3.0
Debt due after one year 74 (@B403) 71 (6992
Finance leases N (23T 28 (2737)
Derivative debt instruments 6 (662) 4 {433
Net debt 100 (1,133.2) 100 (9809




There have been ne significant changes in the
composition of net debt during the year. Whilst
there has been a reduction in the level of finance
leases reflecting lower fleet at 31 December
2008, there has been a reduction in the value of
fixed interest rate derivative debt instruments given
the general reduction in market interest rates.

Pensions

We operate both funded and unfunded defined
benefit pension and statutory termination
schemes, as well as defingd contribution schemes.

Funded defined benefit schemes

The principal funded scheme is that operated in
the United Kingdom. The difference between the
market value of all funded scheme assets and the
actuarial vatue of the funded scheme liabilities at
31 December 2008 was a ceficit of €36.7 million
{2007: €62.5 million).

The fair value of the scheme assets has decreased
by €49.5 million {2007 €6.3 million increase) in
the year. This reflects the exchange translation
foss as a result of the weakened sterfing currency

and an experience loss on plan assets, offset by
funding contributions from the Group. The present
value of the scheme obligations has reduced by
€75.3 miltion (2007: €11.3 million reduction),

due to the effect of the weakened sterling
currency noted above and a gain on the change of
assumptions, being mainly an increased discount
rate. Imerest on scheme Kabilities was €11.1
million (2007: €11.2 million) and the net actuariai
gain was €9.8 million (2007; €8.9 million). The
non-contributory fina) salary section of the UK
Plan was closed to future service accruals from

1 April 2007 and fulure service benefits now
accrue under the contributory Retirement Capital
(cash balance) section of the Plan.

Unfunded defined benefit schemes

The principal unfunded scheme is hefd in
Germany and is closed to new entrants. The
actuaria! value of all unfunged scheme liabilities
was €34.2 milion (2007: €35.0 million), The
reduction in the deficit is primarily due to actuarial
gains related to the increase in the discount rate
applied to liabilities.
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The underlying charge in the income statement
for defined benefit schemes was €9.6 million
{2007: €10.2 million), the reduction being due
to the closure of the United Kingdom final salary
scheme part way through the prior year and
changes in the entitlement rules related to the
German pension scheme.

Treasury

Financial risk management objectives and policies
We have a centralised treasury function that is
respensile for the management of the Group's
financial risks together with its liquidity and
financing requirements. The treasury function is
not a profit centre and its objective is to manage
risk at optimum cost. Treasury operatiens are
conducted within a regularly reviewed framework
of policies and guidelines approved and monitored
by a sub-committee of the Board. This framework
faciitates the execution of Board-approved
strategies. A discussion of the Group's financial
risk management objectives and policies, and
exposura to various financial risks, is includad in
Note 27 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Business review |

Brand leadership and
service differentiation
— Avis Preferred
“3-minute promise”

Our “3-minute promise” has heen such a
success in France, where it was initially
trialled, that we have now rolled it out to

600 locations across France, Germany, Spain,
UX, Portugal and Switzerland. More countries
will follow soon, including ficensees.

Approximatety 75% of all Avis Preferred
rentals within Europe now take place ata
3-minute location, enhancing customers'
rental experience and improving customer
acquisition and loyalty.
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Business review Financial review continued

Supported by our
strong capital and
cash flow controls we
have ensured that we
have sufficient
liquidity for the next
12 months.

Current liquidity

We fund the Group’s operations through a
combination of retained earnings, working
capital and borrowing {acilities. The majority

of borrowings are raised through Avis Finance
Company ple, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and proceeds are used to
finance the Group’s subsidiaries on an arm’s
length basis. In order to ensure maximum
flexibility to changing requirements, we seek

to maintain access to a wide range of funding
sources. Financing facilities therefore include
bank borrowings, lean notes, finance leases and
a commescial paper programime in Selgium.

As al 31 December 2008 the Group had undrawn
committed borrowing facifities of €608.0

mifion {2007: €712.4 million) and additional
encommitted borrowing facilities avaiable of
€383.7 miion (2007: €583.0 million). Ot the
undrawn committed facilities €300.3 million
expire within ore year (2007; €228.7 million), €nil
between one and two years (2007 €54.6 million)
and €307.7 milien between two and five years
(2007: €429.1 million).

In addition, as at 31 December 2008, the Group
had outstanding loan notes and assaciated
derivative financial instruments of €597.8 million
(2007: €596.5 million). Of these, €51.6 million
matures between one and two years, €460.6
million matures within two and five years, and
€85.6 million after more than five years (2007:
€264.0 million between two and five years and
£332.5 million after more than five years), The
Group also held cash and cash equivalents of
€24.7 million (2007: €52.7 million).

The Group's committed bank facilities and loan
notes are unsecured and contain a number of
financial covenants including: a minimum EBIT
level, 8 maximum limit o he ratio of total net
financial debt to undertying EBITCA; and a
minimum limt to the ratio of underlying EBITDA
to net interest expense. Each of these covenants
is measured at 30 June and 31 December each
year and on a rolling 12-month basts on either
an underlying IFRS or underlying UK GAAP
basis. On an IFRS basis for the year ended 31
December 2008, the ratio of total net financial
debt to underlying EBITDA was 2.5:1 (2007:
2.2:1) and the ratio of underlying EBITDA to

net interest expense was 6.2:1 (2007: 6.1:1).
We monitor compliance against all the Group's
financial chligations and manage the consolidated
balance sheet and debt requirements so as to
operate within the financial covenants. The first
repayment on the Group's committed borrowings
is due in August 2010. This is a relatively small

(€51.6 milion} repayment of US private placement
notes. Beyond this, tie next borrowing repayment
is not due uniil February 2011, the maturity

date of the Group's €580 million revolving credit
faciity. The Group therefore has no committed
hank facilities or loan notes due for repayment
within 19 months of the year-end.

Other funding arrangements

Where commercially beneficial, we seek 1o
optimise financing costs by entering into operating
lease transactions where substantially all of

the risks and rewards of ownership remain with
the lessor. At 31 December 2008, the fotal
commitment to pay operating lease renials in
future periods for land, buildings and vehicles
was €250.0 million (2007: €190 .4 million).

At the end of the year, the Group has certain
insurance, operating lease and station rental
commitments which are backed by guarantees
and letters of credit that have been issued by
banks to third parties amounting ta €80.0 milon
(2007 €86.5 million).

Insurance

We are legally obliged o provide all vehicle rental
customers with insurance against accidents
caused to third parties, and cover is also offered
against theft and personal accident. In addition,
we cover various risks arising from the normal
course of business, including damage to property
and general liability. Cover is arranged with a
number of major insurance compasies to cost-
efiectively spread the risk. We also reinsure a
limited amount of the risks through the Group's
captive insurance company, which in turn buys
reinsurance to limit its own exposure.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk mitigation is a key part of the management
of the Group and we have a well developed
process 1o identify, manage and limit exposure
to areas which may have a negative impact on
the business. The process we have in place for
managing risk is described in the Corporate
Govesnance report on page 32. As would be
expected the refative importance of certain risks
has changed since the prior year end, particularly
the effect of economic uncertainty on demand
and residual vatues in used car markeis. As a
result we have taken actions to respond to these
changes and will continue to monitor and respond
to the changing climate.

Summarised below are some of the risk factors
that may affect the Group's business.

+ International operations
* Demand




* Pricing and competitive pressures

* Flegt

« Relationship with Avis Budget Group, fnc.
* Insurance

* Funding

« Interest and foreign currency

& Pensions

International operations

Given its extensive geographic coverage, the
Group's business is subject o various risks
inherent in international operations. These

risks include, amongst other things: regulatory
requirements, differing legal and tax practice and
interpretation, potential difficulties in managing
foreign operations, different local accounting
practices and potential political instability.

Demand

The Group faces various risks associated with
the demand for its services, which in itself is
highly seascnal. Disruption could occur during
the peak summer season at the time when we
increase staff levels and purchase more vehicles
10 accommodate the anticipated wsual increase
in demand. There may be disruptions in air travel
patterns or a general decrease in air travel as a
result of a significant event such as a terrorist
incigent or as a consequence of increased
security measures being taken by the authorities
in anticipation of such a threat. An economic
downturn pases challenges for the Group given its
capital intensity and short forward reservations,
requiring carefil management of the business io
manage capacity, costs and profitability.

Pricing and competitive pressures

" The Group and its licensees are subject to
competition from a wide range of other operators
both directly and via intermediaries and brokers.
Large European competitors compete with the
Group in most customer categories, and mergers
and acquisitions involving those competitors

may result in increased competitive pressure.
Local operators may have lower operating costs,
enabling them to charge relativety low prices. In
addition, the car rental industry faces pressure
from ingreased pricing transparency as a result
of the growth of intemet traved portals, other
forms of e-commerce and the rental brokers. This
transparency has increased the prevalence and
intensity of price competition.

Feet

Loss or material change in the terms on which we
obtain fleet vehicles from major vehicle suppliers
could harm the performance of the business.

In the event that we could not procure all the
required vehicles from current sources, vehicles

could be obtained from other sources such as
dealers. However, there could be risks to business
volumes and te financial and operating results as
we sought alternative supplier arangements.

The effective cost of vehicles is dependent on
the new purchase price, the leve! of discount, the
amount of any marketing contributions and the
residual vatue of the vehicles, either on the pre-
agreed price for repurchase vehicles or the open
market for non-repurchase vehicles. There is a
risk that the effective cost of vehicles increases
and because of competitive pressures, we will
be unable o pass on such an increased cost of
vehicles to rental custormers.

Historically sales incentive and discount
programmes offered by manufacturers to car
renial companies have tended to keep the average
cost of cars low for the car rental industry. In
periods when the environment for new car sales
improves or when manufacturers are trying

10 rebalance capacity for a downward shift

in demand, they could decide to reduce their
allocation of sates to fleet purchasers such as the
Group, or 10 remove the incentives and discounts
thereby increasing the average cost of vehicles.

Vehicles not covered by repurchase programmes
are sold on the open market. Residual values

of these vehicles are exposed to an agdverse
movement in second-hand vehicle prices, which
can be a result of a number of factors, including
general economic conditions, tightening of
avaitability of credit to potential buyers, model
changes and changes in environmental legislative
policy which cause short term uncertainty and
prompt change in customer preference. Equally,
a severe or persistent decline in the results of
operations or financial condition of one of the
major manufacturers supplying vehicles for

the Group's fleet could impact residual vatues.
Any such movement in used vehicle prices or
poar demand in the used vehicle market may
hinder our ability to se!l these vehicles and could
adversely affect the Group’s results.

Where difficulties are experienced in sourcing
vehicles, or where prevailing economic conditions
result in depressed used vehicle prices and
reduced demand, these risks may he mitigated by
extending the holding period of vehicles. However,
extended holding periods may introduce new
risks including increased maintenance costs,
manufacturer warranty expiry, more uncertainty
over residual values, higher CO, emissions, and
the potential impact of older vehicles on customer
loyalty and safety considerations.
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If @ decline in the results of operations or financial
condition of a vehicle manufacturer (or other
repurchase programme counterparty, such as a
dealer) were S0 severe as to cause it to default on
an obligation to repurchase vehicles covered by
repurchase guarantees, we would have to find an
alternative method for disposal of those vehicles,
which could increase the Group's expenses and
decrease the proceeds from such disposals. Any
such default might also leave the Group with an
unpaid claim against the manufacturer or dealer
with respect to repurchase vehicles that have
been sold and returned but nct yet paid for.

If governments across Europe introduce rapid
changss to taxation or environmental regulations
desigred to encourage the use of vehicles with
lower €O, emissions this may result in lower
current vehicle residual values and, at least

in the short term, have an adverse impact on
the Group's performance untit existing fleet is
replaced. In addition, further legislative changes
encouraging the use of vehicles with lower vehicle
emissions could result in additional costs in the
medium term if the fleet cannot be adapted to
wholly mitigate these changes and any resultant
higher costs recovered.

Business review I

Relationship with Avis Budget Group

Avis Budget Group, Inc. (ABG) licenses the Avis
and Budget brands to the Group for operation
in specified territories through master licensing
agreements which expire in 2036.

The Group does not have any cross-shareholdings
with ABG, yet through the close contractua!

and business relationship the twa companies
wark together to provide a seamless service

10 custormers of both the Avis and the Budget
networks. We refy on ABG to operate its own
business in a manner that both upholds the valus
of the global brands and afiows the Group 1o
provide a similar service in the locations in which
it operates. We have joint marketing initiatives
with ABG and share market and customer
information where appropriate. It also provides
joint services and cross-refers customers through
a formalised agreement. The maintenance of

a good management relationship with ABG is
therefore important to the Group,

We use the Wizard rental and reservation
system under license from ABG, pursuant io a
long-term computer services agreement, which
is subject o a five-year notice period. Wizard
has been operational since 1972, and has been
continuously enhanced and expanded since that
time. It is a fully integrated reservation, rental
and management information system that is
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used by Avis Europe and ABG worldwide. We
are obfiged to contribute to the cost of upgrading
and enfrancing Wizard, therefore unanticipated
costs could adversely affect the Group's results.
Should Wizard need to be reptaced, process and
execution issues could present a substantial risk
to the Group's operations.

Any adverse changes to the terms of the
agreements or any deterioration in ABG or its
business or in the relationship with ABG is likely
to have an adverse effect on the Group's financial
condition and results of its operations.

Insurance

We are legally obliged to provide statutory third
party motor liability insurance to all customers.
This insurance provides financial protection
against claims from third parties where the
Group's customers are at fault in a road accident.
In addition, sales of damage waivers and persenal
accident insurance are important sources of
revenug. We also cover various risks arising in
the normal course of business, including damage
to property and general liability. Insurance

policies are arranged with a variety of insurance
companies and we are reliant on their continued
credit standing. Certain of these insurance policies
are supported by letters of credit provided by the
Group the extent of which is partly dependent
upen the insurer's perceived credit standing of
the Group.

We alsc reinsure a limited amount of the risks
through the Group's own captive insurance
companies, which in turn buy reinsurance to
limit their own exposure to acceptable levels.
Significant risks would exist to the stability of the
Group’s business if access to primary insurance
and/or reinsurance was constrained, denied or
available ondy at increased ¢osts that could not
be passed on in increased prices.

Funding

The Group's operations are by their very nature
capital intensive and are dependent on its varigus
sources of funding.

Terms of credit between the Group and its
principal suppliers of fleet vary widely, depending
both on the market in which the vehicles are to
be used and on the supplier. Certain suppliers
also provide vehictes on off balance sheet
operating lease terms. Any material worsening
of credit terms would result in a corresponding
increase in debt funding requirements.

We fund a substantial proportion of the Group's
vehicles with borrowings, including both on and

ofi balance sheet leasing arrangements, and,

as such, depend on access 1o the debt markets
and other forms of financing to fund the Group’s
fleet. If we are unable to access such debt
facilities on commercialty acceptable terms,

or have difficulty meeting the terms of any
financial covenants, the current business, results
of aperations, financial concition and future
prospects may be adversely affected.

In order to mitigate against these risks and to
guarantee access to liquidity, we sesk to ensure
that the Group has a core level of long-term
committed funding in place with maturities
spread over a number of years. This core funding
is supptemented with shorter-term committed
and uncommitted faciities particularly to cover
seasonal debt requirements. It is noteworihy that
lease finance tends to be only available on shorter
maturities than other forms of debt. All funding

is arranged with a wide range of providers, on
both a public and private basis. We maintain

a regular dialogue with debt providers 10 keep
them updated on the trading performance and
orospects of the business.

Interest and foreign currency

Interest rate risk arises from the Group's
borrowings which, after foreign currency risk
hedging, principally arise in euro and sterling.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas
borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. To manage
these risks, the Group is both financed through a
combination of fixed and floating rate facilities and
enters into various derivatives. As present debt
facilities mature the Group is exposed to higher
credit spreads on its borrowings.

The majority of the Group's business is transacted
in euros, sterling, US dollars and Swiss francs. In
gach country where the Group has a corporate
operation, revenue generated and costs incurred
are primarily denominated in the relevant local
currency, so providing a natural curency hedge,
I addition, intra-group trading transactions

are netted and settled centrally. Any remaining
material foreign currency transaction exposures
are hedged as appropriate into either euro or
sterling. Revenue recognised from licensees is
primarity received in sterling.

With regard to translation exposures the policy is
to match where possible the average assets of the
Group to the equivalent average fabilities in each
major currency and thus minimise any impact to
the Group. To the extent that this does not ocour,
both foreign currency borrowings and forward
exchange coniracts are used.

Pensions

The Group has two principal defined benefit
pension schemes, a UK scheme which is in
deficit, and an unfunded scheme in Germany.

The Group's balance sheet liability against these
schemes is subject to uncerainty concerning

the risks and retums around the respective assetls
and liabilities of the UX scheme and the interest
rate applied to the book reserve for the German
scheme. In particular, volatility in interest rates
has an impact on the amount by which future
pension liabilities are discounted and affect the
returns forecast to be earned, An actuaria!
valuation of the Avis UK Pension Plan was
prepared as at 31 March 2008. This was the first
valuation of the Plan carried out subject to the
requirements of the Pensions Act 2004 and, as
anticipated, the tunding level has deteriorated
since the previous valuation as at 30 June 2005,
This is mainly due to the reduction in the expected
real rate of return and to an increase in the post-
retirement longevity assumption. As a result, the
Group’s future cash contributions to fund the
deficit wil increase substantially as from July 2009.

Going Concern

The Group's business aclivities, together with
the factors ikely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in this
Businass Review. In addition, the financial
position of the Group, including its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are
described above. In addition notes 27 and 28 to
the Financial Statements explains the Group's
objectives, policies and processes with respect
to financial risk management; details the Group's
exposures to credit risk and liguidity risk; and
describes the Group’s financial instrements and
hedging actvities.

The Group is subject to a number of key business
risks as described on pages 16 to 18. The nature
of the car rental business model should mean that
the Group has an ability to readily flex business
size and henge funding requirements if required.
As an example, due 1o the relatively short holding
period (typically circa seven months) the Group

is able 1o flex its vehicle flee! level relatively
guickly to meet beth fluctuations in demand

or funding constraints. Also a relatively large
number of temporary staff are employed for the
seasonal peak; again this helps provide fiexibility
in managing costs. Furthermore, the Group

can choose whether o franchise or corporately
own its operations. The Group also benefits

from significant diversification, in terms of its
customers and suppliers, its geographic spread
and its sources of funding. As a consegquence, the
Directors believe that the Group is well placed to




manage its business risks successfully despite the
preseni highly uncertain economic outiook.

As part of its normal business practice the Group
regularly prepares both annual and longes-term
plans. These plans include an estimate of the
financing required over the respective period.
Current torecasts indicate that the Group expects
to operate within its committed {acilities over the
next 12 months together with sufficient operating
lease lines. Furthermore, these forecasts also
indicate that the Group is expecied o be able to
aperate within its lenders’ financial covenants
(described in this Business Review on page 16)
over the same period.

Specifically regarding sources of liguidity, and as
detailed in note 26 to the financial statements, the
Group has €45.1 million of borrowings due within
one year which primarily consist of uncommitted
overdraft facilities and commercial paper. Whilst
the Group will seek the ongoing renewal of these
facifities, the Group currenlly maintains sutficient
headroom withir its committed facilities should
any of the uncommitted facilities not be renewed.

The Group uses finance leases as part of its
funding, having €232.7 million of such leases due
within ane year at 31 December 2008, as detailed
in note 25 to the financial statements. These

are short-term committed facilities, provided

by local financial instititions, secured on the
applicable fleet, and are generally renewed on an
annual basis. As at the date of these Financial
Statements, sufficient committed finance lease
facilities are in place to finance the current year
peak requirement for vehicle fleet that is usually
funded using these facilities.

Regarding term-dabt, the first zepayment (€51.6
millicer of US$ private placement notes) in respect
of comunitted borrowing facilities is due in August
2010. The next borrowing repayment is not due
until February 2011, being the maturity date of the
Group's €580 million revolving credit facility. The
Group therefore has no committed borrowings due
for repayment within 19 months of the year-end.

With respect to the longer term, the Group has
commenced discussions with various financial
institwiens with respect to a variety of potential
forms of future medium-term funding. In
particular, the Group is investigating the possibility
of further directly utifising the security and
relatively liquid nature of its fleet in common with
industry practice.

Therefore, whilst any consideration of future
matters involves making a judgement at a
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particular point in time about future events
which are inherently uncertain, the Directors,
atter making apprapriate enquiries, as indicated
above, have reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, the Oirectors continue to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the
Financial Statemenis.

Accounting standards and policies

There were no significant changes in either
accounting standards or policies which impacted
the Group in the year.

Forward looking statements

Centain statements in this Annual Report are
forward-looking. Altheugh we believe that the
expectations seflected in these forward-looking
statements are reasonable, there can be no
assurance that these expectations will prove

to have been correct. Because these forward-
locking statements involve risks and uncertainties,
actual results may difier materially from

those expressed or implied by those forward-
looking statements.

Martyn Smith
Group Finance Director

Footnotes and detailed definitions

1 Constant currency fevenue data is calculated whereby
beth current and prior period non-euro denominated revenue
s translated into euro at the exchange rate prevalling in the
equivatent month in the prior pencd.

2 Rental revenue per dy is calculated as rental revenues
divided by biled days. Rental revenue per day is defined as
revenue exciuding sale of fued, sub-licensee income and the
provision of foreign exchange services to rental customers as
wel as other incidental operating income divided by billed days.
3 Bilied days intlude any day or period less than a day for
which a vehicle rantal is Invoiced to a custemer,

4 Underlying excludes net excepticnal charges and certain
net re-measurement gaing and econoenic heaging gains.

5 (Unilisation is calctdated as the average period of time
during which veticles are on rent as a percentage of thelr
holding periad.

§ Retum oa capital employed is the ratio of underfying
cperating profit for the past 12 months, including the operating
profit of the joint venture and associate, to capital employed.
Capital employed is an average of current and previous

two period end closing balances, comprising shareholders’
funds plus net debt and cther kabilities. The indicator as at
31 December 2007 was weighted towards year end capital
employed and has been restated accordingly.

19

Business review I




Highly trained
and motivated

‘We try harder.’ is our heritage.
It embodies the Spirit of Avis
and truly differentiates us.
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Corporate social responsibility

Board level responsibility for CSR rests with the Chief Executive. In

our corporately-owned operations, GSR management and monitoring
is assigned to local management. For licensee countries, Regional
Licensee Directors are responsible for promoting alignment with Group
CSR principles and policies.

Our impacts
and actions

We are committed to measuring the impact that our business has on
the environment and taking steps to improve the situation.

Qur Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) strategy is an integral part of our *We try harder.
philosophy.

With regard to the environment our strategy is to ensure we progressively reduce gur €0,
emissions in our premises, offset non-reducible emissions and continue to introduce less
polluting vehicles onto our fleet where possible. Our European corporately-owned operations
and some of our licensees are carbon neutral. We have guidelings in place for reducing
energy use in our operations and in 2008 we completed environmental audits of a number

of headquarters buildings and major rental locations in the Group's main corporately-owned
markets. The results will be used to create a blueprint for further reductions in C0, emissions
across the business.

We face challenges in setting formal overall targets for energy consumption because in many
of our rental stations, particularly at airports, we have limited or almast no ability to directly
affect our energy use in that we are often sharing a building with other users. However, where
possible, we have sought closer links with airport operators to maximise opportunities for
joint environmental initiatives, particularly in relation to recycling.

On community matters, corporately-owned operations focus their efforts on the provision

of vehicles for community purposes and local environmental improvements, whilst tocal
management have discretion to support local statf volunteering and fundraising for causes of
their choice.

In our marketplace, we continue to be leaders in the adoption and development of best
practice in many aspecis of our customer service. In the workplace we focus on continual
improvement in employee satistaction, which together with customer satistaction, is
essential for the longer-term success of the Company, particularfy in the current challenging
market conditions.

Company values are set out in our statememnt of business principles {(see www.avis-europe.com).

We are a member of the FTSE4Good Index and the Kempen/SNS Smallcap SRI Europe Index.

Environmental impacts

We remain committed to reducing, where possible,
our negative impacts on the environment, of which
by far the greatest are greenhouse gas emissions.
Qur European corporate operations and some of
our licensees are CarbonMeutral@® and we continue
to introduce less polluting vehicles onto our flest.

We measyre our environmental impacts internally
and our data is reviewed and analysed by the
E:dinburgh Centre for Carbon Management working
with The CarbonNeutral Company.

In 2008 emissions from our corporately-owned
operations amounted to 14,648 1CO,e.

Gorporate operations

In 2008, our corporate operations focussed on
developing and completing a series of initiatives
{o improve environmental performance, including:

= completing the integration of environmental
reporting inta financial reporting using a new
finance system, which tracks utility use and
business travel;

undertaking a number of environmental audits
of headquarters buildings and major rental
{ocations in the Group's main corporately-
owned markets;

beginning the implementation of the resulting
recommendations ko achieve emissions
reductions;

making better use of resources and making
all staff aware of what they can do to reduce
energy use, including the use of e-leaming to
reduce travel;

further increasing the use of videoconferencing
between our Group headquarters in Bracknell
and our other country corporate head offices
with seven countries now participating, with a
resulting reduction of over 25% in European
travel; and

developing closer links with customer groups
to help reduce their environmenial impact,
including the launch of a bookable “green
fleet” and a carbon offset tool for corporate
customers.

We offset our emissions in 2008 in conjunction
with The CarbonNeuiral Company. Around 90%
of total emissions were offset through renewable
energy, independently credited to the Voluntary
Carbon Standard: the remaining offset was via
tree planting; since 2000, we have offset over
118,896 tonnes of CO,.






Fleet operations

We seek to minimise emissions from our fleet
by introducing more environmentally friendly
vehicles in more focations. In 2008 they have
included:

» Ford flexi-fuel cars in France

» | PG fuelled Volkswagens in ltaly

* BMW 1 series with stop-start technology in
Spain, Germany, the UK and Belgium

* Honda Civi¢c hybrids in Germany, Portugal
and Holland

+ Toyota Prius in the UK

As a result of these and other changes, a
significant proportion of 2008 fleet purchases
emitted below the European norm for ce,.

In Paris the OKIGO initiative, undertaken jointly
with Vinci Park, allows custorners who pay a
subscription to have an Avis car available 24/7
in one of the many Vinci car parks. During 2008
OKIGO was expanded to 100 cars in 25 stations,
mainly based in Paris, with a three-fold increase
in the number of members to 1,500. Studies
show that sharing a car in this way effectively
replaces up 10 eight individual ¢ars. We have
also signed a partnership with Vingi Park, the
Paris Metio and SNCF (leading French railway
company) to facilitate the operation of a public
car sharing scheme with 4,000 vehicles in Paris
in 2010,

Avis Norway, Sweden and Spain maintained their
eco IS0 14001 standards.
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Offsetting our
emissions

We offset our emissions in 2008 in
conjunction with The CarbonNeutral
Company. Around 90% of total emissions
was offset through renewable energy,
independently credited to the Voluntary
Carbon Standard, remaining offset was via
tree planting. Since 2000, we have oftset
over 118,896 tonnes of CO,.

CSR |
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Community

We aim to make a positive contribution to
the quality of life in the communities where
we operate.

Our community investment guidelines provide that
we focus on local environmental improvement and
provision of free transport for community activities,
In addition to this activity across our corporate and
licensee network, we support UNICEF on a variety
of projects. We alse support initiatives which are
particularly important to local stafi.

Some of our 2008 projects have included:

* supporting a road safety project for school
children in Germany,;

= collecting foed for Christmas on behalf of the
NGO Caritas;

« fundraising for a ¢ancer care charity in the UX;

* the renovation of a forest path in Hungary,

* the establishment of a partnership with Action
Aid in Italy; and

« fundraising for the Portuguese Community
against Aids (Portugal).

In addition, we support employes volunteering
and fundraising:

» where staff commit to voluntary work for a
charitable organisation in Barcelona, the Avis
contact centre makes a quarterly contribution;
and

* in our headquarters we maich sponsorship
funding for individual and team efforts.

Workplace

As challenging market conditions prevailed during
2008, we focussed on increasing the flexibility
ang effectiveness of our organisation and
maintaining and managing employse motivation
and engagement.

Having achieved much improved results in our
employee satisfaction survey in 2007, we needed
to ensure we buiit on these improvements

even through the difficult economic conditions.
Therefore, despite making management and
structural changes in many areas of our business,
we have focussed efforts on celebrating our
successes, keeping our cutture alive, increasing
communication with employees, continued
employee development and an established
programme of community involvement.

The ‘We try harder.’ promise

We rely on our people to deliver the "We try
harder.' promise and appreciate that it is essential
that we make Avis an enjoyable place to work
where people can develop and grow.

We operate in many different countries and
therefore have employees with very different
cultural backgrounds. Accordingly we ensure
that every employee understands what ‘We try
harder.’ means and takes pride in working for
Avis, regardless of their role.

We keep the spirit of 'We try harder’ alive
through Compasny induction programmes and
through our communications and training
programmes. We have a number of employee
recognition programmes that are widely used,
encouraging employees to celebrate teamwork
and enjoy time away from the workplace

with their colleagues. For example, every
country recognises its 'Station of the year'

and individual employees recognise colleagues
who have demonstrated great commitment or
service through a scheme known as ‘Making

a Difference’. Every year Germany hosts an
extremely popular weekend fogtball competition
known as ‘We kick harder’ which is attended by
people from other countries and centres.

Recognising and celebrating success is a key
feature of our culture. We positively encourage
our people 1o raise their ideas for improvements
and innovations by participating in our new
ideas scherne, called *Winning Ideas’. We also
continue to recogrise and value long service
within the organisation and have a fradition of
public celebration of major service milestones
in all countries and centres. In Budapest we
celebrated the 5th anniversary of the Business

Support Centre, with special recognition for
those employees who have been there since the
centre’s opening.

Gommunicating with our people

In 2008 we have focussed on ensuring that

all emplovees understand how the Group

is performing, the impact of the external
environment, and the role they play in delivering
LI SUCCESS,

All countries and centres have delivered
comprehensive communication strategles,
including face-to-face time for all levels of
emnployees with senior leaders and reqular
briefings on progress from their own managers.

Al our 2008 Licensee conference we focussed
strongly on the theme of communicating with
employees and keeping peaple motivated during
difficult times.

Developing our people

Qur Human Resources vision is to enable people
to grow within our company — developing both
themselves and cur organisation.

Each country and centre carries out
comprehensive training programmes for both
front-tine and head-office based employees. Much
operational training takes place within stations
using real-life situations. Te support this, some
countries, including France and the UK, have
developed a programme where certain station
employees undertake special training to enable
them to act as coaches 10 other employees.

During 2008 we developed a comprehensive
European-wide training programme, utifsing
e-tearning and classroom training for Rental
Safes Agents, which ensures that every country
can train people to the same high standards.
Comprehensive training and development
programmes are in place in both support centres
for all levels of employee and these are regularly
reviewed and refreshed.

Diversity

Ouring 2008 we have continued to focus on
developing a workforce which reflects the
commuities that we serve. In particular, we need
to ensure our management structure reflects the
international nature of our business, an aim which
we have now achieved with the Avis Executive
Board, which comprises five different nationalities.
In our contact centre in Barcelona we employ
some 30 nationalities. In our Group headquarters,
we now have some 21 different nationalities
working side by side.




Equal opportunities

We operate in many countrigs with diverse
employment practices. Whilst respecting locat
circumstanges, wherever we operate we follow
the principles of equal opportunity in recruitment,
development, remuneration and agvancement.

Health and safety

We continued to focus on creating a robust health
and safety culiure across the Group, with each
country and centre required to report quarterly on
key statistics.

The majarity of countries have increased training
in this area and many countries have taken
actions locally to further improve performance.

Marketplace

We aim to make Avis first choice for our
customers by continually improving our

service and so ensuring customer satisfaction
and loyalty. This is especially important in

an increasingly price competitive market
enviranment. We have made further good
progress this year, in particetar ensuring that our
customer service levels have not been impacted
by the staff and cost reductions made in
respense to the weaker economic background.

We manitor customer satisfaction principally
through customer surveys and the level of
complaints and each country Managing Director
takes persanal responsibility for menitaring and
improving customer satisfaction scores. Each
month we distribute over 35,000 surveys and
we receive over 6,000 replies. Of those returned,
some 80% are received back in less than thiee
days, enabling us to pass comments on to the
relevant business area tor appropriate action
with minimal delay. In addition, Avis UK operates
a '‘We try harger.’ blog, enabling customers to
have an on-line dialogue with cur marketing

and customer sesvice departments in the UK

to continually review and improve the services
we provide.

Our four key measures ¢f custemer satisiaction
remain:

= gverall satisfaction;

+ wiliingness of customers to recommend Avis
{Net Promoter Score™);

* customer complaints; and

= perception of station performance,

In 2008 we held “overall satisfaction levels”
stable. This measure reflects customer satisfaction
“overall with the rental experience™. The net
promoter score, which measures the willingness

1o recommend Avis to a friend, improved again,

by 1%. The percentage of customer invoices
which were adjusted in 2008 continued to reduce.
The station performance score, which records

the overall efficiency of the running of a station,
improved by a further 1% against last year,
primarily driven by greater satisfaction with the car
pick-up service, following the introduction of the
“3-minute promise”.

We also focussed our efforts on building on

the progress made in difterentiating the brand
and making the rental process faster, simpler
and clearer for customers. During the year we
increased further the number of people signing
up to the Avis Preferred service, underlining the
improving trend in customer satisfaction and
loyalty. Avis Preferred sign-ups increased by
18%, while the number of active Avis Preferred
customers increased by 15%.

For Avis Preferred customers we continued the
rell-out of our *3-minute promise” programme.
Under this programme we guarantee customers
their keys and rental agreement within three
minutes of entering the service station, If we
fail, the customer receives a retail voucher for
€30. The "3-minute promise” is now available
in France, Germany, Spain, UK, Portugal,
Switzerland, Belgium, Netherlands and Poland,
and is providing real difierentiation in the market
place. Approximately 75% of all Avis Preferred
rentals within Europe now take place at a
3-minute location.

We achieved the IS0 10002 — CMSAS 86:2000
standard for Quality Management Customer
Satisfaction — Complaint Handling and were
re-accredited at the beginning of 2008. The
standard covers all our European offices and
demonstrates that we follow best practice in all
aspects of complaint management and continual
improvement of performance. During 2008 Avis
Germany was awarded the “Best Car Rental
Company 2008" by the German Instituie for
Service Quality (DISQ GmbH & Co. KG).

Awards remain a strang indication of how we
are seen by our customers. Our achievements
in 2008 included the following: British Travet
Awards, Car hire company of the year 2008;
British Travel Awards, Best leisure car hire
company 2008; British Travel Awards, Best
business car hire company 2008; World Travel
Awards, Asia's leading car hire company 2008;
Leading car rental provider in Middle East 2008,
Business Traveller Magazine; and Britain’s
mast tnysted brand 2008, car hire sector — UK
Readers Digest.
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We achieved solid
customer satisfaction
scores, despite
reducing staff numbers.

Our four key measures of customer
satisfaction

* Qverall satisfaction

» Willingness of customers to recommend
Avis {Net Promoter Score™)

* Customer complaints

+ Perception of station performance

CSR |




Working hard to
offset our impacts
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Pascal Bazin (52)

Appointed to the Board 1 Jaruary 2008

Chief Executive (since January 2008)

He joined Avis France as President in 2005 from Redgats, the third fargest
home shopping Group werldwide, where he was CEO of the Redcats
specialised brands division and Senior Vice President of Group Strategy/
Development, His previous appeintments include Chief Executive Officer of
a number of international divisions of the cosmetic group, Yves Rocher. He
began his career in Y980 with management consulting firm Peat Marwick
Mitchell, after graduating from Palytechnique school in Paris.

Jean-Pierre Bizet (60)

Appointed to the Board 29 October 2002

Executive Deputy Chairman (since May 2004)

He was appointed a non-executive Director of the Board in October 2002,
and became Executive Deputy Chairman in May 2004. In May 2005 he
was appointed Chief Executive Officer of s.a. D'leteren n.v., and he is also
a Director of Befron s.a.

Martyn Smith (53)

Appointed to the Board 11 September 2002 .

Group Finance Director (since September 2002)

He joined Avis Europe from John Menzies plc where he held the position
ot Group Finance Director fram 1999, Prior to joining Menzies, he was
Group Financial Controller for Inchcape plc, and previously held a number
of financial roles with Inchcape plc and Bothmans Intermational,

Non-execitive Directors

Alun Catheart (55) #1

Appointed to the Board 3 February 1997

Chairman (since May 2004)

Chairman of the Nominations Committee

Until 1 January 1999 he was Chairman and Chief Executive of Avis Europe
ple and served as Interim Chief Executive from Novemnber 2003 until March
2004. He spent 14 years in executive positions in the transportation industry
betore joining Avis Europe in 1980, and became Chief Executive in 1983,

He is Chairman of Palletways Group Limited.

Les Gullen (57) "#1

Appointed fo the Board 25 May 2004

Chairman of the Audit Committee

He has held successive appointments as Group Finance Director of STC ple,
De La Rue plc, Goodman Fielder Ltd, Inchcape plc and Prudential pic, having
previously held senior financial roles with Black & Decker and GrandMet.
During the last few years, he has also been Chairman of a number of private
equity-backed companies, He is a non-executive Director and Chairman of
the Audit Committees of Interserve pic, F&C Glabal Smaller Companies pic
and BT Pension Scheme Trustees Lid. He is also a trustee of the charity
Sustrans Ltd.

* Member of the Audit Committee
# Member of the Nominations Commitiee
1 Member of the Remuneration Committee

Roland D'leteren (67) #1

Appointed to the Board 3 February 1997

Since May 2005 he has been Chairman of s.a. D'teteren n.v., having
previously been President and Chief Executive Officer since 1975. He joined
s.a D'leteren n.v. in 1971. He is a non-executive Director of Belron s.4.

Benoit Ghiot (39)

Appointed to the Board 15 December 2004

He is Chief Financial Officer of s.a. D'leteren n.., having joined the Company
in 2002, and is also a member of the Board of Directors of Belron s.a.

Prior to joining the D'leteren group, he was Group Controller and Strategic
Pianning Director with the Belgian retail group GIB.

Axel von Ruedorffer (67) *#1

Appointed to the Board 27 June 2001

From 1984 to 2002 he was a member of the Board of Managing Directors
of Commerzbank AG, having joined the bank in 1967 and was responsible
for Accounting and Taxes, Compliance, Financial Control and Internal
Auditing. He is a non-executive Director of a number of companies, including
Stiebel Eltron Group and some financial institutions.

Pierre Alain De Smedt (64) “#t

Appointed to the Board 1 Fehruary 2007

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (since May 2008)

He is Chairman of Febiac npa (Belgian Automobile Association). He was
with Volkswagen for 25 years, managing operations in Belgium ang South
America and was appointed Chairman of Volkswagen's Spanish SEAT
business in 1997. He moved to Renault for five years, becoming Deputy
Director General for Renault Groupe SA. He currently holds a number of
diractorships with Belgacom, CNP, Deceuninck, Valeo and Alcopa.




Corporate governance

Gode principles

Introguction

This report describes how the corporate governance principles set out in
the Combined Code are applied by the Company. The role of the Board

is collectively to provide clear and effective leadership of the Company by
setting strategic objectives and providing the highest vafues and standards
for the conduct of the Company's business. The Beard is also responsible
{or ensuring that sufficient resources are available to achieve the Company's
objectives, for angotng review of management performance and for ensuring
that a framework of prudent and effective controls is in place to enable risks
to be properly assessed and managed.

Board of Directors
The Directors of the Company during the period 1 January 2008 to 3 March
2009 are listed below:

Pascal Bazin {appointed 1 Janwary 2008)
Jean-Pierre Bizet

Alun Cathcart (Chairmany)

Lesley Colyer {retired 4 July 2008)

Les Cullen

Roland D'leteren

Benoit Ghiot

Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen (retired 28 May 2008)
Malcolm Miller (resigned 28 May 2008)

Simon Palethorpe (resigned 21 November 2008)
Dr Axel von Ruedorffer

Pigrre Alain De Smedt

Martyn Smith

On i January 2008, Pascal Bazin was appeinted Chief Executive. On 28 May
2008 Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen retired from the Board and Malcclm
Mifter resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company. On 4 July 2008,
Lesley Colyer retired as Group HR and Corporate Affairs Director and stood
down from the Board. On 21 November 2008 Simon Palethorpe resigned as
Group Commercial Director and stood down from the Board.

Beniat Ghiot, Axel von Ruedorffer and Martyn Smith will retire by rofation
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, will stand
for re-glection.

As at 3 March 2009, the Board of Directors comprises the Chairman,

three executive Directors and a further five non-executive Diregtors.

The non-executive Directors include three Directors who have no other
association with Avis Europe plc and are therefore regarded as independent,
being Les Cullen, Axel von Ruedartfer and Pierre Alain De Smedt. A further
two of the non-executive Directors, Roland D'leteren and Benoit Ghiot, in
addition to ene executive Director, Jean-Pierre Bizet, are appointed by s.a.
D'eteren n.v. which has a shareholding of 59.6% in the Company. The
obligations of the Directors appointed by s.a. D'leteren ny., and of s.a.
D'leteren n.v. as a shareholder, are set out in a Relationship Agreement
entered inio at flotation in 1997. These include an obligation for the
D'ieteren-appointed Directors to exercise their voting rights so as to maintain
the independence of the Board as required by the Listing Rules, thus
ensuring that all Directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. Since 1998 the Board has adopted a policy that, notwithstanding
the provisions of the Articles of Association, all Directors should stand for
election at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment and
re-election at least every three years thereafter,
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The Company considers that the non-executive component of the Board
helps to provide an effective Board with a strong mix of industry-specific
knowledge and general commercial experience. This balance enabtes the
Board to bring informed and independent judgment 10 all aspects of the
Company’s strategic development and performance. The role of the non-
executive Directors is viewed as especially important in revigwing business
strategy and assisting the Board in the development of strategy. The non-
executive Directors also review and monitor the Company’s financial controls
and risk management systems. The non-executive Directors have a key

role in scrutinising management performance and the Company's system
for monitoring and reporting performance. They also have responsibility for
determining appropriate remuneration levels and succession planning for the
executive Directors. The Chairman meets with the non-executive Directors at
least annually in order to facilitate the nen-executive Directors’ contribution
to the Board. The Company did not have a nominated Senior Independent
Director during the period to 3 March 2009 but continues ta keep this
requirement under review.

The Board meets a minimum of six times each year and more frequently
when business needs sequire. There was one additional Board meeting in
2008, as well as six s¢heduled megtings and two scheduled conference
calls. All Directors attended all Board meetings, except that Lesley Colyer
and Jean-Pigrre Bizet each missed one meeting. The Chairman of each o
the Nominations Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Commitiee
attended the 2008 Annual General Meeting and were available to answer
shareholders' questions during and after the meeting.

Thie rofes of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and their respective
responsibilities are defined in writing and approved by the Beard. The
Chairman’s key areas of activity are the leadership of the Board, including
setting iis agenda, ensuring that it receives clear, accurate and timely
information and facilitating the contribution of the non-executive Directors.
The Chairman is responsible for strateqy, in particular for ensuring that
effective plans are developed for the short-term and long-term development
of the Group. In co-grdination with the Chief Executive, the Chairman

is responsible for encouraging close and effective working relationships
hetween all levels of eperating country, licensee and Group level
management. The Chairman is also responsible for corparate governance
and for ensuring that the Company maintains effective communication with
its shareholders and other stakeholders. The Chairman also chairs the
Nominations Committee and has sesponsibility for ensuring that the Board
evaluation processes are carried out and their resutts acted upon.

To enable the Board to function effectively, full and timely access is given

to all relevant information. The Board retains powers of decision on all
matters of strategy, together with all significant commercial issues, including
acquisitions and investments and capital expenditure in excess of a specified
level. The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for advising the Board, through the Chairman,
on all matters of governance. Alf Directors have access to the Company
Secretary whenever they require. In the event that any Director wishes to take
independent professional advice on any point arising in connection with the
exercise of their duties, in accordance with written procedure the Company
Secretary will asrange this at the Comparny's expense. The Company
Secretary may only be removed by a resolution of the Board of Directors,

I Corporate governance |

Details of all Directors’ remuneration and service contracts are set out in the
Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 42.
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Corporate governance continued

Board Committees

The Board Committees in place during 2008 were the Nominations
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Augit Committee. Each
Committee reviews its terms of reference and its effectiveness apnually and
recommends to the Board any changes required as a result of such review,
The terms of reference of each Committee are avaitabte on the Company's
website at www.avis-gurope.com.

The Nominations Committee ensuras that the Company has a formal,
rigorous and transparent pracedure for the appointment of new Directors.
The Committee periodically reviews the structure and composition of the
Board to ensure the required blend of skills and experience appropriate to
the Company’s needs. It sets objective criteria in recommending appointees
to the Board, including being satisfied that appointees have sufficient ime
available 10 devote to the rle, especially for chairmanships. The Committee
is also responsible for ensuring that induction and training reguirements

are met both tor new Directors and for the Board as a whole to ensure

that Directors regularly update their skills and knowledge, including their
knowledge of developments in the Company’s business. The Committee
carries out reviews of the succession plans for the Board and for senior
executives across the Group to ensure that continuing management capability
is available 10 match the development needs of the business.

During 2008, the Nominations Committee approved a number of changes to
the structure and composition of the senior management team at the centre
and in various business units in order to support the business needs of the
Group going forward.

The members of the Neminations Committee as at 1 January 2008 were
Alun Cathcart (Chairman), Les Cullen, Roland D'ieteren, Malcolm Miller,

Axel von Ruedorifer and Pierre Alain De Smedt. Malcolm Miller resigned
from the Committee on 28 May 2008. There were no other changes to the
composition of the Nominations Committee between 1 January 2008 and 3
March 2009. As recommended by the Combinedt Code, the membership of
the Committee comprises a majority of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nominations Committee met five times during 2008 and afl members
attended all meetings.

The Remuneration Committee determines broad polkicy on senier executive
remunesation and terms of service and approves specific terms of
appointment for the Chairman, executive Directors and senior management.
The Committee is also responsible for the structuring and allocation of

the Group's share incentive schemes, including the setting of appropriate
performance targets. Details of the advisers used by the Committee during
2008 are set out in the Remuneration Report on page 35.

In setting policy, the Committee ensures that appropriate incentives are
provided to attract, retain and motivate executives of the appropriate calibre,
to encourage performance and, in a fair and responsible manner, 10 reward
individua} contributions to the Group. The Committae takes account of
market practice, the Group's position relative to other companies and the
pay and employment conditions of other Group employees. The Committee
consults with the Chairman andfor Chief Executive, as appropriate, when
determining the individual remuneration package of each executive Director.
However, no Director is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The
Committee reviews the terms of the executive Directors' service contracts,
particularly with regard o netice periods, termination payments and
compensation commitments in the event of early termination. The activities of

the Committee during the year are described in the Remuneration Report on
pages 34 and 35.

The members of the Remuneration Commitiee as at 1 January 2008 were
Malcolm Miller (Chairman 1 January 2008 - 28 May 2008), Alun Cathcar,
Les Cullen, Roland Dleteren and Axe! von Ruedorffer. Pierre Alain De Smedt
became a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 27
February 2008. Malcolm Miller resigned from chairmanship and membership
of the Committe on 28 May 2008, and was replaced as Chairman by Pierre
Alain De Smedt with effect from 29 May 2008. There were no cther changes
to the composition of the Remuneration Committee between 1 January
2008 ang 3 March 2009. The Company recognises that Roland D'leteren

is not regarded as an independent non-executive Director but considers it
essential that s.a. D'leteren n.v., as the majority shareholder of the Company,
is representad on the Committee. As Chairman of 5.a. D'teteren n.v., Roland
D'leteren abstains from discussion and voling on the remuneration of any
Directors appointed by s.a. D'teteren n.v. pursuant to the Relationship
Agreement referred 1o above.

The Remuneration Committee held four scheduled meetings and two
additional meetings during 2008, Al Directors attenced all meetings, except
that Les Cullen missed one additional meeting due to a prior commitment.

The Remuneration Report to shareholders appears on pages 34 to 42,

The Audit Committae assists the Board by ensuring that the Company
presents a balanced and understandable assessment of its position with
regard to financial reporting, including interim, preliminary and other formal
announcements relating to the Group's financia) performance.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee monitors the integrity of
the Group's financial statements and the effectiveness and independence of
the external audit process. It is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate
relationship between the Group and the external auditors is maintained,
including reviewing non-audit services and fees. It reviews the effectiveness
of the system of internal control through a numbgr of processes, as set out
unger the Internal contrel and risk management section below. This includes
an annual review of the Group's system of internal control and the processes
for monitoring and evaluating risks facing the Group. The Committee reviews
the efiectiveness of the internal audit and risk management function and is
responsible for approving, upon the recommendation of the Group Finance
Director, the appointment and termination of the Director of that function.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee provides a report to the Board after
every Audit Commiitee meeting. In satisfying itself that suficient and
appropriate work has been performed, the Board as a whole considers the
adequacy and scope of the reports it has received from the Audit Committee
along with corroberative evidence where necessary.

In 2008 the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities by:

*» reviewing prior to Board approval, the Group's draft annual financiat
statements, interim resuits statement, interim management statements,
internal control report and the external auditor’s report;

 considering, prior to release, any trading updates;

* reviewing regulasly the appropriateness of the Group's accounting policies

and their compliance with appropriate International Financial Reporting
Standards;




receiving and considesing a report on the Group’s systems of internal
control and their effectiveness, reporting to the Board on the results of the
review and receiving regular updates on key risk areas of financial control;

examining reports on Group-wide risk matters and assessing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management system;

reviewing the internal audit and risk management function’s terms of
reference and its proposed annual audit programme, and receiving regular
progress reports on its work;

assessing the effectiveness of the internal audit and risk management
function together with their resources and standing in the Group;

reviewing the effectiveness of whistieblowing arrangements;

considering and approving the audit fee and reviewing non-audit fees
payable to the Group's exiernal auditors during the year;

appraising the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the Group's Financial
Statements, including key areas of scope and key areas of risk;

assessing external auditors’ effectiveness and independence, and making
recommendations to the Board regarding their reappointment; and

conducting the annua! review of the Audit Committee's terms of reference
and efectiveness.

The members of the Audit Committee as at 1 January 2008 were Les Cullen
(Chairman), Malcolm Miller, Axel von Ruedorfier and Pierre Alain De Smegdt.
Malcolm Méler resigned from the Committee on 28 May 2008. There were
no other changes to the compesition of the Committee between 1 January
2008 and 3 March 2009. As recommended by the Combined Code, all the
members of the Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Cormmittee met four times in 2008 and all members attended
all meetings except that Pierre Alain De Smedt was unable 1o attend
one meeting. The Committee meets with executive Directors and senior

management, as well as privately with both the external and interna! auditors.

Board evaluation

During 2008 the Board carried out a formal evaluation process which

is designed 1o provide a rigorous annual evaluation of the Board's own
performance and that of its Committees. The evalualion process assesses
the effectiveness of Board and Committee processes to provide a basis for
teedback and development where required. As noted above, the Chairman
has responsibility for the evaluation process and for taking any appropriate
action based on the results of the evaluation.

The evaluation processes for Board performance are conducted via a set
of structured questionnaires which ask each Board/Commitiee member to
commeni on a range of factors which contribute to the effectiveness of the
Board or the relgvant Committee. The results are reviewed by the Chairman
and relevant feedback is provided to the Board and each Committee.

Directors' interests
Details of Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company are set out
below and in the Remuneration Report.
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Jean-Pierre Bizet and Benoit Ghiot are Directors of B'leteren Car Rental

s.a., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of s.a. D'leteren n.v., which heid
548,586,255 ordinary shares of ip each in the capital of the Company as
at 31 December 2008. Details of significant contracts entered inio with s.a.
D'leteren n.v. are disclosed below. There have been no changes in the above
Directors’ interests between 31 December 2008 and 3 March 2009.

Except as noted above, none of the Directors had any interests in the shares
of the Company or in any material contract or arrangement with the Company
or any of its subsidiary undertakings.

Conflicts of interest

At the Company's Annual General Meeting in 2008, the Company's Articles
of Association were amended following implementation of the relevant
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 to permit the Board of Directors to
authorise a condflict of interest or potentiat conflict of interest notified by a
Director provided that the Board considers this to be in the best interests of
the Company.

Each of the Directors reviewed their individual positions prior to the
implementation date for the new legislation of 1 October 2008 and the Board
authorised a number of pre-gxisting potential conflicts of inferest notified to
it as a result. The comparty has put procedures in place via the Company
Secretary whereby the Directors can notify any future conflicts or potential
conflicts of interest that may arise so that the Board can consider whether
authorisation is appropriate.

Share capital

The last Annual General Meeting authorised the Company to purchase up to
92,052,404 of its own ordinary shares. This authority will expire, and is due
to be renewed, at the next Annual General Meeting. The Company made nc
purchases of its own shares during 2008 pursuant to this authority. Details of
the share capital of the Company are sat out in Note 30 to the Consolidated
Financial Staternents.

Substantial shareholdings
At 3 March 2009, the Company had been advised of the following notifiable
interests in its issued ordinary share capital:

5% of issued share capital
D'leteren Car Bental s.a. 58.59
Franklin Templeton Investments Corp 5.20
Odey Asset Management LLP 3.32

As noted above, an agreement governing the relationship between s.a.
D’leteren n.v. and the Company was entered into in connection with the
Company’s flotation in 1997. it indudes restrictions on s.a. Dieteren nw.'s
power to appoint Directors and obligations on those Directors to ensure that
the majority of the Board is independent of s.a. D'leteren n.v. it also provides
that afl transactions between the Compary and s.a. D'leteren n.v. will be

on an am's length basis. The agreemend also containg cerlain anti-dilution
rights for 5.a. 0’leteren n.v. provided that the 0'leteren Group owns more
than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company.
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During the year, the Group has entered into transactions with the D'teteren
Group on an arm’s length basis with respect te the purchase and sale of
vehicles and the provision of finance. Further details of these transactions are
set out in Note 43 to the Consoclidated Financial Statements.
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As recommended by the Combined Code the Company carries directors’

and officers' fiability insurance which is arranged under an umbrelta policy
etfected by s.a. D'leteren nv. The Company has entered into indemnities to
the extent permitted by English law, indemnidying the Directors against claims
broughi against them.

Shareholder relations

The Board as a whole is responsible for maintaining reguiar dialogue

with shareholders. The Chief Executive and Group Finance Director make
presentations to institutional shareholders following the announcement of
the interim and prefiminary results each year, and are actively invalved in
an investor relations programme during the rest of the year. The Chairman
is alse responsible for maintaining a channel through which shareholders
can express their views, and for communicating any sharehoider issuss or
cancerns to the Board as a whole.

The Chief Executive makes a presentation at the Annual General Meeting
highlighting key business developments during the year. All shareholders
have the opportunity to put questions at the meeting or leave written
questions, which will be answered in writing as soon as possibie afterwards.
A copy of the Chief Executive's presentation may be requesied at the Annual
General Mesting or from the Investor Relations Department. The Company's
wabsite at www.avis-europe com provides current and historical information
about the Group.

Health and safety at work

The Group has a health and safety pelicy approved by the Beard. The
Chief Executive is responsible for oversight of Group policy and each
operating unit has a ngminated member of senior management who has
averall responsibility for setting geals and performance targets. Consistent
measures of performance are reported on a quarterly basis, and include
waork-related accidents and ili health, health and safety training and risk
assessment activities.

Charitable and political donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling €29,000;
£23,000 (2007 €52,000; £35,000). The Group made no palitical denations
during the year (20G7: nil).

Payments to creditors

Given the number of countries in which the Group cperates it is practice to
agree the terms of payment at the start of business with each supplier and to
pay in accordance with contractual and other legal obligations. The Company
had no trade ¢creditors at 31 December 2008 {2007: nil). At 31 December
2008 the number of creditor days outstanding far the Company was nil
(2007 nil}.

Auditors

The Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-audit services being
provided {o the Group by its external auditors, and has developed a formal
independence policy 10 help ensure that there is no impairmeant to their
independence or objectivity. The principles that underpin the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditors are that the auditor should not:
enter into arrangements with the Group which could compromise their
independence as auditors; audit its own firm's work; make management
decisions for the Group; have a mutuality of financial interest with the Group
(e.g. success fees) of provide legal and expert services to the Group in
judicial or requiatory proceedings. Some types of service are proscribed while
others that might be perceived to be in conflict with the role of the external
auditor must be submitted to the Audit Committee for approval prior to
engagement, regardless of the fees involved.

The Audit Committee reviews all services being provided by the external
auditors quarterty in order to consider the indepenrdence and objectivity of
the external auditors, taking into account relevant professional and regulatory
requirements, so that these are not impaired by the provision of permissible
aon-audit services.

PricewaternouseCoopers LLP were engaged by the Group for certain non-
audit activities, the fees for which are set out in Note 4 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The nature and materiality of this work has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee which is satisfied that there has been no
conflict with the need for audit independence and objectivity.

A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the
Company will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Internal control and risk management

The Directors have continued to review the effectiveness of the Group's
system of controls, including operational and cempliance controls, risk
management and the Group's internal contral arrangements. Such a system
is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss. These reviews have
included an assessment ¢of both financial and operational internal controls
by the Group's internal audit and risk management function, management
assurance of the maintenance of control, and reports from the external
auditor on matters identified in the course of its statutory audit work. A key
part of the Group's own internal control review is a declaration and annual
certification process at the half year and year end by which the managers
responsible contirm the adequacy of their systems of internal financial
control, their comptiance with Group policies, local laws and regulations and
are also required to report any breakdown in control or oceurrence of fraud
that has come to light. The Group has procedures in place which incorporate
the recommendations on internal control; guidance for directors on the
Combined Code (Turnbull).

Internal control environment
The Directors are responsible for the system of internal centrol and for
regularly reviewing its effectiveness.

The system of internal control includes but is not imited to:

= clear definition of the organisation structure and the appropriate delegation
of authorities to management;

maintenance of appropriate segregation of duties together with cther
procedural controls;

+ strategic planning and the related anaual budgeting and regular review
process;

= monthly reporting and review of financial resulis and key performance
statistics;

+ adoption of accouniing pelicies to help ensure the consistency, integrity
and accuracy of the Group's financial records;

+ specific treasury policies and the regular reporting and review of all
significant treasury transactions and financing activities;

* procedures for the authorisation of capital expenditure;




= internal audit reviews and a schedu's of annual finance reviews for all
corporate businesses covering material local assets and fiabilities; and

* clearly defined Group policies and business standards, inctuding the code
of conduct, competition policy and covering key business areas.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal
control through the following processes:

review of internal ang external audit plans;

review of any significant reported unsatisfactery control matters;

consideration of individual internal audit reports by the Chairman of the
Committee;

collective review of any contral issues that arise from internal and exiernal
audits together with any additional matters brought to its atiention;

review of any significant risks identitied by the Group's risk management
process; and

discussions with management on any significant new risk areas identified
by management and the internal and external audit processes.

The Audit Committee has cenducted a fermal assessment of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control through the review of an
updated Internal Control Systems document prepared by the Group's internat
audit function. The document includes comprehensive descriptions of the risk
management processes and controls environment, which together enable the
Audit Commitiee to apply a structured approach to their review.

The Board, with advice from the Audit Committee, has completed iis
annual review of the etfectiveness of the embedded system of intesnal
control in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull Report for the
period since 1 January 2008 and is satisfied that this review is in
accordance with that guidance,

Assessment of business risk

The Group views the active managament of risk as a key management
process and recognises that managing business risk to deliver epportunities
is critical to the strategic development of the business. It is ensured that such
business risks, covering strategic, operational, reputational, financial and
environmental risks, are both understood and visible as far as practicable.
The Group's policy is to ensure that risk is taken on an informed rather than
unintentionat basis.

The Group's work in the area of risk management in 2008 was overseen
by the Avig Executive Board, membership of which comprises heads of key
business functions and of main corporate country operatiens and is chaired
by the Chief Executive.

The Group has a risk management framework which aims to ensure that

the business understands the key risks it faces and has an embedded risk
management approach 1o its activities; links risk management te business
performance reporting and seeks improvernent in the management of risk by
sharing best practice throughout the organisation. The Group conducts an
annual risk review across all operating units and updates its centrally held
risk register with each risk's impact, probability and mitigation actions. This
approach forms the cornerstone of the risk management activities of the
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Group, the aim of which is to provide the Board with the assurance that the
major risks facing the Group have been identified and assessed, and that
there are controls either in place or planned to manage these risks.

A summary of the principal risks facing the Group has been reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee and is provided in the Principal risks and
ungertainties section of the Business Review on pages 16 to 18.

Internal audit

Avis Europe has an internal audit and risk management function, which is
independent of the Group's external auditors and which works in partnership
with an outsourced provider, where specialist skills are required. The Audi
Committee ensuras that this function is appropriately staffed and that its
scope of work is adequate in the light of the key identified risks facing

the Group and the other monitoring functions in place. it also reviews and
approves an annual internal audit plan and considers responses to an
effectiveness questionnaire.

The role of internal auait is to:

* assess the design and operating effectiveness of controls governing key
operational processes and business risks;

provide the Board with an assessment, independent of management, as
to the adequacy of the Group's internal operating and financial controls,
systems ang practices;

assist the Board in meeting its corporate governance and regulatory
responsibilities; and

provide advisory services to management in order 10 enhance the control
environment and improve business performance.

Whistleblowing arrangements

During the year, a Group-wide framework was in place enabling employees
to raise any cancemns. The arrangements are regularly reviewed by the Audit
Committee and re-communicated penodically by management to ensure
their continuing effectiveness. The process has been communicated to at
employees across the Group and policy and procedures have beer issued

to management of all aperating units providing guidance on how they are
expected to respond. Matters can be raised anonymously, and empfoyees are
assured that they will have protection under the policy.

Corporate governance statement

The Board of Directors confirm that the Company has complied throughout
the financial year with the majority of the provisions set out in Section 1 of
the Combined Code, except that the Company did not comply throughout
the financial year with the following provisions: {1) the requirement that
independent non-executive Directors (excluding the Chairman) should
comgprise not less than 50% of the Board; (2) the requirement that the
Remuneration Committee should comprise the Chairman together with
independent non-executive Directors; and (3} the requirement that a Senior
Independent Oirector be nominated. The reasons for non-compliance in
each of the relevant areas are explained within the review of the Company's
application of the principtes of the Combined Code set out above. In the
areas of non-compliance the Directors believe that curzent policy is in the
best interests of the Company.

| Corporate governance |
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Statement of Directors’
responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Anaual Report, the
Remuneration Report and the Parent Company Financial Statemernits in
aceordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directers {o prepare Financial Statements for each
financial year, Under that law the Directors have prepared the Consolidated
Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and the Parent
Company Financial Statements in accardance with applicable law and

United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice). The Consolidated and Parent Company Financial
Statements are required by taw to give a tree and fair view of the state of
aftairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that year.

In preparing those Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; new
accounting standards adopted in the year are set out in the Significant
Accounting policies section of the Consolidated Financial Staiements on
pages 49 to 55;

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state that the Censofidated Financial Statements comply with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and with regard to the Pareni Company
Financial Statements that applicable UX Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any materia! departures disclosed and explained in the
Financial Statements; and

prepare the Consolidated and Parent Company Financial Statements on
the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group will continue in business, in which case there should be supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

The Dirgctors confirm that they have compliec with the above reguirements in
preparing the Financial Statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and the Group and 10 enable them to ensure that the Consolidated
Financtal Statements and Remuneration Report comply with the Companies
Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and the Parent Company
Financial Statemenis comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maimtenance and integrity of the website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from iegislagon in other jurisdictions.

Remuneration report

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the relevant requirements

of the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority. The Board has given full
consideration to the best practice provisions on Direclors’ remuneration as
set out in the Combined Code. As required by the Directors’ Remuneration
Report Regulations, a resofution to approve the Remuneration Report will
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company at
which the Financial Statements will be approved.

Part 1 of this report sets out the Group's policy on executive remuneration
and explains the various elements of the Direciors’ remuneration packages.
Part 2 of this report, which contains the information on which auditors

are required to report to the Company’s shareholders, sets out details of
Directors’ eamings and pension entilements ang fees paid o non-executive
Dirgctors in 2008, Directors' interests in shares, share incentive awards and
share options, all of which are beneficial except as noled, are set out on
pages 40 to 42.

Changes to the Board of Avis Eurgpe plc
Details of changes to the Board in the period under review are set out on
page 29 of the Corporate Governance report.

0On 1 January 2008, Pascal Bazin was appointed Chief Executive. On 4 July
2008, Lesley Colyer retired as Group HR and Corporate Affairs Director

and stood down from the Board, On 21 November 2008 Siman Palethorpe
resigned as Group Commercial Director and stood down fram the Board.

Part 1 (Unaudited)

Remuneration Committee

Scope

The Remuneration Committe is responsible for developing poficy on
remuneration for executive Directors and senior management and for
determining specific remuneration packages for executive Cirectors and
membess of the Avis Executive Board (AEB). The Committee is constituted
under terms of reference laid down by the Board. These terms are designed
to enable the Company to comply with the requirements relating to
remuneration pelicy contained in the Combined Code.

The full terms of referance are set out on the Company’s wabsite:
Www.avis-8urope.com and are available upon request,

During 2008, the Remuneration Committee’s activities included:
+ setting remuneration for new appointments to the AEB;
* 3 further grant of awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan; and

* approval of departure terms for Lesiey Colyer, Simon Pafethorpe and
former members of the AEB.




Membership

The Remungration Committee is comprised of noa-executive Directors.
Members during the period 1 January 2008 to 3 March 2009 are
listed below:

» Pierre Alain De Smedt {Chairman from 29 May 2008; appointed to the
Committee 27 February 2008)

e Alun Cathcart
¢ Lgs Cullen
¢ Roland D'leteren

* Malcolm Miller (Chairman 1 January 2008 — 28 May 2008, resigned from
the Committee 28 May 2008)

¢ Dr Axel von Ruedorffer

The Remuneration Commitiee is comprised of the Chairman of the Board
and four non-executive Directars. All the non-execidive Direstors on the
Committee are regarded as independent, with the exception of Roland
D'leteren, as explained on page 30 of the Corporate Governance report. The
Committee met six fimes during the year and each member’s attendance at
these meetings is shown in the Corporate Governance report on page 30.

Advisers

During the period under review the Chief Executive, the Group HR and
Corporate Attairs Director (until her retirement on 4 July 2008} and thereafter
the Group HR Director attended meetings by invitation and provided acvice
to the Committee to help it make informed decisions on matters relating to
Directors’ performance and remuneration. No Director was present when his
or her own remuneration was being discussed. External advice was received
from Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer (share scheme rules) and Kepler
Associates (executive remuneration). All advisers were appointed by the
Company. Other than described above, no additional services were provided
by the external advisers during the year.

Remuneration policy

Introduction

The Group's policy relating to the remuneration and benetits of executive and
nen-executive Directors is reviewed periodically. The executive remuneration
palicy for 2009 is designed to attract, retain and motivate to ensure that the
Company secures the appropriate competencies and experience the Group
needs to meet its objectives and satisfy shareholder expectations. tn general,
in determining its policy, the Remuneration Committee takes account of
market practice, the Group's position relative to other companies and the pay
and employment conditions of other Group employees.

In 2008 executive salaries were frozen as part of a three-year programmse
implemented for 2006 — 2008 inclusive, Directors and members of the
AER received an annual incentive opportunity of up to 100% of salary and
received a further grant under the Long Term Incentive Plan introduced in
2007 and described below.

For 2009 executive salaries were again frozen and the AEB was given an
annual incentive opportunity of up to 100% of salary linked to targets which
will reflect the key challenges of the business.
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Summary of executive Directors’ petential direct remuneration

The Remuneration Committee believes that shareholder interests are

best served by remuneration packages that have a large component of
performance refated pay. For 2009 the relatienship between fixed and
variable remuneration for achievement of maximum performance for the
Chief Executive is 35% fixed, 65% variable, and for the Group Finance
Director is 40% fixed and 60% variable. The variable element comprises
the annual incentive scheme and an award under the Long Term Incentive
Plan. The Deputy Chairman, who is also an executive Director, has a service
contract with an annual fee only.

Salary

The general policy on base salary is to benchmark using general market
external surveys against the median of similar sized companies relevant to the
appropriate marketplace. In considering whether to make any increase to base
salaries, the Remuneration Committee takes into account the performance

of individual executives and the general increases for employees across

the Group. The next benchmarking exercise will be undertaken in 2009.

Annual incentive bonus

Annual incentive bonus plans for executive Directors and key senior
management are based on achievement of targets approved by the
Remuneration Committee and related directly to the annual profit plan
approved by the Board. Targets and performance measures are quantitative
and there is a financial threshold below which no bonus payment is made.

In 2009, 90% of the bonus is based on stretching financial iargets and 10%
on achievement of quantitative individual objectives.

The base salary, bonus payments and value of benefits in kind for each
Director are set out in the Directors’ emoluments table on page 39. Bonus
paymenis, benefits in kind and cash allowances do not form part of
pensionable earnings far Directors.

Share incentive policy

The Remuneraticn Commitiee sets policy with regard to share incentives with
the objective of aligning incentive plans with the Group's medium-term plan
and shareholders’ interests.

Shareholding guidelines implemented in 2005 require executive Directors to
build up their persenal holdings of shares in the Company. The guidelines
are 150% of salary for the Chief Executive and 100% of salary for other
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee requires executives to
retain S0% of any vested shares (et of tax and exercise costs) arising from
any share or option plan until the shareholding requirement is achieved.

l Corporate governance I

Qutstanding share plans

QOutsianding share plans are as follows: Long Term tncentive Plan (last award
2008); Performance Share Plan (last award April 2004} and Share Option
Schemes (last award April 2004}, A description of each of these ptans is set
out below. The assessment of whethier performance conditions have been
med is verified by the Remuneration Committee at the time of vesting.

Individual Directors’ share incentive awards are set out on pages 41 and 42.
Long Term Incentive Plan

The Leng Term Ingentive Plan comprises conditional awards which take the
form of nil cost options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company, and was
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Remuneration report continued

introduced by the Remuneration Commitiee in 2007. Awards vest three years
after grant, providing certain performance conditions are met. It is intended

that there will be annual grants of awards under this Pfan.

The performance conditions required for vesting purposes are based 50%
on the Group’s three-year growth in earnings per share (EPS) and 50%

on return on capital employed {ROCE). If ane or both of the performance
targets are not met at the end of the performance period, 50% or 100% (as
appropriate) of the award will lapse immediately.

The performance targets for awards granted under the Plan in 2007 are set

out below:

EPS franche of Award
Percentage growth in EPS

Percentage of award that vests

Less than RPI + 20% per annum

None

RPI + 20% per annum 20%

APl + 40% per annum 100%

Between 20% and 40% Straight-line basis between

per annum above RPI 20% and 100%

ROCE tranche of Award

Percentage ROCE achieved Percentage of award that vests

Less than 10% None

10% 20%

12.5% 100%

Between 10% and 12.5% Straight-line basis between
20% and 100%

The performance targets for awards granted under the Plan in 2008 are set

out below:

EPS franche of Award
Percentage growth in EPS

Percentage of award that vests

Less than 14.9% per annum

None

14.9% per annum 20%

23.0% per annum 100%

Between 14.9% and 23.0% Straight-line basis between

per annum 20% and 100%

ROCE tranche of Award

Percentage ROCE achieved Percentage of award that vests

Less than 9.2% None

9.2% 20%

9.6% 100%

Between 9.2% and 9.6% Straight-line basis between
20% and 100%

EPSis calculated on an underlying basis i.e. excluding exceptional items,
certain re-measurement items and economic hedge items. However, the
Remuneraticn Committee has discretion to adjust for exceptional items

it deems 10 be within management control, if appropriate, to ensure the
outcome is fair to both shareholders and executives. The basis of the ROCE
calculation is included in Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The two measures of EPS and ROCE are considered by the Remuneration
Committee to be the most relevant all-encompassing long-term periermance
measures for Avis Europe in that the ultimate aim of the business of the
Group is to achieve a good econgmic return on renting its fleet of vehicles.
The fleet represents the substantial majority of capital employed, and the
Remuneration Commitiee wishes management to be focussed on improving
the return the Cempany achieves on this capital. Management will focus

on the key drivers of ROCE - asset turn and operating margin. EPS in tura
represenis a complete measure of bottom-iine performance, capturing both
interest and tax, and is closely tracked by many of the Company’s investors.

Participation is at the Remuneration Commitiee's discretion. In 2008 awards
were made to all members of the AEB, which included three of the executive
Directors, and to 20 senior managers. Maximum awards are capped at
100% of salary (150% for the Chief Executive) {see page 41). In 2008
awards at this maximum level were granted to new members of the AEB;
the executive Directors and other AEB members received awards over one
half the maximum level, and the senior managers received awards over one
quarter of the maximum leve!, Oividends, as and when reinstated, will not
accrue on the awards made to date, but it is anticipated that for awards
granted in future, dividends would accrue and be paid only on shares that
vest. Qutstanding awards will vest and become exercisable on a change of
control subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time.

Performance Share Plan

No awards under this Plan have been made since April 2004 and it is not
anticipated that awards will be mads in the future. The Performance Share
Plan is a seven-year plan, and was designed to encourage executives to
facus an lenger-term performance and growth in shareholder value. A
combination of performance targets was chosen for the measirement of
the Company's performance, being total shareholder return (TSR) and EPS
in order to align the interests of executives with those of shareholders. EPS
performance is calculated from the audited aceounts and TSR is calculated
by external remuneration consuitants.

Awards were determined by the Remuneration Commitiee and could not be
greater than 100% of the qualifying participant’s total annual remuneration
measured al the date of the award. No award granted to date has exceeded
one times annuai salary. Awards vest over a period of seven years from the
date of the award, If the performance conditions are met at the third and fifth
anniversary of the date of award, vesting accelerates 10 the extent of 25% of
the award on each of these occasions. The extent to which an award vests

is determined by the Group's medium and long-term performance measured
in terms of TSR, TSR was measured against a broad comparator group from
the Transport and Support Services sectors.

On a change of control the Remuneration Committee would take into account
the performance conditions when determining the vesting of awards.

Share option schemes

No options have been granied under these schemes since April 2004,
and it is not anticipated that awards will be made in the future,

Further detalls of share options are set out in Note 32 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Group operates Intand Revenug approved and unapproved share option
schemes which have an £PS based performance condition. An EPS condition
is considered appropriale, as it requires improvement in the underlying




financial performance before options can be exercised. Employees may not
normally exercise options earier than three years, nor more than 10 years
after the grant (seven years for grants made before April 2000 for the
unapproved schieme). Options lapse upon cessation of employment. However,
special cenditions apply if empleyment ceases because of death, injury,
disability, redundancy, retirement or because the employing business or
company is transfesred outside the Group, or for any other reason at the
discretion of the Beard, Qutstanding options will vest and become exercisable
on a change of control and with the exception of the UK Approved Share
Option Scheme, any options vesting will, 2t the discretion of the
Remuneration Committee, be subject to the satisfaction of any performance
conditions at that time.

Options (alt of which were granted prior ic 2004) become exercisable
when real growth in £PS exceeds 3% per annum during any period of
three cansecutive years following the date of grant. The rules of the share
option schemes limit the number of options that can be granted over new
issue shares in a rolling 10-year period to 5% of issued share capital
under discreticnary share schemes, and 10% of issued share capital under
all share schemes. The total number of share options outstanding at 31
December 2008 is well within these dilution limits (see page 42).

During 2008 all outstanding awards undler the Deferred Bonus Share Plan
and the Share Retention Plan were released. No awards remain outstanding
under these schemes as at 31 December 2008,

2006 Deferred Bonus Share Plan

During 20086, the Avis Europe plc Deferred Bonus Share Plan was
established as part of the Remuneration Committee's decision to enhance
bomus opportunities for 2006, There are no outstanding awards undes
this plan.

Share Retention Plan

This Plan was established as a one-off discretionary benefit to retain the
services of Murray Hennessy (former Chief Executive) to January 2008

and there were no performance conditions other than continued service to

1 January 2008. The award vested in three equal tranches on 1 January
2006, 1 January 2007 and 1 January 2008, In respect of the third tranche,
the Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion under the rifles of

the Plan to permit this award to vest on the date of Murray Hennessy's
terminaticn of employment on 31 December 2007, and was exercised in
March 2008.

Avis Europe Employee Share Trust

The Avis Europe Employee Share Trust was established in March 2000 to
facilitate provision of shares for the Company's share incentive schemes.
The Teust may hold up to 5% of the issued share capital of the Company at
any one tims.

At 31 December 2008, the Trust held 637,735 shares. It is intended that
the shares in the Trust will be used to satisty conditional share awards made
under the Company’s various share incentive schemes as and when these
awards vest. The awards outstanding under each of the refevant Plans at

31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 are set oul below:
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Conditonal share aearas Coneutional sharg imards

putstanding 2t outstanging at

Sharg Incentive Scheme 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Performance Share Plan 514,875 shares 702,727 shares
Long Term Incentive Plan 31,274,278 shares 4,908,092 shares
Share Retention Plan - 238,600 shares
Beferred Bonus Share Plan - 3,124,452 shares

Total 31,789,153 shares 8,973,871 shares

The Company periodically reviews the number of shares held by the Trust
in light of the anticipated vesting dates and performance conditions uncer
the various plans. The Company also regutarly reviews its hedging policy
but does not currently hedge any of these awards against potential Socta!
Security costs that may be incurred across the Group as and when the
awards vesl.

Total shareholder retum (TSR}

The graph befow illustrates the perfermance of Avis Europe pic and a “bread
aquity market index” over the past five years. As Avis Europe plc has been a
constituent of the FTSE All Share Index throughout this five-year period, that
index is considered the most appropriate form of “broad equity market index”
against which the Group's performance sheuld be graphed. As required by
legistation, performance is measured by totat shareholder return (share price
plus dividends paid).

Total shareholder return - value of hypothetical £100 holding

37

AVIS m = = FTSE All Share index

All dates at 34 December.

This graph shows the vatse, by the end of 2008, of £100 invested in Avis Europe plc on 31
December 2003 compared with the value of £ 100 irvested in the FTSE All Share Index. The cther
points piotted are the valyes at intervening financial year ends.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors’ fees are positioned to attract non-executives

with broad business and commercial experience and 1o be competitive in

the marketplace. The Chairman's fee is determined by the Remuneration
Committee. The Chairman and the Chief Executive set the remuneration

of non-executive Directors based on periodic review of current survey

data. Policy is fo pay an annual fee of £32,500 with an atditional fee for
chairmanship of a committee. Non-executive Directors do not receive awards
under the Company's share incentive schemes.

Corporate governance
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Remuneration report continued

Service contracts

Executive Directors

The Company's policy is to empioy each executive Direclor under a service
contract which is subject to 12 menths' notice on either side and ryng entil
terminated. The contract provides for salary to be paid for any unexpired
periog of notice in the event of termination by the Company. Compensation
for contractual benefits and bonus for the unexpired period of notice is at
the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. There is no compensation for
loss of rights under the share and pension schemes. All contracts contain
mitigation provisions. There are no special contractual paymenis associated
with ¢hange of control.

All executive Directors have service contracts in line with policy as shown.

Date of service contract Notice period
Pascal Bazin i January 2008 12 months
Jean-Pierre Bizet! 25 May 2004 12 menths
Lesley Colyer® 18 April 2002 12 months
Simen Palethorpe? 5 October 2004 12 months
Martyn Smith 11 September 2002 12 months

1 The Deputy Chaleman, who & also an executive Drectn, has a service contract with an annuak fee ony and his
appointment is subject 1o the terms of the Retationship Agreement (see page 293,

2 Lesley Colyer retired 85 a Director on 4 Jjuly 2008.

3 Simon Paletherpe resigred as a Diector on 21 November 2008,

The Board believes that it can be of benefit to Avis Europe plc if its executive
Directors serve as non-executive Directors of other companies, and, subject
to individual review, the general policy is that an executive Director may hold
one non-execulive directorship with another company and may retain the
fees. During the year ended 31 December 2008, no executive Director held
any external directorships.

Non-executive Directors

The Company's policy is to engage non-executive Directors on renewable
three-year terms, which can be terminated by either party at any time without
penalty (subject to the terms of the Retationship Agreement in respect of
Directors appointed by s.a. D'leteren n.v). Non-executive Directors are
required to offer themselves for election at the next Annual General Meeting
tollowing their appointment and thereafier for re-election every three years.

Date of zppointment as 2 non-execuiive Director

Alun Cathcart! 25 May 2004
Les Cullen 25 May 2004
Rotand D'leteren 3 February 1997
Benoit Ghiot 15 December 2004
Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen'2 1 May 2002
Malcolm Miller? 21 February 2001
DOr Axel von Ruedorffer 27 June 2001
Pierre Alain De Smedt 1 February 2007

1 Both Akn Cathcart and Gibert van Marcke de Lummen have previously served as executive Directos.

Akm Caineart served 23 an executive Director for the periods 3 February 1997 to 31 March 1999 2nd 1 May
2002 10 24 M2y 2004, having seeved as & noa-executive Director for the period 1 Al 1999 1o 30 Aprl 2002,
Gibert van Marcke de Lummen served &s an executive Direcior from 3 Febeuery 1997 10 30 Aped 2002,

2 Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen retiked Trom the Board on 28 May 2008.

3 Maicotm: Miler resigned as a Dizectos on 28 May 2008.

All non-executive Oirectors, including the Chairman, have letters of
appoeiniment in accordance with policy.

Retirement benefits

Executive Directors based in the UX can participate in the Avig UK Pension
Plan. The Plan comprises two sections: the Final Salary section (defined
benefit) and the Retirement Capital Plan section (cash balance). The non-
contributory Final Salary section was closed to new entrants from 1 July
2003, and closed o future service accruals for active members from 1
April 2007. New members to the Plan since 1 July 2003 have joined the
contributory Retirement Capital Plan section and, from 1 April 2007, active
members of the Final Salary section accrue their future service benefiis
under the Retirement Capita! Plan section.

Under the Retirement Capital Plan section, for those executive Directors who
are members of the Plan, an allocation of 25% of their pensionable salary is
macde to a notional account. Each year the account balance is revalued by
inflation up to 10%, although the Company may at its abselute discretion and
subject to actuarial advice apply a greater rate of revaluation. At retirement
the balance in the account wiil be used to purchase an annuity. Pensionable
salary for executive Directors exciudes bonus payments, taxable benefits and
cash allowances,

From 6 Aprii 2006, the HM Revenug & Customs legislation relating to tax-
favoured retirement provisions tock effect. From that date Avis introduced

a scheme specific earnings cap fer all members who joined the Plan on or
after 1 June 1989, For the 2008-09 tax year, the cap is £117,600. Thase
executive Directors whase pensionable salary is subject to the cap receive a
taxable cash allowance of 20% of base salary above the cap.

During 2008 three executive Directors accrued henefits under the Avis UK
Pension Plan and as at 31 December 2008, the retirement benefis are as
follows,

Lesley Colyer accrued benefits under the Final Salary section for pensionable
service until 1 April 2007, and her pensionable service to that date continsed
to be finked to her pensionable salary until she withdrew from pensionable
service effective 4 July 2008. From 1 Aprit 2007 she accrued benefits in
the Retirement Capital section until she withdrew from pensionable service
effective 4 July 2008. Her pensionable salary was not subject to the scheme
specific eamings cap.

Simon Palethorpe was a member of the Retirement Capital section in respect
of all his pensienable service unti! he withdrew from the Plan effective 21
November 2008. His pensionable salary was subject {o the scheme specific
eamings cap and he received a 1axable cash allowance as described above.

Martyn Smith withdrew from the Plan effective 5 April 2006 and has a
preserved pension entitlesnent under the Final Salary section. From that
date he receives & taxable cash allowarce of 20% of base salary in ey of
Pension Plan membership.

Pascal Bazin does not participate in any Avis occupational pension plan.
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Part 2 (Audited)

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ emotuments

The remuneration of Directors, comprising salary or fees, taxable benefits and bonus payments for the year ended 31 December 2008 are set out in the table
below:

Salary Salary Compensation Total year to Tetal year to
Salaryf Taxzble supplerment supplement for loss of 31 December 31 December
fees Bonus Benetils® Penslon Carffuet office 2008 2007
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Executive

P Bazin 512,821 61,069 7,748 - - - 581,638 -
J-P Bizet 80,000 - - - - - 80,000 80,000
L Colyer’ 135,781 - 11,808 - - 175,178 322,767 287,182
M Hennessy? - - - - - - - 1,063,051
S Palethorpe® 276,156 - 3.341 32,744 12,474 161,425 486,138 398,776
M Smith 330,000 33,000 13,574 66,000 - - 442,574 458,669
Total 1,334,756 94,069 36,471 08,744 12,474 336,603 1,913,117 2,287,678

Non-executive
W A Cathcart 180,000 - 6,282 - 20,000 - 216,282 216,141
L Cullen 40,000 - - - - - 40,000 40,000
R O'leteren 32,500 - - - - - 32,500 32,500
B Ghiot 32,500 - - - - - 32,500 32,500
G van Marcke de Lummen* 8125 - - - - - 8,125 32,500
M Millers 15,625 - - - - - 16,625 37.500
Or A von Ruedorffer 32,500 - - - - - 32,500 32,500
P & De Smedt 35475 - - - - - 35,475 29,792
Total 386,725 - 6,282 -~ 20,000 - 413,007 453,433
Total 1,721,481 94,069 42,753 98,744 32,474 336,603 2,326,124 274111
Avis Executive Board 1,997,355 336,779 111,651 147,997 3,334 1,653,671 4,250,587 2,535,864

(excluding executive
Directors): Aggregate

i Lesley Colyer retired from the Board on 4 July 2008.

2 Murray Hennessy resigned on 31 December 2007,

3 Simon Palethorpe resigned as a Directov on 21 November 2008.

4 Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen retired from the Board on 28 May 2008.
5 Malcolm Miller resigned as a Director on 28 May 2008,

6 Taxable benefits include principally car, fuel and medical insurance.

Base salaries for the executive Directors at 1 January 2009 are: Pascal Bazin €640,000 and Martyn Smith £330,000.
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Remuneration report continued

Pensions
Details of Directors’ pension entitlernents under the Avis UK Pension Plan (a defined benefit scheme) at 31 December 2008:

Amount of Transtes valse of Increase

Amount of change remaining Accrued inrease  Transfervatue of  Transfer value of in value less

in accrued change in pension inaccrued  accnued pension  accrued pension Director's

benefit due accrued benefit 10 31 December pension  at310ecember  at 31 December own

1 inflation during yeat 2008  exchuding inflation 2007 2008 Sortabutions

Director £pa £pa £pa fpa fpa £pa £pa
W A Cathcart’ - - - - 4144 670 4,478,087 333,417
L Colyer? 3,099 (36,768) 91,822 434446 1,272,209 1,741,771 468,969
G van Marcke de Lummen? - - - - 1,693,782 1,791,926 58,144
S Paletherpe* - - - - 33,403 37,718 51
M Smith® - - - - 63,583 86,104 22,51

1 Alun Cathcart is no longer accruing a benefit in the Avis UK Pension Ptan and has been in receipt of a pension from 12 September 2005. In the year lo 31 December 2008 he received a pension of
£310,016 (2007: £301,811}.

2 Lesley Colyer was a former member of the Final Salary section of the Ads LIK Pension Plan and elected te join the Retirement Capital Plan section following the Plan changes on 1 Aprll 2007. The
Retirement Capital Plan section is a cash balance arrangement to which the Director and the Company contribute. Each year, an amount equal to 25% of basic salary is credited to a notional accourt.
At 1 Apell each year after the first year, the account balance is revatued by the rate of inflation over the preceding calendar year, subject to @ maximum of 10%. The Company may &t its absolute
giscretion and subject to actuarial advice apply a greater rate of revahation. At retirement the account wilk have been built up from each year's annual credit phus the annual revatuation amount, and
the tatance in the accourn wilt be used 1o purchase an annuity on behatf of the Director. In the year to 31 December 2008 the value of the Company's contribution to the Retirement Capital Plan
section in respect of Lesley Colyer was £307,759 (2007, £37,488). Lesley Colyer retired on 4 July 2008 and received a lump sum of £149,198 and pension after reguction for early retirement of
£81,822 per annum. :

3 GEbert van Marcke de Lummen retied from the Board on 28 May 2008. He has not been accruing benefii in the Avis UK Pension Plan since 1 May 2002 from which date he has been in receipt of
a pension. In the year to 31 December 2008 he received a pension of £145,481 (2007: £141,613).

4 Simon Palethorpe was a member of the Retirement Capltal Plan section of the Avis UK Pension Plan untll his resignation on 21 November 2008. In the year to 31 December 2008 the value of the
Company's contribution was £4,545 (2007: £6,519).

S Martyn Smith left the Avis UK Pension Plan on 5 Aprl 2006 and received a deferred pension of £6,160 per annum payable from age 62.

Directors’ interests in the Company's shares
The beneficial and non beneficial interests of the Directors as at 31 December 2008 are shown below. There have been no changes between 31 December
2008 and 3 March 2009:

Executive 31 December 2008 1 January 2008 Non-executive 31 December 2008 1 January 2008
P Bazin 284,336 - W A Cathcart’ 443,373 443,373
J-P Bizet - - L Cullen 20,000 20,000
L Colyer' - 164,506 R D'leteren - -
S Palethorpe? 232,164 15,000 B Ghiot - -
M Smith 269,342 30,462 G van Marcke de Lummen? - 47,634
1 Lesley Golyer refired from the Board on 4 July 2008, M Miller - 7.857
2 Simon Palethorpe resigned as a Director on 21 Novernber 2008, Dr A von Ruedorffer 20,600 20,000

P A De Smedt 879,270 449,270

1 Included within Alun Cathcart's holding of 443,373 shares are 12,673 shares in which he
has a non-beneficlal Interest as trustee for the beneficial owners.

2 Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen retired from the Board on 26 May 2008. -

3 Malcolm Miller resigred as a Director on 28 May 2008,
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Directors' interests in the Company's share plans
Details of awards outstanding at 31 December 2008 under the Group's share schemes are shown below.

Long Tesm Incentive Plan
The following awards were made under this Plan on 7 October 2008. The market price of the Company's shares at thai daie was 8.49 pence. As ai 31
December 2008, no awards under this Plan had vested,

Award in year Vesting date of

As at 3t December o 31 December Date of 2008 Lapsed during At 31 December cutstanding

2007 2008 award 2008 2008 awards

P Bazin 389,260 - - - 389,260 4 June 2010
7 October 7 October

- 4,349,234 2008 - 4,349,234 2011

L. Colyer® 388,524 - - 248,224 140,300 4 June 2010
S Palethorpe’ 491,803 - - 259,563 232,240 4 June 2010
7 October 7 October

- 1,766,784 2008 1,717,707 49,077 201

M Smith 540,983 - - - 540,683 4 June 2010
7 October 7 October

- 1,943,462 2008 - 1,943,462 2014

1 In respect of L Colyer and 5 Palethorpe, who left the Company on 4 July 2008 and 21 November 2008 respectively, the Rermuneration Coemnmittee exercised its distretion under the Plan rules to
aliow a proportion of their awands under the Pian to vest on the Vesting Date, subject 1 the performance conditions attached to the dwards being satisfied.

Performance conditiens

The performance conditions required for vesting purposes are based 50% on the Company's three-year growth in EPS and 50% on ROCE, based on the
Group's resulis under the International Financial Reporting Standards. These targets are set such that shares will vest only if performance is between a
minirmum threshald level, where 20% of an award will vest, and the maximum level, where 100% of an award will vest.

At 31 December 2008, 35 qualifying employees and qualifying former employees, including Executive Directors, held options over 31,274,278 shares in total
under this Plan. The market price of the Company's shares at 31 December 2008 was 3.93 pence. During the year, the market price ranged between 3.01
pence and 40.5 pence.

2006 Deferred Bonus Share Plan

The following awards were made under this Plan on 5 June 2007, The market price of the Company's shares at that date was 50.25 pence. All awards vested
on 13 March 2008 and were exercised within three months from that date as provided for under the Plan rules. There are no awards outstanding under this
Plan.

At 31 December 2007 Award in year to 31 December 2008 Qutstanding at 31 December 2008
P Bazin 264,336 - -
L Colyer® 291,393 - -
S Palethorpe? 368,852 - -
M Smith 405,737 - -

1 Lesley Colver retired from the Board on 4 Juty 2008.
2 Simon Palethorpe resigned as a Director on 21 Novernber 2008,

Performance conditions
There were no performance conditions refating to awards under the 2006 Deferred Bonus Share Plan and all awards made io Executive Directors were released.

Performance Share Plan
No awards have been made under this Plan since 2004, As at 31 December 2008, no awards under this Plan had vested.

Award in year 10
At 31 December 31 December Lapsed At 31 December Vesting date ol
2007 2008 during 2008 2008 outstanding awards
W A Catheart 244,409 - - 244,409 7 March 2010
L Calyer! 187,852 - 187,852 - -
M Smith 270,466 - - 270,466 17 March 2010

1 Lestey Colyer retired from the Board on 4 July 2008,

Performance conditions
The performance conditions applying to the Performance Share Flan have been based on the performance of the Company in relation to the TSR of a peer
group, together with an EPS underpin.

For the awards to vest, TSR at the end of each performance period must De at least at the median in relation to the comparator group and there has to be a
minimum real increase in EPS of 3% per annum over the relevant period.
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Remuneration report continued

If both these conditions are met, 50% of the award may vest. For full vesting, the EPS target must be met and the Group's TSR must be in the top quartile of
the comparator group aver the seven-year period. TSR achievernent between the median and 75th percentile results in vesting between 50% and 100% of the
award on a pro rata basis.

The comparatar group for TSR for awards made in 2003 comprises the companies listed below:

Arena Leisure plc, Arriva ple, Associated British Ports Holdings pic, Eurotunnel ple/Eurotunne! SA, First Choice Holidays ple, First Group ple, Go-Ahead Group
plic, RAC pl, Minorplanet Systems ple, Mitie Group ple, MyTravel Group ple, National Express Group pic, Christian Salvesen ple, Stagecoach Holdings plc, TBI
plc, Tibbett & Britten Group plc.

Share Option Schemes

Directors” interests in share aptions granted under the Avis Europe ple share option schernes, all of which are beneficial except as noted, are shown below. No
options were granted and no options were exercised during the period under review or the previous year. Al options were granted for nil consideration. There
have been ro grants or exercises between 31 December 2008 and 3 March 2009.

31 December Lapsed during Granted during 1 January Exercise price
2008 period period 2008 {pence) Exercisable date Expiry date
Executive
P Bazn -
J-P Bizet -
L Colyer! - 22 667 - 22,667 1364 - -
- 159,862 - 159,862 836 - -
- 182,529 - 182,529 - - -
S Palethorpe? -
M Smith 238,599 - - 238,599 836 September 2005  September 2012
Non-executive
W A Catheart? 357,899 - - 357,899 174.2 March 2005 March 2012
71,580 - - 71,580 836 September 2005 September 2012
429,479 - - 429,479
L Cullen -
R D'leteren -
8 Ghiot -
G van Marcke de Lummen™ -
M Milter -
Dr A von Ruedorffer -
P A De Smedt -

1 Lesley Cotyer retired from the Board on 4 July 2008.

2 Simon Palethorpe resigned as a Director on 21 Novernber 2008.

3 The share options held by Alun Cathcart and Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen wese granted when they were executive Directors of the Company.
4 Gilbert van Marcke de Lummen retired from the Board on 28 May 2008

5 Malcoim Miller resigned as a Director on 28 May 2008,

Perfarmance conditions
The performance conditions applying to the share option schemes have been based on real growth in EPS,

Options granted before 2004 hecome exercisable when real growth in EPS exceeds 3% per annum during any pericd of three consecutive years following the
date of grant. Only options shown as having an exercisable date of March 2000 have satisfied this performance condition.

Options granied in 2004 become exercisable when real growth in EPS during the three-year period 2004 to 2006 exceeds 10% per annum compound. For
30% of the options to be exercisable there must be real minimum growth of 5% per annum compeund. Vesting is on a straight-ling basis for EPS growth
between these iargets. There is no re-testing and as the periormance conditions relating to options granted in 2004 have not been met, these options have
lapsed.

At 31 December 2008, 201 qualifying employees held options over 2,899,221 shares. No options were granted in 2008. The market price of the Company’s
shares at 31 December 2008 was 3.93 pence. During the year, the market price ranged between 3.01 pence and 40.5 pence.

Signed on behalf of the Board
Judith Nicholson

Company Secretary
3 March 2009



Directors’ report

for the year ended 31 December 2008

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

Principal activities and business review

The principat activity of the Group is the supply of rental vehicle services.

A full review of the Group's activities and a repart on its business, strategy
and fikely future developments are included in the Chairman’s Statement,
the Chief Executive’s Statement and the Business Review on pages 2 to 21,
incorporated in this report by reference.

Share capital

Details of the share capitat of the Company and changes during the year
covered by this Report are set out in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The rights and obligations attaching to the Company's ordinary
shares are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association. There are no
restrictions on the voting rights attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares
or on the transfer of securities in the Company.

Results and dividends

The resuits for the year are set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements
on pages 45 to 76. The Directors do not recommend the payment of an
interim or final dividend for the year {2007: nil).

Directors and their interests

The names of the Directors of the Company as at 31 December 2008 and
those subsequently appointed appear in the Corporate Governance report on
page 29. The Directors’ interests in shares and options to purchase shares
are detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 42 .

Employee involvement and share schemes

Details of employee involvement are included in the Corporate Social
Responsibility Report on pages 22 to 27. Details of the Company's employee
share schemes, including any provisiens relating to a change of control, are
sel put in the Remuneration Report on pages 35 to 42.

Donations
Charitable donations are detailed in the Corperate Governance report on
page 32 and in the Corporate Social Responsibility Report on pages 22 to 27.

Past balance sheet events
There are no significant events affecting the Group since year end.

Payments to creditors
The Group's policy with regard to payment of suppliers is set out in the
Corporate Governance report on page 32.

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management abjective is set aut in Note 27 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Purchase of own shares

The details of own shares held are included in Noie 31 to the Consolidated
Financial Staterments and details of the authority given to the Company

for the purchase of its shares are set out on page 31 of the Corporate
Governance report.
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Substantizl shareholdings

The details of substantial shareholdings are included in the Corporate
Governance report on page 31. As noted in the Corporate Governance report,
the Company has entered into a Relationship Agreement with s.a. D'leteren
n.v. which holds 59.6% of the Company’s share capital, details of which are
summarised on page 31 of the Corporate Governance report.

Appointment of Directors and Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association provide that the Company may appoint
directors by ordinary resclution. The Company's Articles of Association
themselves may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders. As
explained in the Corporate Governance report one-third of the directors
resign by rotation at least every three years. Details of the Relationship
Agreement with s.a. D'leteren n.v,, which includes rights for s.a. D'leteren
n.v. to appoint anc remove up to three Directors, are set out on page 31 of
the Corporate Governance report.

Significant agreements

The Group has entered inio the follgwing significant agreements which are
subject to change of control provisions: (1) Trademark and System Licences
dated 4 April 1997 for use of the Avis trademarks and operating system in
Europe, Africa, the Middle East and Asia which can be terminated in the
event that a major competitor obtains control of 35% or more of voting
capital, whereupen associated agreements, including the Computer Services
Agreement dated 1 January 1991 for use of the Wizard system, would

also terminate. (2) Trademark Licence dated 11 March 2003 for use of the
Budget trademarks in Eurcpe, Africa and the Middle East which can be
terminated in the event that a major competitor abtains control of 35% or
mare of voting capital. (3) A €580,000,000 Facilities Agreement dated 20
February 2006 which can be terminated in the gvent of a change of control.
(4) €250,000,000 Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2013 dated 21 July 2006
which can be accelerated in the event of a change of control,

Disclosure of information to auditors

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the Group's auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, are unaware

and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a
Director in order ta make himse!f aware of any relevant audit information and
1o establish that the Group's auditors are aware of this information.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to continue
in office and a resolution to reappoint them as the Group's auditors will be
proposed at the Annuat General Meeting.

N

By order of the Board

Judith Nicho!son
Company Secretary
3 March 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Avis Europe plc

Introduction

We have audited the Group Financial Statements of Avis Europe ple for the year ended 31 December 2008 which
comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Significant Accounting Policies and the
related notes. These Group Financial Statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the Parent Company Financial Statements of Avis Europe plc for the year ended 31
December 2008 and on the information in the Dircetors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been
audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors” responsibilities for preparing the Annuz) Report and the Group Financial Statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as adopted by the European Union are set out
in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is 1o audit the Group Financial Stztements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements znd [nternationa! Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This repom, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the Company's Members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accep! or assume responsibility for any other purposc
or 10 any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

We report te you our opinion as to whether the Group Fibancial Statements give a true and fair view and whether the
Group Financial Statemems have been properly prepared in accordarce with the Companies Act 1985 and Aurticle 4 of
the 1AS Regulation. We also report ta you whether in our cpinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the Group Financial Statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific
information presented in the Business Review, the Corporate Governance Statement and the sections of the
Remuneration Report that are referred to as zudited tha are cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors' Report.

In addition we report to you if. in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require fo
our zudit, or if information specified by law regarding dircctors” remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions
of the Combined Code {2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Firancial Services Authority, and wi
report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on intemal control cover all risks
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Groug
Financial Statements. The other information comprises onty the Chairman's Statement. the Chief Executive's Review,
the Business Review, the Corporate and Social Responsibility Report, the Directors Listing, the Corporate Governance
Staterzent, the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the unaudited part of the Remuneration Report and the Five
Year Summary. We consider the implications for gur report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the Group Financial Statements. Our responsibilitics do net extend to any other
information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Avditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auliting Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Group Financial Statements. i also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judpments made by the directors in the preparation of the Group Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and perfonmed our audit so as to obtain all the infermation and explanations which we considered
necessary in order Lo provide us with sufficient evidence lo give reasonable assurance that the Group Financial
Statements are free from matetial misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregelarity or errer. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group Financial Statements.

Opinion

In our opinion: .
« the Group Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the Group’s affzirs as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then
ended:

= the Group Financial Statemenis have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article
4 e [AS Regulation; and

. énl‘prmation v iretorg Repor is consisi:T_wiLxh?Gmup Financial Statement:
Privewate ! .

Chartered Accountants and Registered Audifors
Reading
3 March 2009

Notes:

) The maintenance and integnty of the Avis Europe plc website is the responsibility of the Directors: the work camied out by the auditors does
ot involv e consideration of these matiers and, sccordingly. the suditors accept no netponsibility for sty changes that may have oocurred 1 the
Financial $tatements since they were initially presented on the website.

b) Legistation in the Uinited Kingdom goverming the preparation and di ination of Financial ma differ from legistation in oter
jurisdictions,
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Amonnts Amounis
exchuded from exciuded from
Underlying’ undertying Total Undestying' ungertying Total

Notes €m €m €m €n £m €n
Continuing operations
Revenue 2,3 1,313.8 - 1,313.8 1,326.8 - 1,326.8
Cost of sales {758.7) - (758.7) {750.1) - {750.1)
Gross profit 555.1 - 555.1 576.7 - 576.7
Administrative expenses {442.4) {15.6) {458.0) (470.2) (5.2 {475.4)
Operating profit/{toss) 34 112.7 {15.6) 97.1 106.5 (5.2) 101.3
Finance income 7 2.0 - 2.0 5.4 0.8 6.2
Finance costs 7 (77.1} (19.4) (96.5) (75.1) - (75.1)
Share of profit of joint ventures and associate 15 0.4 - 0.4 0.8 - 08
Profit/{loss) betore taxation 38.0 (35.0) 3.0 376 4.9) 33.2
Taxation 8 (16.2} 20 {14.2} (11.4) 6.5 (17.9}
Profit/{loss) after taxation 21.8 (33.0) {11.2) 262 (10.9) 15.3
Discontinued operation - Greece
Profit/(oss) after taxation 39 - 13 1.3 35 (15.9) {12.4)
Profit/{loss) for the year 1.8 {31.7) (9.9) 29.7 {26.8) 29
Attributable to:
- equity holders of the Company 33 21.8 (31.7) {9.9) 298 (26.8) 30
- minority interest 36 - - - {0.1) - {0.1)
Profit/(loss) for the year 21.8 (31.7 (9.9 287 {26.8) 29
(Loss)/eamnings per share
{euro cents)
Basic and diluted 10 {1.1) 0.3
Basic and diluted — continuing 10 {1.2} 1.6

1 Undertying excludes net exceptiona) items, certain se-measurement items and economic hedges — see Basis of Preparation.

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

for the year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Amounts Amounts
excluded from exciuded from
Undertying® undertying Total Undertying' undertying Totat

Notes €m €m €m €m € &m
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit obligations 24,33 - 11.2 1.2 — 14.9 14.9
Cash flow hedges:
— net fair value losses H - (11.8) {11.8} - (5.8 (5.8
- transferred o Income Statement 34 - 2.2 2.2 ~ 7.9 79
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations H - {23.1) {23.1} - 2.8 2.8)
Tax on net items taken to equity 8 - 38 38 - 3.9) (3.9)
Net (expense)/income recognised
directly in equity 35 - (17.7) (17.7) - 11.1 11.1
Profit/{loss) for the year 218 (31.7) (9.9) 297 (26.8) 29
Total recognised income and expense
for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company 21.8 (49.4) (27.6) 29.7 (15.7) 14.0
Total recognised income and expense
for the vear is attributable to:
— equity holders of the Company 4k} (49.4) {27.6) 29.8 (15.7) 14.1
~ minority interest - - - 0.1) - 0.1)
Total recognised income and expense for the year 21.8 (49.4) {27.6) 29.7 {(15.7} 14.0

1 Undertying excludes net exceptional items, certain re-measurement items and economic hedges — see Basis of Preparation.

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.







Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December

2008 2007

Notes €m €m
Goodwill rl 0.2 0.3
Other intangible assets 12 14.7 119
Property. plant and equipment:
-vehicles 13 441.0 A448.7
-other property. plant and equipment 14 71.7 78.0
Investments accounted for using the equity
method 15 12.2 10.8
Other financial assets:
-investments held for sale 16 0.4 0.6
-derivative financial instruments 27 0.7 10.2
Deferred tax assets 17 31.7 49.5
Non-current assets 5726 610.0
Non-current assets held for sale 18 10.3 7.1
Inventories 19 6.9 1.7
Trade and other receivables 20 1,517 1,391.8
Current tax assets 2.0 3.0
Other financial assets:
-held for trading 16 - 5.4
-derivative financial instruments 27 9.2 3.8
Cash and shorn-term deposits 21 52.1 60.9
Current assets 1421.9 14726
Total assets 2,004.8 2,089.7
Trade and other payables 2 539.2 670.3
Current tax liabilities U4 33.3
Obligations under finance leases 25 232.7 273.0
Other financial liabilities:
-borrowings 26a) 45.1 310
~deferred consideration 26c} 0.2 03
-derivative financial instruments 27 21.4 1.9
Provisions 23 313.8 45.1
Current liabilities §96.8 1,054.9
Deferred tax liabilities 17 26.1 349
Provisions 23 5.6 223
Retirement benefit obligations 24 70.9 97.5
Obligations under finance leases 25 - 0.7
Other financial liabilities:
-borrowings 26a) 3413 699.2
-deferred consideration 26¢) 22.5 30.3
-derivative financial instrumenis 27 51.5 52.9
Non-current liabilities 1,037.9 937.8
Total liabilities 1,90.7 1.992.7
Net assets 70.1 97.0
Equity
Called-up share capital 30 131 13.1
Share premitm 3 815 3gLs
Own shares held 31 (0.4) {3.3)
Retained deficit 33 {281.9) (280.2)
Other deficit 34 (41.0) (14.9)
Shareholders' equity 35 693 96.2
Minority interest 36 0.8 0.8
Total equity 70.1 97.0

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements,

The Consolidated Financial Statements, including accompanying Notes, were approved by the Board on 3 March 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

Martyn Smith
Finance Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 December

2008 2007
Notes €m €m
Operating profit - continuing operations 97.1 101.3
Discontinued operation — Greece 39 1.3 8.0
Operating profit — all operations 98.4 93.3
Reverse amortisation of other intangible assets 4 34 49
Reverse depreciation on properly, plant and equipment 4 132.2 152.8
Reverse adjustments arising on differences between sales proceeds and depreciated amounts 4 104 (18.7
Reverse non-cash operating lease charge on manufacturer repurchase contracts 4 192.3 185.8
Payments in respect of manufacturer repurchase contracts {1,525.0) (1,428.1)
Receipts in respect of manufacturer repurchase coniracts 1,235.6 1,092.2
Reverse share-based payment charges 5 0.2 0.4
Decrease/{increase) in inventories - 05 {0.7
Decreasefincrease) in receivables 12.2 (52.3)
(Decrease)increase in payables (8.2) 8.0
(Decrease)increase in provisions 40 12.0
Decrease in retirement benefit obligations (2.2) 3.9
Reverse exceptional impairment ] 3.1 1.1
Reversal of re-measurement items and economic hedging adjustments (13.2) (1.9
Cash inflow/{outflow} on derivative financial instruments ~ non-debt 16 (1.6}
Net cash generated from operating activities before taxation 142.6 535
Tax paid (10.6} (9.9}
Net cash generated from operating activities 132.0 436
Investing activities
Purchase of other intangible assets 12 (9.9} (9.6}
Purchase of vehicles (491.5) (492.5)
Proceeds on disposal of vehicles 301.8 346.0
Purchase of other property, plant and equipment 14 (16.4) (19.0)
Proceeds on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 0.6 7.7
Proceeds on disposal of nen-current assets held for sale 53.9 64.8
Disposal of financial assets — investments held for sale 0.2 -
Disposal of financial assets hefd for trading 37a) 5.4 17.2
Investment in joint venture 38 {0.1) -
Acquisition of licensee businesses 38 {1.9) (5.0)
Cash balances acquired with licensee businesses 38 0.1 -
(157.8) {90.4)
Proceeds on disposal of business 39 - 22.2
Cash balances disposed with business - {2.4)
Net cash used In investing activities (157.8) {70.6)
Financing activities
Finance revenug received 2.0 55
Finance costs paid (59.4) 67.8)
Finance cost element of finance lease payments (19.2) {17.5)
Net capita! element of finance lease payments ] 37a) (53.5) {57 B)
Purchase of own shares - {2.7)
Cash flow on derivative financial instruments — debt 373 02 (35.3)
Proceeds from bank and other lpans 373) 1291 141.6
Net cash used in financing activities {0.9) (33.8)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (excluding exchange rate changes) {(26.6) {60.8)
Effects of exchange rate changes 373) {0.9) 0.4)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (27.4) {61.
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 373) 52.1 1133
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 24.7 52.1

The accompanying Noles formn an integral past of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Applicable to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

Basis of preparation

The Consoclidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European
Union, interational Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (FRIC)
interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. Avis Europe plc is a public limited company incorporated, listed and
domiciled in the UK. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention and are prepared in accordance
with the accounting policies set out below, which are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended 31 December 2007, except for the adoption of the following:

New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards

that are effective

IFRIC 11, IFRS 2, Group and treasury share transactions (effective from

1 January 2008} provides guidance on applying IFRS 2. Where share-based
payments invofve an enfity's own equity instruments and the entity chooses
o is required t© buy its own equity instruments (treasury shares) to settle the
share-based payment obtigation, these should be accounted for as an equity-
settled share-based transaction under {FRS 2. This amendment has not had
a significant impact on the treatment of the Growup's share-based paymens.

IFRIC 12, Service concession arrangements (effective from 1 January 2008)
provides guidance on the treatment of government service concession
arrangements and is deemed not relevant to the Group's operations.

IFRIC 14, The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimurn funding requirements
ana their interaction (effective from 1 January 2008} provides guidance on

the recognition of defined benefit assets in conjunction with minimum funding
requirements (MFRs). The extent to which an asset may be recognised is
dependent upon the entity’s entitliement to a future refund or reduction in
contributions, and the existence of an MFR may give rise to an additional
liability if contributions are not avaiiable to the entity once they have been paid.
This amendment has not impacted on the amounts recognised under defined
benefit schemes.

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 reclassification of financial instruments (applicable immediately
and retrospectively) permil the reclassification of some financial assets. The
amendments addrass the differences between the reclassification requiremnenits
of LAS 39 and US GAAP and are effective immediately. The amendmeants do not
affact the classification of any of the Group's financial asseis.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are
not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards
have been published that are mandatory for the Group's acoounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later pericds, but which the Group
has not adopted earty, as follows:

IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes (effective from 1 July 2008} provides
guidance an the treatment of customer loyalty programmes. An ertity shall
account for award credits which are granted as part of customer loyatty
programmes as separately identifiable components of a sales transaction.

The fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial
sale shall be allocated between the award credits and the other components

of the sale. The Group believes that this amendment will not have a significant
impact on the treatment of the Group's customer loyaity programmes.

IFRIC 15, Agreements {or the construction of real estate {gffective from

1 January 2009) addresses the accounting for revenue and associated
expenses by entities that undestake the construction of real estate and is
deemed not relevant to the Group's operations.

IFRIC 16, Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation {effective from
1 October 2008) provides guidance on net investment hedging, inciuding:

o which foreign currency risks qualify for hedge accounting and the amount
that may be designated;

* where within the Group the hedging instrument may be held; and

» the amount which i reclassified to the ‘ncome Statement upon disposal
of the hedged foreign operation.

The Group anticipates that this amendment will have no impact upon its
Consolidated Financial Statements.

{FRS 8, Operating segments (eflective from 1 January 2009) requires an entity
to adopt a “management approach” to segment reporting such that segmenta
information is the information which management uses internally for calcutating
segment performance and deciding how to aliocate resources to operating
segments. This information may be different from that used to prepare the
Income Statement and Balance Sheet. Management does not anticipate that
the introduction of IFRS 8 will have a significant impact on the Group's
segmental disclosures. The Group will apply IFRS 8 from anrual periods
beginning 1 January 2009.

1AS 1 revised 2007 (eifective from 1 January 2009) is mandatory for accounting
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. Upon adoption, the Income
Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity will be replaced by a Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Other principal statements will also be renamed.

IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits (efiective from 1 January 2009),

is part of the 1ASB's annual improvements project published in May 2008.
The amendment clarifies that a plan amendment that results in a change in
the extent to which benefit promises are affected by future salary increases is
a curtailment, while an amendment that changes benefits atiributable to past
service gives rise to a negative past service cost if it results in a reduction in
the present value of the defined benefit obligation. The definition of retum on
plan assets has been amended to state that plan administration costs are
deducted in the calculation of retum on plan assets only to the extent that such
costs have been excluded from measurement of the defined benefit abligation.
The distinction between short-term and kong-term employee benefits will be
based on whether benefis are due to be settled within or after 12 months of
employee service being rendered.

1AS 37, Provisions, contingent liabifities and contingent assets, requires
contingent liabilities to be disciosed, nat recognised. LAS 19 has been
amended to be consistent. The Group will apply the [AS 19 (Amendmeny)
from 1 January 2009.

1AS 23 (Revised), Borrowing costs (effective from 1 January 2009) removes the
opiion of immediately recognising bomowing costs as an expense which relates
to assets that take a substantial period of ime to prepare for their intended
use. This is not expected to have any material impact on the Group's
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial statements |
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Significant Accounting Policies continued

Applicable to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

IAS 32 (Amendment), Financial instruments: Presentation, and 1AS 1
(Amendment), Presentation of financial statements — Puttable financial
instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective from 1 January
2009) reguire certzin instruments to be classified as equily puttable financial
instruments. Such instruments include those that impose on the entity an
obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the
entity upon liquidation. The Group will apply the 1AS 32 and AS 1({Amendment)
from 1 January 2009. This amendment is not expected to have any impact on
the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

145 38 {Amendment), Intangible assets {effective from 1 January 2009)

is part of the IASB's annual improvements project published in May 2008.

A prepayment may only be recognised in the event that payment has been
made in advance of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt of senvices.
The Group will apply the IAS 38 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009. The
amendment is not expected to have any impact upon the Group’s Consolidated
Financial Statements,

IAS 39 (Amendment), Eligible hedged items (effective from 1 January 2009):
the current guidance on designating and documenting hedges states that a
hedging instrument needs to involve a party external to the reporting entity and
cites a segment as an example of a reporting entity, This means that in order
for hedge accounting to be applied at segment level, the tequirements for
hedge accounting are currenily required to be met by the applicable segment,
The amendment removes the example of a segment so that the guidance is
consistent with (FRS 8, Operating segments, which requires disclosure for
segments to be based on information reported to the chiet operating decision-
maker. This amendment is expected to have no impact upon the Group's
hedging activities.

IFRS 1 (Amendment) (effective 1 January 2009} and IAS 27 (Revised) (part of
annual improvements — deletion of cost method) (effective from 1 July 2009)
allows first-tme adopters to use a deemed cost of either fair value or the
carrying amount under previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost
of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in the
separate financial statements. The amendment also removes the definition of
the cost method from 1AS 27 and replaces it with a requirement to present
dividends as income in the separate financial statements of the investor. The
Group will apply IFRS 1 (Amendrnent) from 1 January 2009. The amendment
will not have any impact on the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements.

The revised standard also requires the effects of all ransactions with non-
controliing interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control
and these tfransactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses and
specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the
entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. The Group will apply tAS 27 (Revised) prospectively to transactions with
non-controlling interests from 1 January 2010.

IFRS 2 vesting conditions ang cancellations (effective from 1 January 2009)
deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. it clasifies that vesting
conditions are service conditions and performance conditions onty. Other
features af a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. These features
would need to be included in the grant date fair value calculation for
transactions with employees and others providing similar services; they would
not impact the number of awards expected to vest or valuation therecf
subsequent to grant date, All cancellations, whether by the entity o by other
parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. The Group will apply
IFRS 2 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not expected to have any
impact on the Group's Consofidated Financtal Statements.

IFRS 3 revised 2008 (effective from 1 July 2009) continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations, with some sigrificant changes.
For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair
value at the acquisition date, with confingent payments classified as debt
subsequently re-measured through the Income Statement. There is a choice
0N an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controliing interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets, All acquisition-refated costs
should be expensed. The Group wili apply IFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all
busingss combinations from 1 January 2010.

[FRS 5 (Amendment), Nen-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued
operations (and consequential amendment to IFRS 1, First-time adoption)
(effective from 1 July 2009) clarifies that &)l of a subsidiary's assets and
liabilities are classified as held for sale it a partial disposal sale plan results
in loss of control. Relevant disclosure should be made for this subsidiary if
the definition of a discontinued operation is met. A consequential amendment
o IFRS 1 states that these amendments are applied prospectively from the
date of transition to IFRSs. The Group will apply the IFRS 5 (Amendment)
prospectively to all partiat disposals of subsidiaries from 1 January 2010.

Underlying measures

In addition to total performance measures, the Group discloses additional
undertying performance measures, including undertying profit and undertying
eamings per share. The Group believes that these undertying performance
measures provide additional useful information on undertying trends. The term
“underlying” is not defined under IFRS, and may therefore not be comparable
with similarty titted profit measurements reported by other companies. It is not
intended to be a substitute for, or superior o, IFRS measures of profit.

Underiying measures are calculated based on reperted profit before exceptional
itemns, certain re-measurement items and adjustments 1o reflect the reatised
gains and losses on foreign exchange forward contracts and accrued interest
cash flows on certain derivative financial instruments (econamic hedge
adjustments), These are detailed below,

Exceptional items

Exceptional tems are material non-recuring items that derive from events
or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group, and which
individually or, if of a similar type, in aggregate, are separately disclosed by
virtue of their size or incidence.

Certain re-measurement items

ltemns that represent re-measurement of undertying assets or fiabilities

ffor example due 1o interest rale or exchange rate changes) are presented as
certain re-measurement items. Events which may give dse & the classification
of gains and losses as certain re-measurement items include the following:

a) recognised fair value gains and fosses on derivatives in accordance with
the financial instruments and hedge accounting policy below;

b} exchange gains ard losses arising upon the translation of foreign
currency borrowings at the closing rate; and

¢} actuarial gains and losses anising on defined benefit retirement
henefit schemes.

Economic hedge adiustments

Under IAS 39, the Group applies hedge accounting to hedge relationships
{primarily forwasd exchange coniracts, Cross curmency interest rate swaps and
interest rate swaps) where it is both permissible and practicable to do so.
Due 10 the nature: of its economic hedging refationships, in a aumber of




circumstances the Greup is unable 1o apply hedge accounting to these
derivatives. The Group continues, however, 1o enter into these armangements

as they provide certainty of the exchange rates applying to the foreign currency
transactions entered into by the Group and the interest rate on the Group's
debt. These arangements result in fixed and determined cash flows. The Group
beligves that these arrangements remain effective as economic hedges, and
therefore adjustment is mads to reported profit measures such that the
undertying profit reflects full application of hedge accounting.

Functional currency

The functional currency of the Company is sterling. However, as a significani
proportion of the Group's revenues, costs, assets and funding arise in euro,
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group are presented i evre.

Basis of consglidation
The Consolidated Financial Statemenis comprise a consolidation of the
accounts of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

The accounting reference dates of certain of the Group's subsidiary
undertakings and its associated undertaking are governed by local
requirements and are not coterminous with the Group's 31 December year
end. For those companies with non-coterminous year ends, management
accounts for the relevant period to 31 December have been consolidated.
The main subsidiary undertaking with such a non-coterminous year end is
Avis Autonoleggio SpA {30 June}. In the opinien of the Directors, the expense
of providing additional coterminous statutory accounts, together with potential
conseguential delay in producing the Group's Consolidated Financial
Statements, would outweigh any benefit to the sharehalders.

Subsidiary underiakings

Subsidiary undertakings are those entities in which the Group has, directly or
indirectly, an interest of more than half of the vating rights or otherwise has the
power 1o exercise control over the operations. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date that control is transferred to the Group and are no longer
consolidatad frem the date that control ceases. Subsidiaries are accounted for
using the acquisition method of accounting. All inter-company transactions,
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated upon consotidation.

Minority interests

The amount of profits or lesses for a reporting period allocated to minority
interests is adjusted {and separately disclosed in the Income Statement)
against income of the Group for the year.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual amangement whereby the Group and one or more
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. Joint
control is when the strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating
{0 the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Interests in join! ventures are recognised using the equity method. Unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between the Group ang its joint ventures
are efiminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint veritures.

The Group’s investment in joint veniures includes goodwill on acquisition.
The Group’s shara of profit from joint ventures represents the Group's share
of the joint venture’s profit after tax. I the Group's share of losses in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group does
not recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.

avis-europe.com Annual Repor: 2008 D1

Associate undertakings

favestments in the associate undertaking are acoounied for using the equity
method and are initially recognised at cost, This is an undeniaking over which
the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanied by
a share of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. The Group's share of
profit from the associate represents the Group's shiare of the associate’s profit
after tax.

Segment reporting

The Group's primary reporting format is business segments and its secondary
format is geographical segments. A business segment is a component of the
Group that is engaged in providing a group of related products and services,
and is subject to risks and retums that are different from thase other business
segments. A geographical segment is & component of the Group that operates
within a particular economic envirenment and this is subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of components operating in other
economic environments.

Revenue

Revenue includes vehicle rental income, fees from the provision of services
incidental to vehicle rental (such as the sale of fuel, sub-licensee income and
the provision of foreign exchange services 10 rental customers), fees receivable
from licensees net of discounts and excludes inter-company sales, value added
and sales taxes.

When the outcome of a transaction invalving the rendering of services (including
the provisicn of licence rights) can be estimated reliably, revenue associated
with the transaction is recognised by reference o the stage of completion of
the transaction at the batance sheet date. The outcome of a transaction can

be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied;

a) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

b) itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
will flow to the Group;

¢) the stage of completion of the fransaction at the balance sheet date can
be measured reliably; and

d} the cost incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales inchudes selling, revenue and rental related casts {e.g. commissions
and credit card fees) and vehicle costs. Cortributions to vehicle costs from
suppliers are credited over the holding period of the related vehicles, Any such
confributions dependent on performance criteria are recognised in the Income
Statement only to the extent that it is constdered probable that the criteria will
be met.

Administralive expenses

Administrative expenses are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred and include staff costs, non-vehicle related rental charges
and other overheads.

Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.

Share-hased payments
Share-based payments are exclusively made in connection with employee
share optien plans (ESOPs).

Financial statements I
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Applicable to the Consolidated Financiat Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment, is not applied to shares, share options or other
equity instrumentis that were granted before or on 7 Novembar 2002 nor for
oplions issued after that date which had vested at or before 1 January 2005,
Equity-settled ESOPs grarited after that date are accourted for in accordance
with IFRS 2, such that the fair value of the employee service received in
exchange for the grant of the option is recognised in the Income Statement
over the related performance period. The total amount to be expensed over
the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions {for
example profitability growth targets). Nor-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of aptions that are expected to become exercisable.
[t recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates in the Income
Statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital and the share premium account when the options
are exercised.

Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.
The excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer's interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities,
recognised in accordance with IFRS 3, Business combinations, constitutes
goodwill and is recognised as an asset. Where the interest in the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is greater than the
cost of the business combinatien, it is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidianies is included in “Goodwill®.
Goodwill on acguisition of associates and joint ventures is included in
“Investments accounted for using equity method”.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumutated
impairment josses, until disposal or termination of the previgusly acquired
business. The profit or loss on disposal or termination will be calculated after
charging the hook amounit, at current exchange rates, of any such goodwill
through the Income Statement. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annuaky and whengver there are indications that goodwill may have become
impaired (including planned disposal or termination where there are indications
that the value of the goodwill has been permanently impaired). Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpoase of impairment testing.
The alfocation is made to those cash-generating units or group of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose.

Goodwilt arising on acquisitions before 1 January 2004, the date of transition
to International Fnancial Reporting Standards, has been retained at the
previous UK GAAP amounts, subject to being tested for impairment at that
date. The Group's policy up to and including 28 February 1998 was to
eliminate goodwill arising upon acquisitions to reserves. Under IFRS 1 and
IFRS 3, such goodwill will remain eliminated against reserves and is not
included in determining any subseguent profit or loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are valued at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment lesses. Costs that ane directly associated with
identifiable and unique software products which are contralled by the Group, and
which have probable economic benefits exceeding the cost beyond one year, are
repognised as intangible assets. Costs associated with maintaining computer

software, or that are not directly associated with identifiable and unique software
products, are expensed as incurred. Computer software programmes are
amortised on a straight-line basis over periods varying between two and

ten years.

Vehicles not subject to manufacturer repurchase agreements

Vehicles are initially measured at cost. This cost comprises the purchase

price (including any import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after
deducting trade discounts and rebates), plus any costs directly attributable to
bringing the vehicle to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of gperating. After initial recognition, the vehicle is carried at its cost less any
accumulated depregiation and any acournulated impairment losses. Straight-
line depreciation is based on initial cost, after consideration of expected holding
periods and estimates of residual values. Where the carrying amount of a
vehicle is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

Other property, ptant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. This cost
comprises the purchase price {ncluding any import duties and non-refundable
purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates), plus any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary {or it to be capable of operating. If applicable, initial estimates

of the cost of dismantling and remeving the item and restoring the site are
alse included in the cost of the item.

Adter initial recognition, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairmest losses. The depreciable amount
of the item is allocated according to the straight-line method over its useful
economic life. The main useful iives are as follows:

a) Buildings: 4} to 50 years;
b} Plant and equipment: 310 15 years;
t) Leased assets: depending on the fengih of the lease.

Where the carrying amount of a fixed asset is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use and is determined for an individual asset,

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are |
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. |

Operating leases for which the Group is the lessor |
Rental income is recognised on a straighi-ine basis over the lease term. Unless
the vehicles themsehves are held under operating leases for which the Group is
the lessee, vehicles leased out under operating leases are included in vehictes

in the balance sheet. They are depreciated over their expected useful lives.

Operating leases for which the Group is the lessee

Lease payments under operating leases (net of any incentive received from the

lessor} are recognised as expenses in the income statement on a straight-line

basis over the lease term. i

Vehicles subject to manufacturer repurchase agreements
Vehicles subject to manufacturer repurchase agreements are not recognised as
non-cument assets since these amangements are accounted for as operating




leases (fessee accounting). The difference between the initial payment and the
final repurchase price (the obligation of the manufacturer) is considered as a
deferred charge and is cassified as prepaid vehicle operating lease charges
within trade and other receivables. A inception of the arrangement, a separate
repuschase agreement recefvable is also recognised within trade and other
receivables for the {inal repurchase price.

Finance Ieases for which the Group is the lessee

Leasas of vehictes (including vehicles subject to manufacturer repurchase
amangements) and other property, plant and equipment, where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the
lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present vafue of the minimum
lease paymes. Each lease payment is allocated between the liabdlity and

the finance charge so as to achieve a constant rate of return on the finance
balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in interest-bearing liabilities. The interest element of

the finance cost is charged to the Income Statement over the lease period.
The leased assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis
consistent with similar owned vehicles or other property, plant and equipment.
If there is no reasonable certainty that ownership wilt be acquired by the end of
the lease term, the asset is depreciatec over the shorter of the lease term and
its useful life.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sa'e if their camying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is met when the sale is highly probable, the asset is available
for immediate sate in its present condition, management are committed to the
assel disposal, and disposal is expected to be completed within 12 months.
Non-turrent assets classified as held for sale cease to be depreciated and are
measured at the iower of carrying amount and fair value less selling costs.

Inventories

Inventeries are measured at the fower of ¢ost and nef realisable value. The cost
of inventeries comprises alf costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their lecation and congition at the
halance sheet date. ltems are valued using the first in, first cut method, When
inventeries are used, the camying amount of those inventcries is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. Provision
for write-downs to net realisable value and losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the write-down or loss occurs. Reversals
are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivaliles are recognised initialty at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to cotlect all amounts due according to the original terms of the recenvables.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's camying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount
is recognised in the Income Statement within administrative expenses. When a
trade receivable is uncoliectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited in the Income Statement within administrative expenses.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand, demand deposits and bank overdrafts,

Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
fisk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown within *borrowings” in
“current abilities” in the Balance Sheet.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is cbjective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. If any
such gvidence exists for available for sale financial assels, the cumnufative loss
— measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in
profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the Income Staiement.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are inittally measured at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when there is a preseni obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
It these conditions are not met, no provision is recognised. Provisions are
measured at the value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle

the obligation. Where the time value of meney is material, provisions are
discounted using an appropriate rate that takes into account the risks specific
1o the liability.

Uninsured losses are recognised when the undertying event oceurs at the value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obfigation. Accruals
are made for uninsured losses notified and provisions are made for claims
incurred but not reported at each year end. Recoveries of amounts claimed
from insurers to seftle expenses incured are recognised when it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received. Provisions are measured at the
valye of tha expenditure expacted to be required to settle the obligation.

Retirement benzefit obligations

The Group operates various defined benefit and defined conribution retiremen
beriefit plans. Most of these plans are funded schemes, that is they are
financed through a pension fund or an external insurance poficy. The minimum
funding level of these schemes is defined by national rules.

Payments o defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an
expense as they fall due.

The Group's commitments under defined benefit retirement benefit plans,
and the related costs are valued using the “projected unit credit methed®
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.
Actuarial gaing and losses are recogrised in full in the period in which they
oceur. They are recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and
Expense. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the
benefils have already vested, and gtherwise is amortised on a straighi-line
basis over the average period until the benefits become vesied.

The retirement benefit cbligation recognised in the Balance Shest represents
the present value of the defined benefit obligation as reduced by the fair value
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Significant Accounting Policies continued

Applicable to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

service cost, plus the present value of any refunds and reductions in future
contributions 0 the plan. The curment service costs and gains and lesses
on seitlements and curtailments are included in operating expenses in the
[ncome Statement.

Taxation

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from net profit as reported in the Income Statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years.

It further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current tax for cuent and prior periods, to the extent unpaid, is recognised
as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods
exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess Is recognised as a
current asset. The benefit relating to a tax loss that can be carried back to
recover currert tax of a previous period is recognised as an asset.

Defered tax is provided in full using the balance sheet liability method, on
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and abilities
for financial reporting purpases and the corresponding tax bases for taxation
purposes. Deterred taxes are not calculated on the following temporary
differences: (i) the initial recognition of gooawill and (i} the initial recognition
of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, The
ameunt of deferred tax provided is based on the expected basis of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax
asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be avallable against which the unused tax losses and credits can
be utilised. Deferred tax assets previously recognised are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be reafised.

Deferred tax is not recognised in relation to temporary differences associated

with unremitted eamings of the Group's overseas subsidiaries where the Group
i5 in a position o contrl the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such ditferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred iax are charged or credited to the Income Statement
except when they relate to items charged or credited directly #0 equity, in which
case the tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign cumrency translation

The Group consolidation i prepared in sterling. Income statements of foreign
operations are fransiated inta sterfing at the weighted average exchange rates
for the period and balance sheets are translated into sterling at the exchange
rate uling on the balance sheet date. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as local currency assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the clesing rate.

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing
at the date of the transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Income Statement.
Bxchange movernents arising from the retranslation at closing rates of the
Group's net investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are taken
to the transtation reserve. The Group's net investment includes the Group's
share of net assets of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and certain

inter-company foans, The net investment definition includes loans between
“sister™ companies and certain inter-company items denominated in any
currency. Other exchange movements are faken io the income Statement.

Where the Group hedges net investments in foreign operations, the gains and
losses refating to the effective portion of the hedaing instrument is recognised
in the transiation reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to any ineffective
portion is recognised in the Income Statement. Gaing and losses accumulated
in equity are included in the Income Staternent when the fareign operation is
disposed of,

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euro. The consolidatad
sterling assets and liabilities at each balance sheet date are recalculated inty
euro at the closing rate at that balance sheet date. The consclidated sterfing
income and expenses are recalculated into euro at the average monthly
exchange rates. All resuiting exchange differences arising after 1 January 2004
are taken to the translation reserve.

Equity

Where the Company {ox its subsidiaries) re-acquires its own equity instruments,
those instruments are deducted from equity as own shares held. Where such
equity instruments are subsequently sold, any consideration received is
recognised in equity.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in
the Consolidated Financial Statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company's shareholders. interim dividends are recognised
when paid.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair vatue, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Financial instruments and hedge accounting

In accordance with IAS 39, financial instruments are recorded initially at
fair value. Subseguem measurement depends upon the designation of the
instrument, as follows:

a) non-cument investments (other than interests in joint ventures, associates
and fixed deposits) and short-term investments (other than fixed deposits)
are normally designated as available for sale and are held at fair value;

b} fixed deposits, comprising principally funds held with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term borrowings and overdrafts are
classified as loans and receivables and are held at amortised cost;

¢} derivatives, including interest rate swaps, foreign exchange contracts,
Cross cumency interest rate swaps, callable interest rate swaps, torward
rate agreements, options and embedded derivatives, are classified as
derivative financial instruments and are held a1 fair value; and

¢) long-term loans are generally held at amortised cost.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined using a
number of methods and agsumptions based on prevailing conditions at the
balance sheet date including market forward interest rates and exchange rates
at the bafance sheet date. Changes in fair value of derivative financial
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the
Incomie Statement as they arise.




The Group documents at the inception of the transacton the relationship between
the hedging instruments and hedged item, as well as its risk management
objectives and strategy for undertalking various hedging transactions. The Group
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a nen-current asset or
liability it the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months,
and as a current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset

or liability.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair valug of derivative financial instruments that are designated
and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised directly in equity
and any ineffective portion is recegnised immediately in the Income Statement.
If the cash flow hedge is a firm commitment ar the forecast transaction results
in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, a1 the time the asset or liability
is recognised, thie associated gains or losses on the derivative that had
previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of
the asset or fiabitity, For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset
or a liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the Income Statement
in the same period in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, er when a hedge no longer
meets the critena for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing

in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
fransaction is ultimately recognised in the Income Statement, When a forecast
fransaction is no longer expected to occur, the curulative gain or loss that was
reparted in equity is immediately transferred to the Income Staterment.

Fair value hedges

For an effective hedge of an exposure to changes in the fair value of a
hedged item, the hedged item is adjusted for changes in fair value attributable
1o the risk being hedged with a corresponding entry in the Income Statement.
Gains or losses from re-measuring the derivative, or for non-derivatives, the
foreign currency component of its carmying amount, are also recognised in the
income Statement.

if the hedge no longer mests the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjusiment
to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method
is used is amortised to the Income Statement over the period to maturity.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are

not closely refated to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not carried at fair value. Embedded derivatives are held at fair vatue, with
unrealised gains and losses secognised in the Income Statement as they arise.

Critical accounting policies and judgements

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires
management to make estimates and assumgtions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements. if in the
future such estimates and assumptions, which are based on management's
best judgement at the date of the Consofidated Financial Statements, ceviate
from the actual circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will be
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modified as appropriate in the perlod in which the circumstances change.
The fallowing policies are considered to be of greater complexity and/or
particufarly subject to the exercise of judgement.

Goodwill

As required by LAS 36, Impairment of Assets, the Group regularly monitors the
¢arrying value of its assets, including goodwill. Impairment reviews compare
the carmying values to the higher of fair value less costs to sell or the present
value of future cash flows that are derived {rom the relevant asset or cash-
generating unii. These reviews therefore depend en management estimates
and judgements, in particular in relation to the forecasting of future cagh flows
and the discount rate applied to the cash flows.

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those that, by virtue of their size or incidence, should

be separately disclosed in the Income Statement. The determination of which
iterns should be separately disclosed as exceptional items requires judgement.

Fleet

Given the nature of the Group's business, the main asset in the Balance sheet
is the vehicle fleet. The majority of fieet is held under manufacturer repurchase
arrangements, which guarantee a disposal value at the end of the helding
period. However, a proportion of flaet has no such contractual protection ang
therefore the value at the end of the rental life will depend on the market for
those vehicles at the time of disposal. Judgement is therefore required in the
estimation of disposal value,

‘Trade and other receivables

The Group regutarly assesses the recoverability of its trade and other receivable
balances. Where there is definitive evidence that the Group will not be able

to collect all amounts outstanding, a provisien for impairment is recognised.
The Group utilises previous customer history, debtor ageing profiles and other
relevant information in assessing the level of provision required.

Post-employment benefits

Application of 1AS 19, Employee Bensits, requires the exercise of judgement
in relation to setting the assumptions used by the actuaries in assessing the
financial positian of gach scheme. The Group determines the assumptions to
be adopted in discussion with its actuanies, and believes these assumptions to
be in line with UK generally accepted practice, but the application of different
assumplions could have a significant effect on the amounts reflected in the
Income Statement and Balance Sheet in respect of post-employment benefits.
The sensiiivity of principal scheme liabilities to changes in the assumptions
used by actuaries is set out in Note 24,

Provisions

The Group continues to camy balance sheet provisions in a number of areas
against exposures that arise in the normal course of trading, These provisions
cover areas such as uninsured losses, termination and reorganisation activities
and property ditapidation reserves. Judgement is involved in assessing the
exposures in these areas and hence in setting the level of the required prowision.

Taxation

The Group is subject 1o taxation in a number of jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the Group’s provision for tax. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. As a result, the exercising of
judgement i reguired in order to assess the exposures in these areas and set
the aporapriate level of provision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December

1 General imtormation

The Company is a public limited company and has a primary Iisting on the London
Stock Exchange, The address of its registered oifice is Avis House, Park Road, Bracknel,
Beskshire, RG12 2EW. The Company’s utimate majosity shareholder is s.a. D'leteran n.v.
which is incorporated in Belgium. The ultimate controfiing party of s.a. [Vleteren n.v.

is the D'leteren family,

This set of Consolidated Financiat Statements was approved for issue on 3 March 2009,

2 Revenue

The Group is an intemational vehicle rental services company and a market leader in
many of its markets. Reverue, as disslosed on the face of the Consolidated Income
Statemnent, is derved entirely from continuing activites. Revenue from Avis Greece, the
discontinued operation in the prier year, is disclosed separately in Note 39. The Group
experiences a natural increase in demand from leisure customers over the European
summer holiday months. This seasonality generally results in lower revenue generaled
in the first haif of the year as compared to the second haf, together with an increase
in the number of vehicles acquired in the period teading up to the summer menths.

3 Business and geographical segments

The dominant saurce and nature of the Group's risks and retuns govern whether its
primary segment repocting is by business segment or geographical segment, The
Groug is subject to significant variations in risks and rewards between underiaking its
operations through corporately-owned businesses, compared o the licensing of such
cperations 10 third parties. Given the nature of the separate brands, the Group i also
subject w significant variations in risks and rewards between the Avis branded
businesses and the Budget branded businesses. These variations contrast with more
lirmited differentials between the risk and reward profile of operations in different
geographical locations. The Group's primary reporting format is therefore by business
segment, and the secondary reporting format is geographical. Discontinued relates
entirely 10 Avis corporately-owned activities in Greece in the prior year.

2 2007
Amourts Amaurds
wxchuded exciued
om rom
Undertyig®  atariyivg Tl Uy underyrg Tl
Qperating profit/(loss) tm [ €m €m €m €m
Avis Corporate 1105 (26.1) 844 1247 (4.4 1203
Avis Licensees 347 - Mu7 31.8 - 31.9
Avis 1452 (26.1) 1191 1566 (4.4 1522
Bugget Corporate (58) (04} (620 {41} - {4.1)
Bugget Licensees 28 - 2.8 1.2 - 1.2
Budgst (30) (04) (34 (29 - 2.9
Headquarters {295) 109 (18.6) (47.2) 0.8 (8.0
Operating profit/{toss) -
continuing 1127 (156} 971 1065 (5.2) 1013
Discontinued operation
{see Note 39) - 1.3 1.3 79 (159 8.0)
Operating profit’(ess)
including discontinued
operation 1127 (143} 984 1144 (211} 933
1 See Bagis of Preparation.

There has been no change in the basis of segmentation or the basis of measurement of
segment operating profit since the last Annual Report. No adjustment is made between
segments to recharge the value of AvisBudget goodwill, brand, licence rights, or 10
allocate the value af goodwill written off 1o reserves in previous perinds. Avis goodwill

of €1,080.4 million arising before 1 March 1998 was fully written off to reserves, and
Budget gocdwikl of €33.2 million arising on 12 March 2003 has been fully impaired and
charged to the Income Statement in previpus periods. Had the value of goodwill, brand
or licence rights been charged 1o the segments, the individual segment results would be
materially affected.

Aty LinbilThes Nat assats

&) Business segments 2008 2007 2008 007 2008 2007

2008 2007 Balance sheet £m €m £m €n €n €

b o b e sy ww  Pvis Coporate 1,859.0 19231 (1,637.1)(159).7) 2219 3314

Rewvenue £m £m £m €m €m £m Avis Licensees 64 8.5 - - 5.4 8.5

Rental revenue 1,100.6 41 1,105.7 1,114.2 50 1,118.2 Avis 1,865.4 19316 (1,637.1)(1,591.7 2283 3399

- 2 - -

Otfler non-rental revenue? 1184 1194 1258 1258 Budget Corporate 558 532 (S87) [(53.0) 29 02
Avis Corporate 1,221.0 4.1 12251 1,2400 5.0 1,2450 -

— Budget Licensees 2.2 2.8 {1.4) (1.2 0.8 1.6
Avig Licensees 35.6 - 36.6 341 - 34.i Budoat 6.0 560  (80.1) (42) 21 5
Auis 1,257.6 41 1,261.7 12741 50 1,279.1 0 : ' : ’ : ’
Rental revenue 3.8 - 378 37 - 357 :::rr;:?}u::av:amures o 19234 1976 (1,697.2)(1.6459) 2262 3417

- 2 - -

EB)Lhdzrengg:anmrevenue é; — 4:; 422 — 422 gssociate (see Note 15) 122 108 - - 122 10.8
Budget Lice 13:0 — 13'0 10'1 — 10’1 Headquarters 69.2 91.3 (2375) {346.8) (168.3) (255.5)
Budgat 56.2 — 562 527 = 527 Total Group 2,004.8 2,089.7 (1,934.7){1,992.7) 701 97.0
Elimination of inter-segment - (4.1} {4.1) - 5.0) 5.0} Heaoquarters primarily represent head office assets and liabiliies. Segment assets
Revenue — continying  1,313.8 - 1,3138 1,326.38 - 1,3%68 inchuge software, vehices, other property, piant and equipment, inventories, recedvables

) ) . {including vehicles under manufacturer reprchase agreements) and operating cash,
Discontinued operation goochwil and investments Sagment kabilties include operating liabilties and cestain
{see Note 39) - - - 48.7 - 48.7 corponats bomowings
Revenue inciuding '
discontinued operation 1,313.8 - 13138 13755 - 1,3755

1 Inter-segment revenues are charged at prevalling market prices. There was no intes-segmernt
revenue in the discontinued operation.

2 Other non-rental revere includes income from the sale of fuel, sub-licensee income, the
provision of foresgn exchange senvices o rental customers and other incidental operating income.
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3 Business and geographical segments continued 4 Operating profit
Depracistion ami 2008 2007
Captial losse £m €m
Other information ﬁ z:; m‘_: ﬁ ﬁ z:: Operating profit is stated after charging/{crediting):
Avig Corporate 5289 6373 1288 1353 31 4.0 Undertying profit:
Avis Licensees - - - - - ~  Hire of vehicles under repurchasa contracts 2356 - 2228
Avis 5280 6373 1288 1363 3 40 Unwinding of discount on vehicle repurchase contracts 433) (37.0)
Budget Corporate 16 31 14 14 _ _ Net operating lease charge on manufacturer repurchase contracts 1923 1858
Budget Licensees — — — — — —  Hire of plant and equipment 1.4 1.3
Budget 6 33 14 14 - —  Hire of motor vehicles 61.9 79.0
Net charge on hire of plant, equipmen and motor vehicles 2556 2663
Segment total 5325 6404 1302 1377 31 40
Heanquarters a7 115 5.4 103 - —  Depreciation on vehicles — owned (see Note 13) 2991 1114
Depreciation gn vehicles — under finance lease {see Note 13) 16.0 209
Contiruing operations 5422 6519 1356 1480 31 4.0 Depreciation on othar propenty, plant and equipment (see Notg 14) 171 20.5
Discontinued operation Depreciation on property, plam and equipment 1322 1528
{see Note 39) - 2638 - 97 - 7.1 Adjustments arising on differences between sales proceeds
Group inctuding and depreciated amounts — fleet 103 {14.1)
discontinued operation 5422 6787 1356 1577 31 H.i Adjustments arising on differences between sales proceeds and
depreciated amounts — non fleet - 0.1 {4.6)
Capital expenditure comprises acditions to software, vehicles (excluding vehicles Adjustments anising on differences between sales proceeds and
under manufacturer repurchase arrangements), other property, plant and equipment, depreciated amounts 104 (18.7)
including additions arising from business combinatians, excluding goodwill arising on
thess acquisitons. Amortisalion of other intangible assets (see Note 12) 34 49
Exchange movements 03) ©9
Headaquarters primarily represent capital expenditure and depreciation/amortisation of Contingent operating lease rentats? 55.2 53.9
head office software projects and property, pram and eguipment. Impairment losses Otner ogeraing lease remals 564 528
comprise exceptional goodwill (see Note 11) and exceptional other property, plant and Net amounts exciuded from underlying":
equipment impairments (see Note 14). Total net exceptional items — continuing (see Nole 6) 288 69
b) Geographical segments Re-measurement gains on non-debt related derivative
Aoty Capita! wxpetitory financia) instruments? {11.2) {3.5)
o< A oo A i o Re-measurement losses on non-debt related derivative
France 2923 2055 3891 4370 898 1p03  lnancidlinsruments’ 32 28
Germany 2142 1967 4595 4207 963 501 _ A ‘ @0 07
Haly 2007 2019 3097 2466 1803 1566 Economic hedging adiustment on foreign exchange (5.2} {1.0}
Spain 1813 2081 2410 3974 850 1705  'otal net exceptional items — continuing, certain re-measurement
United Kingdom 2028 2437 2625 3215 464 4g7  “emsand economic hedge adusiments 158 52
Qther Europe 1864 1777 2506 2262 298 334 ; . )
Rest of the world 43 37 0 73 AD B0 o e imant i with st ke i Geck concsssins
1,313.8 1,326.8 1,923.4 1,9816 9325 640.4 and are nranaﬂly based on the tevel of mmw by the individual Loncession,
. 3 Net re-measurement gains on non-cebt retated derivative financial instruments of €8.0 million
Snare of joint ventures and (2007: gans of £0.7 :':lliun), comprises redfised gins of €5.1 mifion (2007 losses of
associate (see Note 15) - - 122 108 - = €18 millon) and unrealised gains of €2.% miflon (2007: gains of €2.5 million,
Headquarters - - 9.2 91.3 9.7 11.5

Continuing operations 1,313.8 1,326.8 2,004.8 20897 5422 6519

Discontinued operation
{see Note 39) - 48.7 n/a na - 26.8

Group including
discontinued operation  1,313.8 1,3755 2,004.8 20897 5422 6787

208 207
Auditors' remuneration is analysed as follows: £m em
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's:
— annual apsounts 05 0.7
- supsidiaries pursuant to legislation 09 0.9

14 1.6
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for other services:
- other services pursuant to legislation 01 0.1
— igxation services 04 0.8
~ litigation 0.1 0.1
— corporate finance transactions - 0.1
- gther 01 0.4

0.7 1.5
Auditors’ remuneration - continuing 21 31
Auditors' remuneration — discontinued operation - 0.1
Auditors” remunération including discontinued operation 21 3.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

for the vear ended 31 December

5 Directors and employees 6 Net exceptional items

2008 2007 2008 w07

€m £m £m £m
S5taff costs - continuing Exceptional administrative expenses:
Retirement benefit charges undes defined contribution schemes 6.9 57  a) Restucturing costs 27.6 7.1
Retirernent benefit charges undes defined benefit schemes D) Goodwill impairment 15 4.0
{see Note 24) 9.6 10.2 ¢ Centrus receivables {0.3) 0.7)
Retirement benefit charges 16.5 159  d) independent investigation and associated costs - 4.5
Wages and salaries 2220 2328 ) Net project termination credit - (2.6)
Social secunity costs 4.3 426 1) Insurance provision release - 6.7
Share-based payments 0.2 0.4  Net exceptional items before tax - continuing operations 28.8 6.9
Underying Directors and employee costs 283.0 2917 ) Discontinued operation 13) 159
Net exceptional items before tax including
Exceptional staff costs - continuing (see Note 6) discontinued operation 215 2.8
Retirement benefit charges ~ exceptional curtailments (see Note 6a) 0.5 - Tax on exceptional items (see Note 8) - 6.4
Severance and other 202 7.0 Net exceptional items after tax inciuding discontinued operation 215 29.2
207 7.0
2) Restructuring costs of €27.6 million included €1.9 million of costs incurmed in the

Directors and employes costs — continuing 3037 2987 first hatf in respect of a redundancy programme that commenced in December
Staft costs — discontinued operation - 50 2007. Restructuring costs of €25.7 million were then recognised in the second haff
Directors and employee costs including discontinued operation 3037 3037 reflecting a further rationalisation of operations in response 10 the deteriortion in the

Further detalls of Directors’ rermuneration for the year are provided in Note 43 and the
audited part of the Remuneration Report on pages 36 to 42, There were no Directors
an¢ employee costs in respect of the Company (2007: nif).

2000 07
Mumiber Nusmber

Staff numbers - continuing {average full ime equivalent)

France 1511 1,512
Germany 735 698
Italy 564 535
Spain 1,089 1,156
United Kingdom 1,013 1,055
Others 1,085 1,014
Staff numbers — continuing 5967 5970
Staff numbers — discontinued pperation - 152
Staff numbers including discontinued operation 5867 6122

There were no staff employed by the Company (2007 nil).

frading environment, including redundancies, the closure of certain kow marngin rental
Iocations, and the rationalisation of property with the transfer of the staff of the UK
business head-office into the Group headguarters building. These restructuring

costs include redundancy costs, onerous lease provisions, fixed asset impairments
{see Note 14} and exceptional pension curtailiments (see Note 24). In the prior year,
restructuring custs of €7.1 million were incurred with respect to the redundancy
programme commenced in December 2007, and the final elements of a restructuring
project commenced in 2005.

b) During 2008, the Group recognised an exceptional impalrment provision against the
goodwill arising on the agquisition of certain licensees in Holland {see Note 38). This
followed a reappraisal of the business in conjunction with the restructuring refemred
{0 above. In the comparative year, the Group acquired the assets of a licensee in
Germany and an impairment provision was made in respect of the goodwill arising.

¢} During the current and prior years, the activities associated with the ciosure of the
Centrus credit hire business were more successful than previously anticipated.
The Group therefore partially reversed provisions recognised in prior years, resulting
in a further exceptional credit of €0.3 milliont {2007 €0.7 million).

d) In the pior year, the Group investigated potential malpeactice in Portugal. Associated
independent investigation costs and certain directly related employee termination
amounts were recognised.

&) Following the Group's decision in 2004 i termingte an agreement with an [T
contractor upon the conclusion of & legal case, a net extceptional credit was
recognised in the prior year,

=

During the second halt of 2007 the Groug reviewed its methodology for calculating
the level of provision required in respect of third party motor ability losses, inciuding
those not yet reported. The provision re-assessment resulted in an exceptional credit
to the Income Statement of €5.7 million.

) In the prior year, the Gmup disposed of its subsidiary in Greece. The Group has
recognised an exceptional credit of €1.3 milion in the cument year to reflect the final
setiement of a wamanty provision (seg Note 38).
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7 Finance income, finance costs and foreign exchange on net debt B Taxation
o] 07 ‘ -
2) Analysis of tax charge/{credit)
axchoded exchcled 00 2000
froem o Amacts Amoun,
Undertying*  ndertying Totsl Loy ey ol ki il
m m &m €m €m € ) fron Tt , from -
Finance income — &m m £m £m €m €m
continuing Continuing operations
Interest receivable 2.0 - 2.0 5.4 - 54 Gurrent UK tax
Re-measurement gains UK corporation tax on
on debi-related derivative profits for the year betuce
financial instruments?® - - - 0.8 08  gxceptional items 90 (39 71 03 04 05
20 - 20 54 08 62 Taonexceptional tems - 12 12 - 31 31
Finance costs - continuing Adjustments in respect
Interest payabte under of prior years N 41 (8.8) 1.9 - 1.9
finance lease abiigations  (19.2) - (192) (175 - (75  Cument UKtax 43 (48 (@5 16 27 43
Interest payabie on Current foreign tax
bank loans, overdraits Foreign corporation tax on
and foan notes? {56.2) - (56.2) {556) = {558 pofits for the year before
Interest payablz on exceptional items (2.1) - (2.1} 8.2 - 8.2
deferred consideration (2.2) - 22 (28 - 28  Cirenttaxon
Re-measurement losses exceptional tems - - - - {0.1) 0.1)
on debl-related derivative Adjustments in respect
financial instruments? - {18.4) (184) - 3.2) B2 g prior years (1.6} - (1.6} 3.4 - 314
Ecqnomic hedge adjustment Current foreign tax (3.7 - 3.7 116 01y 15
on interest payable? 05 (05 - 08 (0B = Curemttax-coninuing 06 (48) (42} 132 26 158
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain
on net debt - (05 {05 - 38 33 Ausedas .
T4) (194 965 5% - {53 Comotiontaxon ol
for the year before
Net finance costs - exceptional items 69 (1.9} 50 79 (04 75
continuing (75.1)__(194) (845) {697+ 0B (6B.9)  Tac on exceptional iems - 12 12 - 303D
Discontinued operation Adjustments in respect
(seeMNoie39) - - - &5 - 53 ot prior years (63) 41} (104 53 - 53
Net finance costs including Currenttax —continuing 0.6  {4.8) (42) 13.2 26 158
discontinued operation (75.1) (19.4) (945) (752 08 (744
Deferred tax
1 See Basis of Prenaration. Qrigination and reversal
2 Net re-measurement losses on debi-related derivative financial instruments of €18.4 million of temporary differences 127 - 12r 5.6 0.5 6.1
{2007 bosses of €2.4 million) comprise reaised gains of €1.5 million (2007: losses of Deferred tax on
€0.5 million) and unreaised kosses of €19.9 milion (2007: losses of €1.9 milkon). R _ _
3 Economic hedging 2Tangements have been entered into for which the Group is unable to apply zd' onal @ms 0a 02 34 34
hedge accounting undes {AS 39. Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts, to the extent that jugnnenm in respect
1AS 39 does not permit hedge accounting, therefors reflects actual interest rates applicable 1o of prior years 29 40 6.8 ) - 04
det, regardiess of any accrued cash fiow paid at comtracted rates within hedging derivatives. Deferred tax - continving 15.6 28 18.4 {1.8) 39 2.1
Taxation - continuing 16.2 20} 142 11.4 65 179
Discontinued operation - Greece
Deferred tax - - - iy - {1y
Taxation including
discontinued opesation 16.2 {20) 142 10.3 65 6.8

1 See Basis of Preparation.
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8 Taxation continued 10 Earnings per share
b) Tax {creditycharge taken directly to the Statement of Recognised ncome and Experse ) Basic and diluted
e 27 Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the earings for the year atiributable
prieerar i n equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of stiares in issue
from from i i
Undertying! Tota . Tl for the year attributable to eguity holders of the Company.
m £m €m €m £m €m
Deferred tax Basic and diluted eamings per share from continuing operations is as follows:
{credii)/charge on
cash flow hedges - (28 (28 - 06 06  Continuing operations . 2000 07 om0
Current tax credit on (Loss)/earnings from continuing operations ¢ n m &m
exchange movements (Loss)!'eamings.: for the year fmm continuing
offest in reserves - (3.9) (2.9) _ 09 09 operations attributable 1o equity holders of
Deferred tax charge the Company {11.2) 154 (8.8) 10.4
on actuaral gains - 2.8 2.8 - 34 34 - o 2000 -
- (38 (34 — 31 31 (Loss)earnings per share from Fwo  fuo  Smdw  Seng
cantinuing cperaticns conts @ iy pere
1 See Basis of Preparation. Basic and diluted ﬂnss]_/eamings per share
from continuing operations {1.2) 1.6 (1.0) 1.1
¢} Reconciliation of tax charge/{credit)
008 207 Discontinued operation — Greece
Amounits Amouris The results of the discontinued operation are pravided for the period wp to the date of
from rom disposal, being 25 Juty 2007 (see Note 393
Undertylog'  ondartying ol Ungeryng'  unceriyng Tord
m £m €m €m £m £m 2008 2007 2008 2007
Prufit/(loss) before Earnings/{loss) from discontinued cperation m £m £m m
taxation {excluding Eamingafloss) for the year from discontnued
discontinued operation) 380 (35.0) 3.0 376 44 332 operation attributable to equity holders of
Tax at the UK comoration the Company 1.3 (124 1.0 8.4)
1ax rate of 28.5%
{2007: 30.0%) 108 (100) 08 1.3 (13) 100  Eamings/loss) per share from ™ oy mm aw
Differing rates applied discontinued operation conts cents m‘ pence
10 overseas profiis (52 (02 (54 (59 (04 (6.3) Basicand diluted eamings/loss) per share
Expenses not deductible from the discontinued operation 0.1 (1.3) 0.1 0.9}
for 1ax purposes 27 {0.1) 2.6 3.0 28 5.6
Utilisation of tax losses - -~ - {0.6) - {0.6) gcjrsic :tg’d ”gguwd ftLduding
n - iscol operation 2108 207 008 27
;ﬂmﬁments In respect 3.4 01 3 21 51 (Loss)/eamings € £m £m fm
De‘f’:: edyza;:m 34 O @9 @0 - @Y rg/eamings for the year attibuiabie 1o
uity holders of the Compan! 9.9 3.0 .8 20
not recogrised M4 727 188 80 14 94 2 pany 65 @8
Other 0.2 0.7 0.9 {2.3) 4.2 19 . 07 2w 207
Taxation - continuing 16.2 (20) 142 1.4 6.5 1749 {Loss)/eamnings per share ﬁ o&:‘; m m
Discontinued aperaticn Basic ang diluted (lossVeamnings per share (11 03 (09 02

(see Note 39) - - - {1.1) - {1.1)
Taxation including
discontinued aperation 16.2 (2.0) 14.2 103 6.5 16.8

The UK corporation tax rate decreased to 28% with effect from 1 Aprl 2008
{2007: 30.0%) as a consequence of the annguncement in the 2007 Budget.

+ See Hasls of Preparation.
9 Dividends

The Directors do not propose the payment of an interim or final dividend for the year
ended 31 Decamber 2008 (2007 : nil.

After adjusting for own shares held, the weighted average number of shares in issue for
the year was 918,921,314 (2007: 918,499,740},

Optians have been granted to certain Directors and employees over ordinary shares of
the Company. Thase eptions constitute the only category of potentially cilitive ordinary
shares but these did not increase the weighted average number of shares in either 2007
or 2008. These options were not dilutive as either the option exercise prices werg in
excess of the prevaling market share price, o exercise of the options is subject to
performance conditions which had not been fulty satisfied by the year end.

b) Undertying

Undestying eamnings per share is based on the underlying eamings for the year and the
weighted average number of shares in issue for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company,

Undertying eamings per share from continuing operations is as follows:

2000 2007 2008 2007
Eamings fram continuing operations m £m m fm
Underlying eamings for the year from continuing
operations atiributable to equity holders of
the Company 21.8 26.3 17.0 17.9
Eamnings per share from For A - )
continuing operations cents conts penca perce
Basic and difuvted undedying earnings per share
from continuing eperations 24 28 1.8 19
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11 Goodwill 12 Other intangible assets
T Other intangidle assets comprise intemaly generated software developmen: costs and
tost externally acquired sottware. Ameortisation charged in the year is reported in the Income
At 1 January 234 a7g  Statement within “administrative expenses”.
Additions {see Note 38} 1.4 43 Sotwars Scttware
Disposal of business (see Note 39) - 7.6) Ietwrnally  Exterrally vimraly  Exavaly
Exchange movements 76 (1.2 gererited  doid ool gl e ]
At 3t December 3r.2 434 m €m €m €m €m £m
Cost
Accumulated impairment provisions A1 January 125_ 122 47 63 102 165
A1 January 91 400 pggiions 87 12 88 63 27 96
Exceptional impairment losses for the year 15 111 Disposals 0.1 - o — — -
Disposal of business (see Note 39) - {f.1) Disposal of business
Exchange movements 76 {09 see Note 39) _ - _ _ 03 0.3
A1 31 December 370431 Exchange movements @) @3 G4 _©n o4 (1)
Net bogk amount AL 31 December 170 N 28t 125 122 47
At 31 December 0.2 0.3 Amortisation
] L ) ) At 1 January 31 8.7 128 2.2 64 8.6
Goodwill of €1,080.4 million arising before 1 March 1998 is fully written off to reserves Charges for he year
(o6 Nate 33 see Note 4) 19 15 34 12 37 489
In accordance with the requirements of AS 36, Impairment of Assets, the Group g;:gg::sof business @) 0.
ordinarily completes a review of the carmying value of goodwill at each year end. isee Nae 39) _ _ _ _ 0.1) 0.1
Goodwill is allocated to msh-generaling_ units for the purpose of impaiment testing, Exchange moverments 0 07 @n 03 03 0.6
each of these representing the Group's investment where the goodwill originally arose, At 31 December 39 .95 134 31 97 128
The impairment review is conducted to ensure that the carrying values of the assets
within cash-generating units for which goodwill has been allocated are stated at no Net book amount
mave than their recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value Jess costs to sell At 31 December 131 1.6 147 94 2.5 11.9
and value in use.
13 Vehicles
After a reassessment of the long-term business plan for Avis Holland, the Directors =08 27
concluded at 31 December 2008 that the recoverable amount (getermined by reference &m fm
to their value in use) of the goodwill attaching to the cencee businesses was less than ﬁ:sil.january 5258 6263
its carrying amount, As a consequence, an impaiment provision of €1.5 million was — - -
recognised to write down the goodwill to nil. There was no cash flow impact arising from g?m; (i;?g) (Sgg';)
ts impairment provision. Transfers 0 non-current assets held for resale (see Note 18) (704) (76.1)
Accumulated impairment provisions represent amounts provided in respect of acquired Tra"s,"‘ffs ‘rom current assets 5.5 65.1
former Budget licensee operations in France, and certain former Avis licensee operations mtmm - L -
in France, Germany and Holland. Disposal of business {see Note 39) - {146.5)
Exghange movements {11.7) 4.7
The Directors also review at each year end the carrying velues of the remaining capialised At 31 December 5265 5238
goodwill relating to the new licenses acquisition in France (see Note 38) and the joint Depreciation and impairment
venture in China {see Note 15), This review (undertaken by calculating value in use) did At 1 January 771 1169
not resutt in the need for any impairment provision 0 be recognised as at 31 December Charges for the year 1151 1323
2007 or 31 December 2008. Disposals (87.3) (134.4)
Transfers to non-current assets held for resale (see Note 18) (1400 (139
In determining the value in use, the Direclors calculated the present value of the estimated  Transfers from current assets (1.0) -
future cash flows expected to arise from the comtinuing use of the assets using post-tax Dispasal of business (see Note 39) - 218
discount rates based upon the Group's weighted average cost of capital with appropriate Exchange movements 44 22
adjustment for the relevant risks associated with the businesses. Estimatad future cash At 31 December 85.5 773
{lows are based on management's three-year pans for each cash-generating unit, with
extrapolation thereafier based on long-term average nominal growth raie of 4.0%. :?;Wk am:::“ g 4487

Vehicles held under finance leases are included in the above at 31 December at the
following amounts:

2008 %07

€m €n
Cost 1067 1349
Depreciation and impairment {201} {192
Net bogk amount B66 1157

At 31 Decernber 2008, the Group had capial commitmennts for vehicles contracied,
bett not provided for, amounting to €18.5 mitfon 2007: €386.9 milkon).
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14 Cther property, plant and equipment

15 Investments accounted fot using the equity method

Froshold Short Pant inthe mﬂ Associste Totai
and s lexmehokd ) coaw ! m £m m
u‘::, M{,,. €m & z At 1 January 2007 99 0.3 10.2
cost Share of profit 06 0.2 0.8
At 1 January 2007 39 470 595 05 1459  Exchange movements 0.2 - 03
Additions 27 33 98 KW 19.0 At 31 December 2007 103 0.5 10.8
Disposals B4 (@9 55 - {138
Transfers 0.7 23 - 3.0} - At1January 2008 10.3 05 108
Acquisitions - 0.1 0.6 - 0.7 Acquisitions (see Note 38) 0.1 - 01
Disposal of business {see Note 39) 14 @0 (34 - (6B  Share of profit 03 (1] 0.4
Exchange movemenis 0.3 on 6.0 - {14  Exchange movements 1.0 {01 09
A1 31 December 2007 37.8 43, 50.0 0.7 1436 At 31 December 2008 1.7 0.5 12.2
A1 January 2003 378 451 600 07 3B 1ngouphas a 50% share in both of itsjcint ventures, Anjl Car Rental and Leasing
Additions 11 31 78 44 184 cungany and OKIGO, companies which ar incorporated in China and France
Disposals 05 02 ©0§ ~ 1.3 respectively. The Group also has a 33% share in its associate, Mercury Car Rentals
Transfers 0.8 14 03 @25 —  Limited, a company which is incorparated in India. The Group's share of results for the
Acquisitions - - 0.1 - 01 year were as follows:
Exchange movements {0.4) (6.0) {7.1) {04 (139
At 21 December 2008 38.8 43.4 60.5 22 1849 St wantored Amotiste Total
2008 207 2008 2007 2008 x0r
Depreciation and impairment Share of: €m £m £m €m m £m
At 1 January 2007 80 207 349 - 60.6 Revenug 135 145 38 39 173 18.4
Charges for the year 1.9 4.3 14.3 - 205  Exenses (121) (32) @4 @5 (55 (167
Disposals {1.5) 4.1} (5.1} - (10.n Operating profi 14 1.3 04 0.4 18 1.7
Disposal of business {see Note 39) 09 07N 28 - {44 Netfinance costs (o8 ©4 @1 ©On 00 05
Exchange movements 03 - 0.7) - 0.4  Profit before tax 0.6 0.8 0.2 03 08 12
At 31 December 2007 48 202 406 - 656 Taxation (03 ©03 @1 ©1) {4 @04
Net profit for the year 0.3 0.6 0.1 0.2 0.4 08
At 1 January 2008 48 202 40.6 - 65.6
Charges for the year 21 42 108 =31 atine year end, the Group's interest in Anji Gar Rental and Leasing Company Limited,
Exceptional impairment loss - 14 0.2 - 1.6 OKIGO and Mercury Car Rentals Limited, comprised:
Disposals (0.2) {0.1) {0.3) - {0.6)
Exchange movements 05 {37 (6.3} - {10.5) Joiat vertures Asgocists Totat
At 31 December 2008 62 220 450 S B2 oot A aM xEm A
Net book amount Non-current assets 241 7.6 20 1.9 261 19.5
At 31 December 2008 326 214 15.5 2.2 a7 Current assets 58 2.7 1.1 1.0 6.9 37
At 31 December 2007 330 249 19.4 0.7 780  Cument liabilities (184) (108) (06} (4 {190) (1.3
Non-current liabilities {0.7) ~ (2.0} {2.0) {2.7) 2.0
The exceptional impairment kasses of €1.6 million in 2008 have been classified within 108 94 05 05 113 99
“expeptional restructuring costs” in the Income Statement (see Note 6). Net book amours of
Cther property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are included in the above gm:ltl;n(sslgg :‘::2 1) 09 09 _ B 089 09

at 31 December at the following amounts:

208 2007

o &m
Cost 4.1 4.3
Depreciation and impafrment {1.3) (1.3
Net book amount : 2.8 30

At 31 December 2008, the Group had capital commitrnents for ather propety, plant and
equipment contracted, bt not prvided for, amounting ta €1.6 million (2007: €3.2 million).

117 103 0.5 0.5 122 10.8

At the year end the joimt verture in China had capital commitments of €0.3 million
[2007: €1.5 millior). There were no capital commitments relating to the jeint venture
in France and the associate in India (2007: €nil).

At each year end, the joint ventures and associate had no contingent liabilities and
no operating lease commitments of greater than €0.1 million per annum.

16 Other financial assets
2008 207
tm £m
Non-current assets — avaitable for sale imvestments 04 0.6
Current assets — held for trading - 5.4

Non-curvent financial assets of €0.4 million (2007: €0.6 million) primarity comprises an
equity minonty interest in an overseas company. in the prior year, the cument financial
assets comprised finance lease collateral of €0.3 million which attracted interest at
4.1%, and Equidity funds of €5.1 mitlion which attractad a variable retum dependent
upon fund performance.
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17 Deferred tax 18 Non-current agsets held for sale
ditterencs 2008 207
Aw:: Epioyse mﬂ ot £m £m
depreciztion Fair vhs banafits Other tor offsst Total
Deterred tax provided &m €m € &m m e At1 January 8.3 a7
At1 January 2007 7.9 37 R8s (82) 11.2 130 Trapsfers fram vehicles {see Note 13) 704 761
Recognised in Income Disposals (66.8) (77.4)
Statement (see Note B) 3.6 - 10 (26) (B0  (i.0)  Exchange movarnents (04 01
Transfer 1o cument tax - - - 23 - 2.3 At 31 December 115 83
Recognised in Statement - [
of Recognised Income Depreciation and impairment
adbpense (seeNoted) - (08 @34 - - g Alldanay 12 13
Disposal of busness Trgnsfers from vehicles (see Note 13) 14.0 13.9
(see Note 39) 9.0 - 03 @3 - g5 Disposals (136} {139)
Exchange movements 04 .3 03 02 — (2p Cxchange movements 04 @1
At31 December 2007 (5.3 18 198 (9§ 82 146 AL31 December 12 12
At1 January 2008 (53 18 198 (99 82 145  Metbeokamount
Recognised in ncome At 31 December 10.3 A
Statement (see Note B) (31) 03 (47} (1650 58 (184) ] . )
Transier 1o curent tax 71 _ _ 94 _ 185 Mon-current assets held for sale comprise ex-rental vehicles tormer1y used in the
Recognised in Statement Avis Comeorate segment, where the Group Is commitied to the disposal of the vehicle.
of Recognised Income Disposats are ordinarily compieted within two months of transfer of the vehicle from the
and Expense (see Note ) _ 28 (2.8) _ _ - rental flest. Losses recognised on the disposal of non-current assets held for resale in
Disposal of busingss the year totalled €0.7 milion (2007: gains of €1.3 milior.
{see Note 39) - - - - - -
Exciange movements B2 ®1) (35 32 (15 (4 19lnventories
AL 31 December 2008 (65 46 B8 (138 125 56 -
Analysed as: Fuel 57 6.6
At 31 December 2008 Vehicie pars 1.2 1.1
Deferred tax assets 144 43 92 (03 41 37 69 77
Defesred tax liabilities (209) 03 (04) (135 84 (26.1)
Net (6.5) 46 88 (13.8) 12.5 5.6 The cost of inventories recogrised 2s an expense in the Income Statsment in the period
totalled €62.0 million (2007: €61.9 million).
A 31 December 2007
Deferred tax assets 242 18 165 5.1 19 495
Deferred tax liabllities 129.5) - 33 (150) 63 (3459
Net 53 18 198 (@9 82 146

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and olfer temporary
differences where it is probable that these assets will be recovered. Deferred tax assets
and liabdities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there
is an intention o settle the balances net.

A1 the year end, the Group had unused {ax losses of €£204.8 million 2007: €93.6 million)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of €44.1 miliion (2007: €29.1 milion) of such kesses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining unused tax losses of €160.7 million

(2007 €64.5 million) due to the unpredictability of fture profit streams.

Deferred tax has not been recognised in respect of ather temporary differences which
would give rise to deferred tax assets of €11.6 million (2007; €8.8 million) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the year end, the aggregate amount of other termporary differences associated with
unremitied eamings of the Group's overseas subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was €£252.8 million (2007: £264.4 milion), No iiabiity has
been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position 10
contrgl the: timing of the: reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such
difierences will not reverse in the foreseeable futere, Temporary differences arising in
connection with interests in the joint vertures and associate are insignfficant,

Financial statements I
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20 Trade and other recefvables 21 Cash and short-term deposits
2m 2007 2008 2007
€m &m &m £m
Repurchase agreement receivables 7779 B254 Cash at bank and in hand 23.0 35.0
Prepaid vehicle operating lease charges 63.3 535 Short-term deposits 29.1 259
Repurchase vehicles (during vehicle holding period) B41.2 B789 521 60.9
Other vehicle receivables {zfter the end of vehicle holding period) 203.7  i756
Amaunts due from leasing companies 61.6 57.6 Cash and short-term deposit balances are floating rate assets which eam interest at
Vehicle refated receivables 1,106.5 1,121 various rates set with reference to the prevailing EURIBID ang LIBID or equivalent.
Other trade deltors 162.3 1730
Finance revenue debtors 0.1 0.1 Short-term deposits mature within three months 2007: three months) and include
Other debtors 529 585  €2.7 milion {2007: €3.7 million) of deposits required by insurers 1o be held by
Other prepayments 29.9 48.1 Aegis Motor insurance Limited {3 subsidiary of the Group) to settle claims.
1,351.7 13918

Other vehicle receivables incluge amouts due atter exergising of manufacturer
repurchase agreements. The canrying amaunts of trade and other receivables are
denominated primarily in euros.

Vehicle related receivables include £154.0 million (2007; €162.4 million) held under
finance lease arrangements in respect of repurchase agreements.

Credit risk with regard 10 vehicle related recevables is concentrated with the main
Eurcpean vehicle manufacturers, whilst concentrations of credit risk with respect to non-
vehicle related receivables are limited through to the diversity of the Group's customers.
The maximum exposure to credit fisk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class
of recefvable mentioned above. Balance sheet amounts are stated net of any provisions
made for bad and doubtful debts, ang accordingly, the Directors believe that the
maximum credit risk expasure is the carmying amount of the receivables in the balance
sheet, as shown below.

The main categories of trade and other receivables that are subject to credr risk are:
other vehicle receivables {afier the end of venicie holding period), amounts due from
leasing companies, other trade debtors and other deblors. These categories are analysed
on an aged basis as follows:

2008 2007

£m £m
Trade and other regeivables subject to credit risk 500.3 4388
Neither past due nor impaired (390.8) (384.6)
Past due 1095 1042
Provision fer bad and doubtful debts {19.7y 240
Past due but not impalred 80.8 80.2

As at 31 December 2008, €39.8 million {2007: €80.2 million) were past due but ngt
impaired as there had been an improvement in ageing of post three months overdue
and no previous history of defauft. The ageing analysis of past due but not impaired
is as follows:

2008 2007

€&m €m

Up 1o three months past due B4g 736
Three to $ix months past dug 4.8 6.4
Over six months past due 0.1 0.2
89.8  80.2

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The provision for bad and doubtfut debits has been determined by reference to
past experience. Imecoverable trage and other receivable expense of €2.4 million
(2007: €6.1 million} has been secognised in the Income Statemnent in the year.

22 Trade 2nd other payables
208 2007
m £m
Vehicle pavables 1849 2807
Amounts due 10 leasing companies 434 495
Vehicle related payables 2283 3302
Other trade payabies 541 54.6
Finance cost creditors 9.0 1.7
Other creditors 265 3.2
Accruals and deferred income 2014 2232
Other taxes and social security 19.9 19.4
5392 6703
23 Provisions
DRapiciation
Unirnared [} Other
Inasey evionerenty Wamasly trading ot
an €m m £m &m
At 1 January 2008 405 88 78 103 674
Charged/(credited) in the year 2.8 (1.4) - 52 26.6
Transter from trade and other payables 1.3 - - - 1.3
Exceptional release in the year
{se¢ Note 6g) - - (1.3) - (1.3)
Litilised in the year {19.9) - 65 (6.7 (3.0
Exchange movements (1.8) (0.8) - - (2.6)
At 31 December 2008 43.0 6.6 - 98 59.4
Non-current 25.6
Currem 338
At 31 December 2008 59.4
Dikapataton
Uninurg g Dther
kss  environment Waranty traong Tesal
€m &n [ & m
At 1 January 2007 45,2 8.9 105 646
Charged in the year 18.7 1.1 - 5.6 254
Exceptional charge in the year - - 7.8 - 7.8
Excegtional release in the year
{see Note 6f) 0.7) - - - 5.7)
Uilised in the year {17.1) (1.0 - 5.1 @32
Disposal of business (see Note 39) - - - {0.6) 0.6
Exchange movements {0.6} 0.2 ~- {0.1) 0.9)
At 31 December 2007 40.5 8.8 7.8 10.3 £7.4
Non-curent 22.3
Currem 45.1

At 31 December 2007 67.4




23 Provisions continued

Uninsured Ipsses represent provisions for losses under third party liabilites or claims
primarily in respect of third party motor liability and insurance programmes. Due 1o the
timeseales and uncertainties involved in such claims, provision is made basad upon the
profile of claims experience, allowing for potentiat claims for a number of years after
policy inception.

Dilapidation and environmental represents prowisions 3¢ cover the oosts of the
remediation f certain properties held under operating leases. These provisions are
pricarily euro denominated and non-interest bearing, and the ultimate expenditure is
expected to be coterminous with the underlying remaining lease peniods {see Note 41).
For further information on the warranty provision ses Note 39,

Other trading provisions have been discounted where applicable at the rate
commensurate with the undertying risk, and comprise:

&) Reorganisation and employee termination provisions of €2.1 million
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The key demographic assumption is morality, By its very nature, mortality can be
difficult to predict, Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on
advice from actuaries, published statistics and experience in each territory, In 2006,
the mortality assumption for the principal funded scheme was Lpdzted 0 reflect the
=2000" series tables along with certain improvements (known as “medium cohort™)
which makes allowances for increases in longevity projections. Within the context of
increasing kfe expectancy, the Group further strengthened the mortality improvement
assumption in the principal funded scheme in 2007 by istroducing a 1% per annum
minimum level of improvement within the medium cohort aliowance, The longevity
assumption in the principal funded scheme applied a post retiiement life expectancy
for a member aged 65 in 2008 of 21 years (2007: 21 years) for males, and 24 years
(2007: 24 years) for females. The post-retirement longevity assumption in the principal
unfunded scheme applied a life expectancy for a member aged 65 in 2008 of 18 years
(2007 18 years) for males, and 22 yeass {2007: 22 years) for fernales.

The amourits recognised in the balance sheet are summarised as follows:

08 2007
(2007: €3.6 million) that are expected to crystallise within the next five years. Funded  Ununded Fundes  Untunded
b) Otner provisions of €7.7 milkion (2007: €6.7 milion), which primariy comprise e e o e T
prowision against the future redemption of berefits under customer loyalty Fair value of scheme assets 7.2 - @72 1467 - 1467
programmes and provision against legal claims $hat arise in the normal course of Present value of dafined
business. These provisions are expected to crystaliise within the next five years. In the benefil abligations (1339) (34.2) (1681) (2002) (350) (2443
Directors™ opinion, aftes taking appropriate legal agvice, the outcomes of these legal Retirement benefit
claims are not expected to give rise 1o any significant loss beyond amounts provided obligation @67 (342) (09 (25 (350 (7.5
at 31 Dacember 2008.
2008 2007
24 Retirement benefit cbligations Anatysis of movements o Gimde e e =
a) Retirement benefit schemes operated rt:h?l scheme assets 148&; LiLl 14;? 140&: fm 14::
Where appiicable, subsidiaries contribute to the relevant state pension scheme, Certain aary - - d : - d
subsidiaries operate schemes which provide retirement benefits, including those of the ~ EXPected retum on _
defined benefit type, which are in most cases funded by imestments held outside the Group,  Dlan assets 99 - 81 80 - 50
Actuarial loss:
1) Defined benefit sthemes — experience loss on assets  (27.0) - {27.0) 2.5) - 2.9
The Group operates funded defined benefit pension schemes for qualifying employees in Comqbut!ons byteGrowp 98 1.6 114 123 15 138
the United Kingdom, France, Spain and Ausiria. In addition, the Group oparates unfunded gm';,b"t'm_‘; :i emglo:Jee: :? - ; g.s g: 1 _;, 2;
defined benefit pension schemes for employees in Germany, an unfunded defined beneft ~ Denefispaid lomthefund  {51) (1.6) (67) G4 (5 [¢#9
statutorily detesmined termination scheme for employees in taly and alsa previeusly in :n':emenlls paid 3(:"3) - ;ﬁ? { 'g) = (;g)
Gresce. The principal schemes are in the United Kinggom and Germany. change loss 813 - (3 B8 8.8
At 31 December 972 - 972 1467 - 1467
The valuations used have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations available, .
updated by the scheme actuaries to assess the liab¥lities of the scheme and the market Anatysis of movements
value of the scheme assets at each of the balance sheet dates. in the present vatue 2008 — 207
of defined benefit schenes  schens Total schemes. shemes oo
Mai " iahted Funded schecnes schames scheme obligations m &m £m €m ém €m
hain assumptions (weighted average) 2 oo me X0 ey sanuary @82) (0 (2842 2205 @19 254
Sﬁ‘sl::”m "':te g::: gf: 26“: f'g: Current service CosTs B0) (06 EB ©®1) (2 73
on rate _ ' ! ' Past service costs ©1 - (1) (1) 08 07
Expected rate of salary increases 47% 48% 2.0% 29% Excoptiond CUrGIMENS
Rate of pension increases in payment 24%  25% 16%  14% (see Note &) ©5) _ ©05) _ _ _
Rate of pension increases in deferment 0%  32%  00%  00% oo = - — P yE—"
Bxpected retum on plan assets: interest on scheme iabiities (11.1) _ (1.9) (130) (12 (1.6) (130
— equities 77% 1.7% nfa n'a Actuarial gainoss):
e e
— giher : ' a 4 an ikabilities 15 @5 10 05 03 (04
— weighted average 66% 6.5% n/a na - qain on change of
i assumptions 35.3 19 372 11.8 59 17.8
TM~W rates of retum on plan assets are hased on rarket expe_ciai?ons at the Contributions by employees (0.8} ~ ©8) o7 — o7
beginning of each year for retums over the entire life of the related obligation. Bengfits paid from the fund 5.1 16 67 34 5 a8
The expectag retum on bonds is based on leng-term bong yieids. The expected retum Other benehis paid od & — = =
on equities is based on a wide range of qualitative and guantitative market analysis Sexlemens paid 58 = 58 10 - 0
including consideration of market equity risk premiurms. T ol Dusingss
(see Note 39) - - - - 1.2 1.2
Exchange gain 44.7 03 450 136 - 136
At 31 December (133.9) (34.2) (168.1) (209.2) (350} (244.2)
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for the year ended 31 December

24 Retirement benefit obligations coninue

Funded schemes
08 2007
Defined benefit scheme assets £n % £n %
Equities 458 AT% 778 53%
Corpgrate bonds and index linked gilts 442  46% 55.4 8%
Other 1.2 7% 135 9%
Fair valug of schems assets 97.2 100% 1467 00%

The fair value of scheme assets ¢id not include any progerty or other assets used by the
Group, nor any financial instruments of the Group.

The contributions paid by the Group inte funded schemes during 2008 were €11.4 mitlion
(2007: €12.3 million), which includes payments to fung! the net actuaria! pbligations
over time. The best estmate of the cash ¢ontributions expected to be made by the
Group into funded schemes during the 2009 annual period is £7.5 million, which
includes payments to fund the net actuarial obligations over time.

The indicative sensitivity of principal scheme liabilties as at 31 December 2008 to
changes in the ahove assumptions is as follows:

Change In Indicative increass in
scharme Rabllities {£:m}
Assumption m_G
Discount rate

2007 0.1% 24 0.5
Analysis of return on scheme assets m €n  |nflation rate +0.1% 24 0.3
Expected retum on scheme assets a1 90  Real rate of salary increases +0.5% 14 0.2
Artual retumn less expected retun on assets (27.0) {2.5) Longevity +1 year 28 0.7
Actual retum on scheme assets (17.9) 6.5
The sensitivity of non-principal scheme Eabilities to the changes in the assumptions
The amousts recognised in the Income Statement are as follows: shown above i not material to the Group.
2008 2007 Fundad schames
Funded  Unfundad Furcled Undrciec) 2000 2007 2006 2005
'“-‘; '“"; ﬁ ma““ mg g Retirement benefit obligation history €m &m &n &m
Current servics costs 50 06 56 6.1 12 73 Fair value of schemg 8ssets __ 97.2 1467 1404 1241
Past service costs/(croth) 01 = oA 0 08 07 Pre§ent valug of defined bene.flt obligation {133.9) (209.20 (2205 (206.2)
Intorest on scheme iabiities 111 14 130 112 1.8 130  Petirement benefit bligation @87) 625 @01 @21)
Expected retumn on Actual return less expected refurn on assets 27.0 2.5 06 (134
scheme assats (9.1) - {81 @69 — 80 Pementage of scheme assets carried forward  27.8% 1.7%  0.4% (108)%
Curtgilments - - - - 04 {04}  Experience gain/(icss) on liabiities 15 05 20 66
Underlying charge biefore Percentage of scheme liabilities carried forward (1.1)%  0.2% 09% 27%
tax to Income Statement
(see Note 5) 7.1 2.5 9.6 84 18 102 — i mm —
Exceptional curtailments Reﬁremem hengﬁt obligaﬁon history £m £m £m £m
(see Note 6) 05 _ 05 - _ _ Renrgmem benefit qbligangn _ (34.2) (350, {418 (472
Exceptional charge before Experience {loss)/gain o_n Ilf;tnlslltlﬁ i (0.5) 0.1 15 0.2
tax to Income Statement 05 _ 05 _ _ _ Percentage of scheme liabilijies carriedforward 1.5% 0.3% (36)% (04%
Net charge before tax 25 Ohligations under finance leases
10 Ingome Statement 7.6 2.5 10.1 84 18 10.2 Prissat vakw of minEman
MEnumum lezss L]
208 2007 2008 2,7
The scheme settlements in the year had no impact on the amounts recognised in the £m £m €m €m
Incoma Statement. The charge befare tax is reported in “administrative expenses” in the Amounts payable under finance leases
Income Statement. Within one year 2399 2803 237 2720
Between two and five years - 0.7 - 7
Amounts recognised through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense are 2389  281.0
as follows: - r? Less: futur finance charges 02 @3
Tooted  Uctmed Forded  Urbanded Present value of finance lease obligations 2327 2737 2327 2737
wheres  schemes Total schemes schemes Total
&m €m £m £€m €m €m Analysed as:
Actual retum less Current fiabilities (due for settlement within one year} 2327 2730
expecied etum on assets (270} - (7.0 {2.9) - (2.5  Non-current liabilities (due for seilement after more than one year) - 0.7
Experience gain/{loss) 2327 2737
on liabilities 15 {0.5) 1.0 0.5) 0.1 {0.4)
Gain on change It is the Group's poticy to fund certain of its vehicles (including some vehicles held under
of assumptions repurchase arrangements) and some plant and equipment under finance feases. The

353 19 372 1i.9 5.9 17.8
9.8 14  11.2 8.9 6.0 149

ffinancial and demographic)

Cumulative actuarial losses regognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and
Expense since 1 January 2004 (the date of adoption of 1AS 19) are €15.9 milkon
{at 31 Decamber 2007: €27.1 million).

average lease tarm is less than ong vear. For the year ended 31 December 2008 the
average effective interest rate was 5.0% (2007: 4.5%). All finance leases are on a fixed
repayrnent basis and interest rates are fixed at the contract date. No arrangements have
been entered into for contingent rental payments.

The fair value of the Group's obligations under finance leases approxirmates to their camying
amoynt, and is secured by the lessors either having legal title or charges over the leased
assets. In the prior year, colateral was held against ceriain of the leases (see Note 16).
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26 Other financial tabhilities by Undrawn borrowings
2} Bomowings The committed bomowing facilities of the Group, drawn and undrawn, are as follows:
20m 2007 208 2007
m €m [TV — Toud Dz Uraen ar
Bank overdrafts 214 88 [3] £m €m 21} €m £m
Bank loans and other loans 2904 1500 Revaiving syndicated
Commercial paper 133 222 credit faciity 3203 2597 5800 1889 3911 5800
Loan notes 5553 5402  Bilateral facilites and
8864 730.2 finance teases 2457 383 5940 2725 3213 5938
0 608.0 1,1740 4614 7124 11738
Analysed as: 566. s
ﬁ“"e’“ "ab"‘l?is.l(‘_’”e ’:f sfmemelm “"m‘”ff“e "eanm S:f'; eg;g The drawn amount of the revaiving synticated credit facilty includes €34.3 million in
on-current liabilities (due for settlement after more than one year) assla 730.2 o of leters of Credtt (2007 €38.9 mlion).

All borrowings were unsecured as at both 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007,
There are covenants attached 1o certain of the borrowings.

Bank overdrafis
Bank overdrafts are primarily denominated in euros and sterling and attract floating rate
interest by reference 1o EURIBOR and LIBOR plus rmargins ranging from 3.5% to 6.5%.

Bank loans and other loans
Bank loans and other loans are primarily ficating rate, with a weighted average cost at
31 December 2008 of 4.7% (2007: 5 8%).

Gommercial paper

Avis Finance Company pic, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has a
commercial paper facility in Balgium, guaranteed by the Company, which can provide
borrowings of up ta €200.0 million (2007: €204.0 million). Amounts drawn under the
facility attract interest at floating rates by reterence 10 EURIBOR plus a margin which
varies gdepending upon market conditions at the time of issue.

Loan notes
At 31 December, Avis Rinance Company pic has outstanding the following foan notes:

2008 200t
Prisatipsl P

Issued m_ Maturing m_ Mauring
August 2000 $480 2010 $48.0 2010
June 2002 268 2012 €68 2012
June 2004 $2400 2011, %2400 2014,
2012 2012

and and

2014 2014

June 2004 €650 2012 €650 2012
July 2006 €£2500 2013 €2500 2013

The US$ loan notes bear interest at an average fied rate of 6.3% (2007 6.3%).

The euro dencminated loan notes issued prior to July 2006 bear interest at an average
fixed rate of 5.8% (2007: 5.8%). These loan notes are at fixed rates such that their
contractual repricing prafile is coterminous with their maturity profite.

The €250.0 million Senior Foating Rate Netes bear interest at EURIBOR plus 2.625%.
These notes reprice EURIBOR quarterty and include a call option, permitting the Group to
repay the notes with effect from 31 July 2008. This option is separately recogrised as
an embedded derivative at air value (see Note 27).

Proceeds from the loan notes issued in August 2000 totalling US$48.0 million (2007
U5348.0 million) are swapped to a fixed rate euro liability. Proceeds from the loan rotes
issued in June 2004 totalling US$240.0 milon {2007: US$240.0 mitlion) are swapped
1o a euro Eability at a floating rate of interest until June 2005 and a fixed rate thereaiter.
Proceeds of the Senior Floating Rate Notes issued in July 2006 totalling €200.0 million
{2007: €£200.0 million) are swapped into a fixed rate euro liabilly,

Further detals are provided in Note 27,

The mzturity profile of the Group's undrawn committed borowing facilities at
31 December is as foliows:

2008 207
£&m €m
Expiring within one year 3003 2287
Expiring within one and two years - 54.6
Expiring within two and five years 3017 4204
608.0 7124
At 31 December 2008 there were additonal uncommitted facilities available to the
Group of €383.7 million (2007: €583.0 mitkon).
¢) Deferred consideration
08 27
£m tm
Current liahilities (due for setlliement within one year) 0.2 0.3
Non-current liabilities {due for settiement after more than one yeay 225 303
227 306

Deferred consideration comprises €22.7 million (2007: €30.6 million} arising on the
acquisition of shares in Avis Europe Investment Holdings Liméted from Avis Inc in 1997,
The liability is denominated in sterling, attracts an interest rate of 8.0% (2007: 8.0%)
fixed for 20 years {2007: 30 years) and is repayable in annual instalments (including
interest) of £1.9 miltion.

27 Financial risk management

&) Financia) risk management cbjectives and poficies

The Group's financial risk management objective is to reduce the financial risks and
exposures facing the business with respect to changes in interest and fareign exchange
rates, and to ensure constant access to sufficient liquidity. To achieve this the Group
undertakes an active hedging poficy, incliding the use of derfvatives (interest rate and
foreign exchange swaps, options, forward rate agreements and caps and collars), which
&re entered into under policies approved and monitored by a sub-commiites of the
Board, chaired by the Group Finance Director. These transactions are only undertaken
to reduce exposures arising from underying commercial transactions and at no time are
transactions undertaken for speculative reasons.

Foreign currency risk

The majority of the Group's business is transacted in euros, steding, US collars and
Swiss francs. The principal commercial curency of the Group is the euro. The Group
seeks 10 manage cumency exposune wherever possible.

In ezch country where the Group has a corporate opearation, revenue generated and
©0s's incured are primarity denominatedin the relevant local currency, $o providing
a natural currengy hedge. In addition, intra-group trading transactions are netted and
settled centrally. Any rermaining material foreign curmency transaction exposures are
hedged as appropriate into either euro or steding.

With regard to translation exposures the policy is 10 match where possibie the average
assets of the Group to the equivalent average Babilities in each major currency and hus
minimise any impact to the Group. To the extent that this does not occur, both foreign
currency borowings and forward exchange contracts are used. Long-term borowings
undertaken to benefit from the liquidity of the US dallar denominated capital markets are
swapped into euros.
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27 Financial risk management comtinued

interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from the Group's bomowing which, atter foreign
cumency risk hedging, incipally arises in euro and sterling. Borrowings issued at
variatre rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas borrowings issued
at fixed rates expose the Group 10 fair value interest rate risk.

To manage these risks, the Group is financed through a combination of fixed and floating
rate facilitles and enters into various derivatives. The Group's policy is o ensure that the
proportion of fixed rate debt o the annual average net debt (defined for this purpose 1o
include the net book value of fieet under operating leases) for the next three years will be
maintained in the range of 65% 10 85%, 55% to 80%, and 45% to 75% respectively,

Liquidily risk

The seasonal nature of the business necessitates higher fleet levels in the summer
months and hence propartionately higher debt requirements, Consequently, the Group
ensures that it has a core level of long-term funding in place, with maturties spread over
a wide range of dates, supplemented by shorter term and commitied revolving facilities
10 cover reguirements through he year.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives whan managing capital are to safeguard the abifity to continue as
a going concem, ensure sharehoider returns and appropriate benefits for stakehoiders.
The Group seeks to maintain an optimal debt and equity structure to minimise the overall
cost of capital. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or acquire/sell assets to adjust debt levels where appropriate.

The Group menitors the use of capitat on the basis of retum on capital employed
("ROCE") and average fleet utilisation. The Group's ROGE is based on the undertying
operating profit of the business plus the operating resuit of joint ventures and associates.
Undestying operating profit is adjusted to reverse: any non-exceptional goodwill
impairments; the interest cost of pension liabilities; and the expected retum on pension
assets. Capital employed i based on net assets with adjustment for: all debt and related
interest balances; all derivative financial instruments; tax balances; pension deficits;

and capitalised poogwill, and is an average of the cument and previous two period end
closing balances. This definition of ROCE may not be comparable to other similadty titled
measures used by other companies. Average fleet wtifisation is calculated as the average
pesiod of time during which vehicles are on ren: as a percentage of their holding period.

Other price risks

As part of the presentation of market risks, FRS 7 requires disciosures on how hypothetical
changes in risk variabfes affect the price of financial instruments. Important risk variabtes
include stock exchange prices or Indices. As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December
2008 the Group did not hold any material investments to be classified as available for sale.

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets comprise: nor-cument assets held for sale; other
financial assets held for trading; derivative financial instrument assets; trade and other
receivables; and cash and short-terrn deposits which in apgregate represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk at each year end.

The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities and certain financing
activitles. This risk is controlled from a treasury perspective by only entering into
transactions involving financial instruments with authorised counterparties of stong
credit quality, and monitoring such positions reguiarty, With regard to trace and other
receivables, outstanding debits are regularty monitored at an operational level. Bad debt
provisions are made against knawn credit risks.

The credit rating of vehicle manufacturers, the key suppliers, is monitored separately.
With respect to certain vehicle manufacturers, the Group has a natural hedge to its
exposure 10 credit risk as vehicle recenvables (see Note 20 are ordinarily less than
vehicle payables (see Note 22) for the majority of the year.

The maximum expasure 1o credi risk is represented by the balance sheet values of the
origingl joans and receivables that are caried in the balance sheet, inciuding derivatives
with positve market values, Where derivatives are setiled gross, Intemational Swaps and
Derivatives Association (ISDA) based agreements are applied which include close-out
netting provisions which are effective if the counterparty defaults. At the reporting daie
there were no other significant giobal offsetting agreements that recuce credit risk,

nor were there any significart financial guarantees for third-party obligations that
increase this risk.

bj Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Recognised fair values
of derivative financial re—w-y N men Lubines pr
instruments €m £m [ £m £m €m
Hedging instruments:
— forward foreign

exchange contracts 0.7 17 (1.0 — {0.5) .6
Non-hedging instruments:
— forward toreign

exchange contracts 8.2 (4.2} 4.0 2.2 0.3) 1.9
— forward foreign

gxchange options 0.2 - 0.2 1.2 - 1.2
Non-debt derivatives 9.1 5.9} 32 34 09 25
Hedging instruments:
— intergst rate swaps - 8.3} {8.3) 4.6 - 48
— £resS currenty imerest

rate swaps - (43.2) (43.2) - {h29 {529
Non-hedging instruments:
~ interest rate swaps 0.1 (62} {6.1) 0.1 0.1) -
- callable interest rate swaps - B B - - -
- forward rate agreements - (3.1} {3.1) - 0.9 09
— interest rate caps

and collars - (0.5 {05) 0.3 - 0.3
- embedded derivatives 0.7 - 0.7 5.6 - 56
Debt derivatives 08 (67.0) (662) 106 (539) (43.3

99 (729) (63.0) 140 (548) {408

Non-cument portion:
Hedging instruments:
— interest ratg swaps - {8.3} {8.3) 4.5 - 46
— CrOSS curmency interest

rate swaps - {832y (432 - (529 (529
Non-hedging instruments:
- embedded derivatives 0.7 - 0.7 5.6 - 56
Debt derivatives 0.7 (515 (508 102 (529 (@20
Analysed as:
Current assets/liabilities)
{due for settlement within
one year) 92 (214} (122) 3.8 (1.9) 19
Non-current assets/{liabilites)
{due for settlement after

more than one year) 0.7 (3.5 (508} 102 (529) {427
: 99 (729} (630) 140 (54.8) (408

Non-hedging derivatives (excluding the embedded derivative) are classified as a current
asset or liability, The full fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-curent
asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months,
and as a cusTent asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less
than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or Hability.

The esmbedded derivative is classified as a non-cument asset consistent with the
maturity of the borrowing in which it is embedded.




27 FAnancial risk management continued

Fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined using a number of
methods and assumptions based on conditions at the balance sheet date as none are
Traded it an active markes. The fair vatues f imerest rate swaps, forward rate
agreements and cross curency interest rate swaps are calculated as the present value
of future estimated cash flows. The fair value of the embedded derivative, caflable
interest rate swaps and interest rate caps and collars are valued using option valuation
techniques. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is detemmined using forward
exchange market rates at the balance sheet date.

Hedging instruments

The effectiveness of hedging relationships is tested by means of statistical methods using
eifther regression analysis (for forward foreign exchange contragts ang cross curency
interest rate swaps), or the closest offset method (for interest rate swaps). This involves
defining the performance of the hedged item as the independent variable and the
performance of the hedging item as the dependens variable. A hedging relationship is
classified as effective when the value of the hedging item moves between 0.8% and
1.25% for each 1.0% movement in the hedged item. All hedging refationships, having
been tested using statistical methods, were effective at the reporting date.

Forward foreipn exchange contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts 2s at 31 December 2008 with aggregate values

of US$7 .8 million (2007: US$4.1 million), South African rand 79.6 million (2007: South
African rand 58.0 milion), lsraeli shekel 9.6 million (2007: Israeli shekel nil), Norwegian
krone 10.5 million (2007: Norwegian krone nil), and Swedish krona 10,1 million (2007:
Swedish krona nil} were used to hedge expected foreign cumency income of US$7.8
million (2007: US$4.1 million), South African rang 79.6 milion (2007: South African rand
58.0 milliony, lsraeli shekel 9.6 million (2007 Israeli shekel nil), Norwegian krone 10.5
millien (2007: Norwegian krone ni), and Swedlish krona 10,1 million (2007: Swedish
ksona nif} into sterling of £13.4 million (2007: £6.0 million).

Ferward foreign exchange contracts as at 33 December 2008 with apgregate values
of US$20.8 million {2007 US$ nil), Hungarian dorint 2,038,0 million {2007: Hungarian
forint 1,160.0 million), and sterfing £3.0 mitlion (2007 sterfing £2.9 million) were used
to hedge expected foreign curmency income of US$20.8 million (2007: US$ ni, and
expected foreign curency pavments of Hungarian forint 2,038.0 milion (2007
Hungarian forint 1,160.0 million), and sterling £3.0 million {2007: sterling £2.9 million)
into ewro of €15.4 million (2007: € nify, €7.7 million 2007: €4.6 million), and €3.8
miflion (2007: €4.1 million) respectively.

These farward exchange contracts and comespoading foceign currency receipts will
mature within 12 months of each year end. Movements in the fair vatue of these forward
foreign exchange contracts are recognised as cash tlow hedges in the hedging reserve
within equity. These amounts are then transferred to the Income Statement when the
amouats are received at various dates between one and 12 months after the year

end. There was no material ineffectiveness of these hedges recored as at the balance
sheet date,

Interest rate swaps

Interest rate swaps of agpgregate notional principal amounts of €200.0 milfion (2007:
€200.0 million) with average fixed interest payable of 4.03% (2007:4.03%) were used
to hedge variable quarterty interest payments arising under the Senior Floating Rate
Notes due 2013. The aim of the hegige relatienship is to transtorm the variable interest
borrwing into a fixed interest bormewing, and resuit in cash flow hedges of €8.5 million
(2007: €{4.5) million). Credit risks do not form part of the hedge. There was no matesial
ineffectiveness of these hedges recorded as at the balance sheet date.

Cross curmency interest rate swaps

Cross currancy interest rate swaps of apgregate notional nrincipal amounts of LIS$288.0
miflion {2007 US$288.0 million) were used to hedge the Group’s US$ denominated loan
notes (see Note 26).

Fair value hedge adjustments of €(3.6) miltion (2007 €(8.0) milfion) arise from the
heaging of the principal value of the exposures to euro denominated Nabilities. Equivalent
(but opposite) fair value differences have been recognised on the hegging €ross currency
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interest raig swaps for the same underying risk. The whole of this adjustment in bath the
current and prior years relate to hedged items due for settlement afler one year. Cash
flow hedges of £5.4 million (2007: €9.0 million) arise from the coaversion of the semi-
annual USS denominated intarest payments 1o euro denominatad interest payments.
Amounts racognised within equity are released to the Income Statement when the
undertying fixed interest payments occur at various dates between the year end and
2014, There was no ingffectiveness of these hedges recorded at the balance sheet date.

Non-hedging instruments
In certain circumstances, transactions to reduce economic exposure do not qualify for
hedge accounting.

Forwart foreign exchange contracts

Forward forgign exchange contracts as at 31 Decemnber 2008 were in place 10 convert the
following foreign currency notional amounts into sterling balances totaliing £178.7 million
{2007: £140.3 million); Swiss francs 54.3 million 2007 Swiss francs 50.7 miltion);
Singapore dotar 13.0 milion (2007: Singapore dollar 5.4 million); Hungarian forint

400.1 million {2007 Hungarian forini 228.8 mifion); US$2.5 miflion {2007

LIS$1.5 million); and €241.3 million {2007 €228.6 million).

Forwart foreign exchange options

Forward forgign exchange option contracts as at 31 Dacember 2008 were in place to
convert expected foreign currency income of: US$19.3 million (2007: US$35.3 million)
into €12.4 million (2007: €24.9 million). These option contracts will mature within

12 months of each year end.

Interest rate swaps

The notional principal ameunt of outstanding inerest rate swap contracts not qualifying
or hedge accounting as at the year end was €50.0 million (2007: €50.0 million) and
£nit (2007 £30.0 millien) with fixed interest rates payable at 4.4%. The notional
principal amounts of cutstanding interest rata caps and collars as at the year end was
€100.0 millon {2007: €300.0 million).

In 2008 the Group had in place forward start variable principal interest rate swaps with
aggregate average notional principals of €102.2 million which commenge in 2009,
will run for three years and convert the prevailing floating interest rate to an average
fixed rate of 5.6%.

In acdition, in 2007 the Group had in place forward start interest rate swaps with aggregate
notional principals of €100.0 million which commenced in 2008 and ran for one year,
These swaps converted the prevailing floating interest rate to an average fixed rate of 6.0%.

Callable interest rate swaps

In 2008 the Group had in place forward sian variable principal callablg interest rate
swaps with aggregate average notional principals of €£76.7 million which commence in
2009 and may run for up to six years. In each case the swap has an initial term of three
years at the end of which the counterparty has the option o extend the swap at no
arlditional cast for another three years, The swaps convert the prevalling floating interest
rate o an average fixed rate of 5,2% if the swaps are not extended and 5.4% if the
extension option is exercised.

Forward rate agreements

In 2008 the Group had outstanding forwand rte agreements with aggregate notional
principals of €450.0 million (2007: €1,250.0 million) covering various three month
pesiods during 2009 (2007: 2008 and 2009). These convert the prevaiing floating
imterest rate to an average fixed rate of 6.1% (2007: 6.1%).

Embedded derivative

The €250.0 milion Senior Foating Rate Netes due 2013 include a call option permitting
the Group to repay the notes with effect from 31 July 2008. Under the option, the notes
may be redeerned at the foliowing redemption prices (expressed as a peroentage of
principal amounts) if repaid during the 12 month period baginning on 31 July 2008: 102%;
31 July 2009: 104%; 31 July 20710 and theraafter: 100%. In accordance with AS 39,
this option is separately recognised from undertying Senior Floating Rate Notes as an
embedded derivative.
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27 Financial risk management continued

c) Risk and sensitvity analysis

Foreign curmency risk

In accordance with IFRS 7, foreign currency risk sensitivities are calcutated by reference
to the currency profile of the Group's balance sheet as at each year end, with all other
variables kept constant. These sensitivities do not therefore reflect any trading impacts
arising from changes in exchange rates during the year, or any impacts arising from the
transiation of monthly non-euro tncome Statement resufts.

The table below details the sensitivity of the Group’s totat profit after tax from continuing
operations, transiation reserve, and cash flow hedge reserve to a hypathetical 10%
strengthening of the gurn against sterling, USE and Swiss francs from a trangtation
perspective. Sensitivities t a 10% strengthening of the euro has been salected given the
curment level of exchange rates, exchange rate votatility observed on a historic basis and
market expectations for future movements. Similar but oppasite sensitivities would arise

The sensitivity of profit after tax, tanslatior reserve and cash flow hedge reserve 1o a 1%
change in the interest rate are detailed in the tabie below:

Proft after tix ion rEperYe Hedging regerm
2m8 w07 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m €m £m fm €&m
Loss arising from 1%
increase in interest rates
(post tax) 1.9 31 - - 6.8 7.3

The decsease in total profit after tax partly arses due to the revaluation of non-hedging
derivatives. The decrease in underiying profit atter tax to a 1% increase in market interest
rates is €2.0 miltion {2007 €1.7 million). Given the seasonality of the Group's delst, the
Grougy's average net debit i orcinasily higher than the Groupy's year end net detil. If the market
interest rates applied 1o the Group's average net debt in the year had been 1% higher,
underiying profit after tax would have been lower by €1.9 million (2007: €2.2 miflion).

uport 2 10% weakening of (e euro against sterfing, US$ and Swiss francs: Liguidity risk
ProfR after tax Ta Hadging The foflowing s an analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash flows papble under
2000 2007 208 2007 2000 2007 financial liabilities together with derivative financial instrument assets and liabilties at the
(Profit)/loss L €m fm £m &m & balance sheet date:
Euro/sterling 4.8) 29 94 6.8 {0.3) 0.2 Dus Due
Euro/US$ 1.3 0.9 - - {1.3) (0.5) n:_-nx “:-;:: ,,,':“’ ,.:: .n: ,:: -
Euro/Swiss francs 40 (1.8 2.2 2.0 - = At31 December 2008 m m €n P €
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Profit after tax sensitivities primarity arise from the revaluation of non-nedging derivatives Borrowings (45.1) (340) (F27.0) (70.9) (B77.0)

comprising forward foreign contracts where the Group has not applied hedge accounting.
The sensitivities thereby primarily impact amounts excluded from underiying, rather than
the Group's undertying peofit after tax. Translation reserve sensitivities effectively arise
from the retransiation of the net assets of head office and trading operations in the LI,
and trading operations in Switzerland, from sterfing and Swiss francs respectively,

into eur. Hedging reserve sensitivities to sterding balances arise from the hedging of
forward foreign exchange contracts, whilst the US$ sensitivities arise from both forward
fareign exchange contracts and cross curency interest rate swaps.

Interest rate risk

Te manage interest rate risk the Group is financed through a combination of fixed and
fiating rate facilities and enters into various irferest rate derivatives. In accordance with
IFRS 7, interest rate sensitivities are calculated by reference t the imerest rate profile
of the Group's balance sheet as at each year end, with all other variables kept constant,
Sensithvities to a 1% increase in interest rates have been selected given the currem level
of market interest rztes, interest ate volatility observed on a histonic basis and market
expectations for future movements. Similar bt opposite sensitivities would arise upon

a 1% reduction in interest rates. The interest rate sensitivities are calculated based on
the following:

{a) Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fed
imerest rates only affect income if thesa are recognised at their fair value. As such,
all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that are carried at amortised cost
are not subject to interest rate risk as defined in IFRS 7.

{b) Changes in the market inferest rate of financial instruments that were designated as
hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge, to hedge payment fluctuations resulting from
interest rate movements, affect the cash flow hedge reserve in shareholder's equity
and are therefore taken into consideration in the equity refated sensitivity calculations.

{c) Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-
derivative variable interest financial instruments. As a consequence, they are included
in the calculation of income related sensitivities, other than where the interest
payments are designated as part of a cash fiow hedge against interest rte risk.

{d} Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps,
callable interest rate swaps, foeward rate agreements, caps and collars) shat are not
pert of a hedging refabionship as set out in LAS 39, affect other financial income or
expense {net gain/loss frorn remeasurement of the financial fair vatue) and are
therefore taken into consideration in the income related sensitivity calculations.

{e) Currency derivatives are not directly exposed o interest rate risks and therefore 0o not
affect the interest rate sensiivities.

Interest payments on barrowings (47.7) (4480 (647) (22) (159.4)
Trade and other payables

(including Finance cost creditorsy

{see Note 22) (539.2) - - - ({539.2)
Obligations under finance leases (232.7) - - - (232.7)
Interest payments oo finance leases  (7.2) - - - {7.2)
Defermed consideration 02 02 (08 (15 (27

Derivative financial instrument

assets and liabilities - gross settied

Derivative contracts — recelpts 178.3 468 1159 731 4141

Derivative contracts — payments {176.9) (65.2) (136.1) ({B6.1) (454.3)

Derivative financial instrument

assets and liabilities — net settied

Derivative contracts — payments {181} (28 (1.2) - {219
(888.8) (100.0) (819.9) (107.6){1,916.3)

Due within ana and twa and Due ghar

weyzr  twovers  fwyeas e yens Tl
At 31 December 2007 €n €m £m £m £n
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings (31.0) - (372.2) (3194) (7229

Interest payments on borrowings G2.3) (@71} (105.9) (19.9) (2259
Trade and other payables

{including Rnance cost creditors)

{see Note 22) (570.3) - - - (109
Obligations under finance leases 273.7) 0.7 - - {274.4)
Interest payments on finance leases 7.3 - - - 7.3
Deferred consideration 03 0.3) (1.0)  (29.0) (306}
Derivative financial instrument

assets and liabitities -

gross seftled

Derivative coniracts - receipts 2046 124 1549 757 4476

Derivative coniracts - payments 212.3)  (149) (196.4) {91.1) (5314.7)

Derivative financial insirument

assets and liabilities — net settied

Derivative contracts - receipts 1.1 1.1 33 0.8 6.3

Derivative contracts — payments {1.2) - - [+.2)
(1042 {495 {517.3}) (382.9) (1,992.4)




28 Net debt

The maturity prylite of the Group's net debit balances (exciuding deferred consideration)

Interest rate and cumrency profile
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The interest rate and currency profile of the Group's net debt balances is as foliows:

is as foliows: a0 2007
Lass then Dom to Twoln  More than Fod  Floating Frieg Ficating
onaysar ftwoysas fweysan  five years Total rate s Totad rate -] Total
At 31 December 2008 £m £m £m £m €m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Derivative financial instrument assets Gross debt (excluding
{see Note 27) 0.1 - 0.7 - 08 impact of derivatives)
Derivative financial instrument liabilities Eurp (91.8) (813.8) (9056) (91.8) (697.0) (788.5)
(see Note 27) (155) (167) (25.0) (9.8) (67.0) Steriing - (08 {0.6} - 82 B2
Derivative financial Instruments Us$ {203.3) - (2033) (198.7) ~  (198.7)
(see Note 27) (154) (16.7) (24.3) (9.8) {662) Other - - - - 02 @2
Bank overdrafts (see Note 26) (27.4) — - - (274) (295.1) (814.4)(1,1095) (2905 (7054} (895.9)
Bank loans and other loans Netimpact of derivatives
N . - 1 - 4
e e 76 "‘; ;} - (R0 - "‘;‘,’;3; Euro 6212) 4530 (1682} (059 4215 (84.4)
Loan notes (see Note 26) — 349 (4445 (153) (5553) oonng - (22) (722) (19 (1005 (1424
Obligations under finance leases uss 2041 18 2059 1998 10 208
(see Note 25) @327) _ _ - @mn Other - (4.3) (41.3) - (53 (753
Gross dobl #17.1) 3413 (75.8) (3480) 2967 (513
{including net derivatives) (203.2) (51.6) (754.8) (85.7)(1,185.3) Gross debt
. {net of derivatives)
Cash and short-term deposits
o Note ;1) o cepes: 521 B ) _ gy D (713.0) (360.8)(10738) (597.7) (2755 (873.2)
- Sterfing - (72.8) (728) {(41.9) (1087) {150.6)
! . - - - ]
mteres! bearing assets 52.1 521 uss 08 18 2.6 1.1 10 21
Net debt - continuing operations (241.1)  (51.6) (754.8) (85.7){1,133.2)  Other - {413 (4.3 - (255 255
{712.2) (473.1)(1,185.3) (638.5) (40B.7) {1,047.2}
e wovens ey twem .
At 31 December 2007 m €n m €m en  Imterest bearing assets
Derivative financial Instrument assets Euro = &6 456 - 483 493
{see Note 27) 04 _ _ 10.2 106 Sterling - 5.3 5.3 — 14,5 i4.5
Derivative financial instrument liabilities Other s 1.2 12 — 25 25
(see Nate 27) (1.0) - @78 (153 (539 - 521 s - 663 663
Derivative financial instruments Net debt
{sea Note 27) 0.8 - (3760 (B0 @33 Eur (M13.0) (315.2)(1,0282) (597.9) (2262 (B219)
Bank overdrafts {see Note 26} 88 - - - 88 Stering - [61.5) (61.5) (41.9) (942 (136.1)
Bank loans and other loars US$ 08 18 26 13 10 21
{see Noto 26) - - {1500 - (1500 pther - (a0 (a0.0) - B0 @0
Commercial paper {sge Note 26) (22.2) - - - 223 (712.2) (421.0)(1,133.2) (638.5) (3424) (980.9)
Loan nates (see Note 26) - - (226.4) (322.8) (548.2)
Obligations under finance leases The net impact of derivatives in 2008 of €75.8) milion {2007: €(51.3) million),
{see Note 25) (2730 07 - - @737 comprises the recogrition of the fair valus of the debt-related derivative financial
Gross debt (including net dertvatives) (304.6)  0.7) (4140 G2T.9H{(1.047.2)  instruments of €(56.2) milion (2007: €{43.3) million), adjusted for the fair value hedge
Current assats - hefd for trading adjustment of €9.6 millipn (2007 €(8.0) miltor) (see Nate 27).
{see Note 16) 54 - - - 5.4 ‘ ] , )
Cash and short-term deposits The ajmeﬂxedm()anng rate anafysis excludes the impact of |m9fgst rae caps anl
{see Note 21) 509 _ _ _ 0.9 collars. |nC.|I.JdII'Ig the impact of such caps and co!laf*s. £100.0 million (2007
Interest bearing assets 66.3 _ — _ 66.3 €100.0 million) of net debt woulg be classified as fixed rate,
Nat debt (2383}  ©7) 41400 (327.9) (980.9)  The range of interest rates apolicable to gross debt {net of derivatives) by principal

currency is as foliows:

200 2007
Eure Starling e Sexwyg
% % % %
Fixed interest rate charge 5.9-6.8 n/a 4.7-65.8 59
Floating rate interest charge margin above:
- EURIBOR 0.3-26 nfa 0326 va
- LIBOR na n/a n/a {0.1)
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29 Additionat disclosures on financia! instruments
Measurement of financial instruments by category

The fair value of the above items recognised at amortised cost is as below:

2008 2007
Book fair Book Fax
L] v STt kg
€m im &m

Fak vah»
Feir valus  recognised
Book Amorised recognised o ncome
ot cost i wopity
At 31 December 2008 €m £m €m £m
Assets:
Other financial assets:
Derivative hedging instruments (held for trading) 0.7 - - 0.7
Derivative non-hegdging instruments
{held for trading) 92 - - 9.2
Cash and shert-term deposits 521 521 - -
Trade and other receivables 1,351.7 1,351.7 - -
14137 14038 - 99
Liabilities and sharehaotders’ equity:
Other financial fiabilities:
Derivative hedging instruments
{held for trading) (53.2) - (149) (383)
Derivative non-hedging instruments
{held for trading) {19.7} - - (190
Bank overdrafts {27.4) (274) - -
Bark loans and other loans {290.4) (290.4) - -
Commercial paper (13.3) (13.3) - -
Loan notes {555.3) (555.3) - -
Obligations under finance leases {232.7) (232.7) - -
Deferred consideration (2.1} (22.7) - -
Trade and other payables (539.2) (539.2) - -
(1,7539) (1,681.0) (149} (58.0)
Fai vaue
Far vahe  recopnised
Bk Amotsed reeogsed N bcome
amourd cost nequiy  Statement
At 31 December 2007 £m £m £m €m
Assets:
Other financial assets:
Derivative hedging instruments {held for trading) 4.6 - 4.6 -
Derivative non-hedging instruments
(held for trading) 94 - - 94
Cash and short-term deposits 609 609 - -
Trade and other receivables 1,391.8 1,391.8

1,466.7 1,452.7 4.5 9.4

Fair value of financial assets and

financial liabilities:

Non-current assets — avallable {or

sale investments {see Note 16) 0.4 04 0.6 0.6
Trade and other receivables (see Note 20) 1,351.7 1,351.7 1,391.8 1,381.8
Current assets — held for trading

(see Note 16) - - 5.4 5.4
Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 21) 52.1 52.1 609 609
Trade and other payables (see Note 22) (539.2) {539.2) (670.3 (6703}

Dbligations under finance leases {see Note 25) (232.7) {232.7) {273.7) (273.7)
Financial liabiiities - borrowings:

— Current {see Note 26) @5.1) @51 310 $31.0
— Non-current (see Note 26) (841.3) (504.9) (699.2) (BS57.1)
Financial Nabilities — deferred consideration:

- Curent (see Note 26) 02y {02y (0.3 0.3}
— Non-current (see Note 26) {225) {221) (30.3) (°8.8)

The Directors consider that the book value of non-current assets — available for sale
imvestments; trade and other receivables; cument assets — held for trading; cash and
cash equivalents; and trade and other payables, approximate to their fair value.

The fair value of obligations under finance leases approximates to thelr book valug as the
majority of these obligations are due within one year (see Nate 25).

The fair value of borrowings and deferred consideration for disclosures are based either
on tradable market values, or whese such market values are not readily avaitable are
estimatad by discounting the future contractuat cash flows at the current market interest
rate that is available to the Group for simitar financial instruments.

30 Cafled-up share capital

2006 2007
Rumber tm

:

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 1p each 940,000,000 940,000,000

Issued and fully paid share capital
At 1 January and
31 December

920,524,047 131 920,524,047 13.1

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Other financial liabilities:

Derivative hedging instruments (held for trading)  {53.5) - 8.4 44.1)
Derivative non-hedging instruments

{held for trading) {1.3) - - (1.3
Bank overdrafis 8.8} (8.8) - -
Bank loans and other loans (150.0) (150.0) - -
Commercial paper 222 (222 - -
Loan notes 549.2) (549.2) - -
Obligations under finance leases (273.0) (273.7) - -
Deterred consideration {30.6) (30.6) - -
Trade and other payables 670.3) (670.3) -

(1,759.6)(1,704.8) (9.4 (454)

31 Share premium and own shares held

Ows

Share s

premitm ekt

€m m

At 1 January 2007 3815 0.7
Purchase of own shares - (3.0
Own shares released on vesting of share awards - 0.2
Exchange movements (net of taxation) - 0.2
At 31 December 2007 3|5 (33
At 1 January 2008 381.5 {33)
Own shares released on vesting of share awards - 26
Exchange movemenis - 03
At 31 December 2008 381.5 {0.4)

Own shares are held by the Avis Europe Employee Share Trust, a discretionary trust,
to partially satisfy options and awards granted under a number of the Group's share
schemes. The Company's own shares kave a nomina value of 1 pence per share.

At 31 December 2008, the Trust held 637,735 shares (2007: 3,811,301 shares), which
have been recognised as a reduction in shareholders™ funds. The reduction in own shares
held during the year refates to the exercise of awards for the 2006 Deferred Bonus Shars
Plan, The market value of the remaining shares as at 31 December 2008 was 3.9 pence
per share {2007: 40.5 pence per share). None of the shares held at the year endt are
under option to employees, nor have they been conditionally gifted to them, The Avis
Europe Employee Share Trust has not waived 5 right to any dividends on these shares.
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32 Share and share option schemes W":':
Detatls of the nature of all share and share option schemes can be found on pages 40 to Vaemd Prlomanct ey OAeTd Log T
42 of the Remuneration Report. Number ('000) Schemes Pan Pan  Shars Plan Plans Totat
Outstanding
Al the year end, aptions outstanding under a1 schemes were as follows: options as at
A3 D ber 2008 1 January 2007 52497 13661 4772 - - 70030
ecember ;
Moot ootons B — Granted in the year - - - 31244 59901 91145
Date of grant 000y From To From T Forleited in the year (1,719.0)  (663.4) - — (1.0B2.0) (3.464.4)
Approved and Unapproved Exereised in the yaar — - (23B89 - - {2338
Share Option Schemes Outstanding
2003 3645 75.7p B68p 2006 2013 options as at
2002 1,302.7 836p 1742p 2005 2012 31 December2007 35307 7027 2386 31244 49081 12504.5
2001 7004 121.8p 1364p 2004 2011 Exercisable
2000 3817 166.6p 1668p 2003 2010  options as at
1999 599 197.3p 2346p 2002 2009 31 December2007 3530.7 - - - - 35%7
28892 Outstanding
Performance Share Plan options as at
2003 5149 - - 2006 203 1 January 2008 3530.7 7027 2386 3,1244 49081 12,5045
Granted in the year - - - - 29,2933 29,293.3
Lang-Term Incentive Plan _ Foreted in the year __(6315) _(187.8) - (188.4) (2,927.1) (3,834.8)
ggg; 2;"; = = :g::’ x; Exercised in the year - - (238.6) (2,936.0) - (3,1745)
el - - Outstanding
Total 34,6884 options as at
31 December 2008  2,899.2 514.9 - - 31,274.3 34,6884
At 31 December 2007 Exercisable
0 o - N of opbans Exroie (rich rnd Extrrisa peviod optiunsasat
2o o gra o e Bt 2 31 December2008 2,899.2 - - - - 2,899
Approved and Unapproved
gg(a];a Option Schemes 4187 757 86.8 2006 2013 All mavements in the number of putstanding options under the Performance Share Plan,
: P 20 Share Retention Ptan, Deferred Bonus Share Plan and the Long-Term incentive Plans
2002 16058 836p 1742p 2005 2012 ) . ; o
during both the current and prior year had zero weighted average exercise prices.
200 9437 121.8p 1364p 2004 2011 ) . . . .
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options exercised
2000 4216 1666p 1668p 2003 2010 ) . , . . )
during the perod was 24p (2007: 59y). Exercisable options comgrise autstanding
19499 599 197.3p 2346p 2002 2008 . ) . ) . .
options where the vesting periad has completed, irespective as to whether the option
1998 790 2081p 224.7p 2001 2008 ) L .
35307 exercise price is above or below the cuiment share price.
Performance Share Plan Movements in the weightedt average exercise prices of the Approved and Unapproved
2003 702.7 - - 2006 2013 Share Schemes dwing the year are as follows:
Approved scd
Share Retention Plan Weighted averags exercise prics (pence} Stare Sctrs
2004 2386 - — 2006 2008 Outstanding options as at 1 January 2007 120.0
Deferred Banus Share Plan Forteiled in the year 1i0.1
2007 31244 _ — o008 2008 Outstanding options as at 31 December 2007 126.3
Long-Term Incentive Plan Exercisable options as at 31 December 2007 126.3
2007 4,908 - - 2010 2011 Qutstanding options as at 1 January 2008 126.3
Total 12.504.5 Forfeited lp the year 1201
Outstanding options as at 31 December 2008 1276
Exercisable options as at 31 December 2008 1276
Losg-Termn  Long-Term
Weighted average ot i Detarrad
remaining contract m Shars m::: Bonus m: mmn
lives fyears): Scabrrin Pan Pl Sham Pan 20T 200
At 31 December 2008 24 13 - - - 20 3.3
At 31 December 2007 3.2 2.3 0.3 0.3 30
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32 Share and share option schemes continued

35 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ equity

(FRS 2, Share-Based Payment, requires that the fair value of all share options issued - e
after 7 November 2002 i charged to the Income Statement. Certain options fom the {Losswiprofit atter taxation attributabie 1o the equny
approved and unapproved schemes were issued before 7 November 2002 and therefore holders of the Compary (9.9) 3.0
the fair values of these granted options are not recognised. For options issued after Net (expensslincome recogrised direcll in equity (see
7 November 2002, the fair vatue of the oplion must be assessed on the date of each Statement of Recognised Income and Expense) grn 1
issue. The Group uses a stochastic vaiuation model at each issue date re-assessing the Totz! recognised (expenselincome arrbutable
input assumptions on each occasion. The weighted average of the assumptions used equity holders of the Company (27.6) 141
in each valuation an¢! the resulting weighted average fair value per option, for options Increase in equity reserve arising from charge o income
issued in the year, were s follows: Locgr-Toem Lo Torn for share options in the year 02 04
incentive Plan 2008 Incarrthve Plan 2007 Oecrease in equity reserva arising from exercise of share opticns {2.4) -
Weighted average 2008 2007 2008 B By of own shares - G0
Share price {pence) 8.5 Ma_ S84 8B4 B shaes released on vesting of share awards 26 02
Opngn ERETCISE price (pence) = va = — Exghange movements on gwn shares 0.3 0.2
Vesting period {years) 30 wva 20 30 N decreasefincrease i shareholders equity 269) 119
Qption life fyears) 35 wa 25 3.5 A1 Janvary %62 843
Expacted volatility (%) 51.0% nfa WA0%  34.0% At 31 December 693 %.2
Risk free rate of return (%) 3.T% wa 56% 56%
Probabilty of ceasing employment 36 Reconciliation of mavements in minority Interest
before vesting (%) 5.0% na 50% 50% P T
Expectations of meeting £m £m
performance criteria (%) 40.0% nfa 20.0% 400% Loss for the year - 0.1)
Fair value per option (pence) 8.5 wa 584 584 Netdecrease in minority interest - @.1)
At 1 Janvary 0.8 0.9
Expected volatiity was determined by reference 1o the volatility in the share price using At 31 December 08 ne
rolfing one year periods for the five years immediately preceding the grant date. The risk
free rate of retum s based upon UK gift rates with an equivalent term to the options granted. 37 Notes to the consofidated cash flow statement
o . » ) ] a) Analysis of changes in net debt
For options issued prier to July 2003, an expected dividend yield of 6.4% was applied, A1 AR
based on histaric dividerd yield performance. For options issued after July 2003, future e Cuh onomh Drciame Decemte
dividend assumptions were aligned {o the dividend expectations publicly announced by m m &m &m m
the Group. Cash and short-term deposits 60.9 (8.0) - {0.8) 521
Bank overdrafts {8.8) (18.6) - - (27.4)
33 Retained deficit Cash and cash equivalents 521 (26.6) - 08 247
208 2007 Current assets — held for trading 5.4 {5.4) - - -
fm €n  Obligations under finance leases 2737) 535 (23.2) 107 (2327)
At 1 January {280.2) (295.1) Borrowings {excluding overdrats)
(Loss)/profit for the year atirbutable to equity holders (see Note 26) (F21.4) {1291) (6.3) {2.2) (859.0)
of the Company 8.8 30  Derivative debi instruments
Increase in equity reserve arising from charge to income {see Note 27) (#33) (02) (225 (02) (662)
for share options in the year 0.2 0.4 Net debt (8808) {1078) (52.0) 75 (1,133.2)
Decrease in equity reserve arising frorm exercise of share options (2.4) -
Net actuarial gains on retirement benefit obligations M2 149 noncash movements represent the effact of the inception and cessation of certain
Taxation on actuarial gains (see Nate 8) 280 B4 finance leates during the year, and recognition of changes in the fair value of dervatives
At 31 December (283.9) (2802 ang hedgec items.

Gooowill of €1,080.4 milion arising before 1 March 1998 is fully written off to reserves.

b} Reconciifation of net decrease in cash and cash equivalents to movement in net debt

2008 2007
M Other deficit m £m
"w m o Movement in net debi resutting from cash flows (107.8) {126.7)
m &n €m New finance leases (23.2) (483
At 1 Januaty 2007 9.6) (49 (145  Re-measurement adjustments on bomowings and
Cash flow hedges: derivative dett instruments (28.8) (1.0
— net fair value losses - (5.8 (5.8  Exchange movemenis 75 63
— transters o Income Statement - 7.9 7.9  Total movement in net debt (excluding Greece disposal) (152.3) (169.7)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (2.8) - (28  Disposal of business (see Note 39) - 967
Taxation {see Note B} 0.9 0.6) 03 Total movement in net debt (152.3) 27.0
At 31 December 2007 (115 (34 (149  Netdebtat1 January (380.9) (1,007.9
Net debt at 31 December {1,133.2) {980.9
At1 January 2008 Mms {34 (149
Cash flow hedges:
— net fair value losses - (11.8) (11.8)
— transfers io Income Statement - 22 22
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (23.1) - (23.1)
Taxation (see Note 8) a8 28 6.6
At 31 December 2008 (30.8) (10.2) (#1.0)

The hedging reserve reflects changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
that are desigrated and effective as hedges of future cash fiows.
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38 Acquisitions 2007 Cash Flow: Em
During the year, the Group acquived the assets and activies of certain rental locagons in ~ perating profit i 7.9
bath Holland and France which werg formerly Avis licensees. The results and cash flows  Reverse depreciation on property, pfant and egquipment 9.7
arising subsequent to the acquisitions are notl considered material and accordingly are Reverse nnn.msh operating lease charge on manufaciurer repurchase contracts 8.8
not disclosed separately. The detalls of the net assefs acquired, goocwil ang Payments with respect to manufacturer (epUCchass Comracts 58
consideration are set out below: Receipts Y.mh re‘speci 10 manufacturer repurchase contracts 12.5
Fat v Increase in receivables 2.3
-k ek gl Decrease in payables 0.7)
m l_":: Wg palicy ': Increase in retirement benefit obligations __ 0.1
€m €m €m P Net cash generated from operating aclivities 0.2
Vehicles = 0.2 0.2 - 0.2  Netcash used in investing activities {17.2)
Other property, plant and equipment 0.1 - [X] - 0.1  Net cash generated fram financing activities 130
Trade and other feceivables - 0.3 0.3 - 03  Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 4.0}
Cash angd short-term deposits - 0.1 01 - 0.1 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 6.4
Trade and other payables = 01 {01 - (0.1)  Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2.4
Other taxes and social security - 0.1 {0.1) - (0.1)
Net assets acquired 0.1 04 0.5 - 05  The Balance Sheet at the date of the prior year disposal was as lollows:
Goodwill arising on acquisiton 12 02 14 T £
Cansideration 13 06 18 — 14  Non-currentassets
Goodwill see Note 11) 0.5
Consideration satisfied by: Other intangible assets (se¢ Note 12) 0.2
Cash for acquisition of businesses 1.3 0.6 1.9 1.8 vehicles (see Note 13) 124.9
Property, plant and equipment {see Note 14} 2.4
During the year, the Group also invested in a French joint venture, OKIGO, for cash 128.0
consideration of €01 miltion. No ill arose epon this acquisition. The Group's 50%
share of net liabilities acquired wz?:%(xi miliion. Current assets .
Trade and other receivables:
39 Disposal = Repurchase vehicles 102.0
-~ Other 25.9
Disposat of subsidiary Inventories 0.2
I the priar year, the Group disposad of ts subsidiary i", Greet_:e, Clympic Qommemial [ ——— 01
and Tourist Entesprises SA, which was classified as a discontinued operation. The net Cash and cash equivalents 74
consideration was €14.4 milion after deducting a wamranty provision of €7.8 million znd 130.6
the net assets at dispesat were €£23.2 million. Accortingly, the total loss on disposal was
€8.8 million. A goodwill impairment charge of €7.1 milion was recorded prior to the Assets of discontinued operation held for sale 2586
disposal. The loss on dispasal and the goodwill impalrment charge are excluged from the
undestying resuit. Current liabilittes
Trade and other payables (28.4)
The Group has recognised an exceptional credit of €1.3 million in the current year 10 Borrowings (196.7y
reflect the final settement of a wasranty provision (see Note 6). Provisions 0.6
{225.7%
In thn.z prior year, the financial re%wlt; and cash fiows of the discontinued operation were Non-current liabilities
ugnsnderad 1o be a separate major fine of business and were therefore separately Deferred tax (see Note 17) B85
disclosed as follows: rocts Retirement benefit obligations (see Note 24) 2
. exchued o (gn
20067 Income Statement; umg:n “we‘:: he: - " iom held f !
Revanus a7 — w7 Liabilities of discontinued operation held for sale (235.4)
Operating profit/loss) 7.9 (159 (8.0) Netassets 23.2
Profit/floss) before taxation 24 {159 (139
Taxation 1.1 - 11
Profit/(toss) after taxation 35 (159 (124

1 See Basis of Preparation.
2 The amount exciuded from undertying represents the loss on disposal of the subsidiary in Greees
and the goodwill impalmment recorded prior to the disposal of the operation,

Financial statements I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 December

40 Contingent liabilities

The Company and certain subsidiaries have peovided unsecured guarantees 1o certain
third parties within the normal course of business, the majority of which were in favour
of cenain lenders in respect of some of the Group's loan notes and borrowing facilities,
together with guarantees provided to vehicle suppliers and property lessors. As at

31 December 2008, these guarantees totalled €1,045.9 millian (2007 €£953.7 million).

Certain Group cospanies are defendants in a number of claims and legal proceedings
incidental to their operations. The Directors do not expect that any of these contingencies
will have a matesial negative impact on the results or financial position of the Group.

Save as disciosed herein and exciuding intra-group indehtedness and guarantees,

no member of the Group had at the clese of business on 31 December 2008 any
outstanding kian capital {inGluding loan capital created but unissued), term loans or any
other bormowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowings, including bank everdraits,
liabilities under acceptances (other than normal trade bills) or acceptance credits,

hire purchase commitments, obligations undes finance leases, guarantees of ather
contingent liatlities.

41 Financial commitments

43 Related party transactions
208 07
£&m €m
Sales to jvint ventures 0.6 0.5
Net current amounts owing from joint ventures 01 0.1
Purchases from majority shareholger 51.6 54.3
Sales to majority shareholder 56.4 51.5
Purchases from a subsidiary of majerity shareholder 1.7 18
Interest payable to a subsidiary of majority sharehoider 0.5 0.1
Current amounts gwing to majority sharehelder 16.5 8.0
Current amounts owing from majority shareholder 17.7 13.4
Curresit amounts owing to a subsidiary of majority sharehoiger 0.1 0.1

The remuneration of the Directors, and ather key management personnel of the Group,

is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in tAS 24, Relatec Party
Disclosures. Salaries and short-term employee benefits include wages, salaries and
social security costs.

Further information about the remuneration of individual Directors is provided in the
audited part of the Remuneration Report on pages 39 1o 42,

At 31 December, the Group had the following minimurs lease payment cemmitments 208 207
" ) Key management i key
under non-cancellable operating leases: Directors managenant Totsh  Owectors monagement W
2008 2007 compensation m £m €m €m €m €m
Land and Coar Land and over Salaries and short-term
€m €m €m €m €m €m employee benefits 25 3.2 57 33 38 7.1
Expiring: Post-employment bengfits 0.1 0.4 0.5 0.3 08 1,1
Within one year §5.7 1.3 01 447 329 02  Termination amounts 04 21 25 07 - 07
Later than one year and Share-based payments 0.2) 0.4 0.2 0.1 03 0.4
Iess than five years 128.4 0.8 01 832 1.3 0.3 28 63 8.9 44 49 43
After five years 52.0 - - 278 - -
Tota! 2361 129 02 1557 4.2 05 %4 Exchange rates

Al each year end the Group also had prepaid various other operating lease commitments
in relation to manufacturer repurchase agreements, as detailed in Note 20.

42 Majority shareholder

The Company's utimate majority shareholder is s.a, D'leteren n.v. which is incorporated
in Belgium. The uftimate controlling party of s.a. D'leteren n.v. is the D'leteren family.
Avis Europe plc is the smallest company that consolidates the resutts of the Company
and its subsidtaries.

5.2 D'leteren n.v. is the largest company that consolidates the results ¢f the Company
and its subsidiaries. Copies of 5.a. D'leteren n.v.s financial statements are available
from: The Investor Relations Department, Avis Europe pic, Avis House, Park Road,
Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 2EW.

Monthly lncome Statements and other period statements of overseas operations are
transiated at the relevant rate of exchangs for that month. Except for the Balance Sheet
which s transtated at the closing rate, each line item in these Consolidated Financial
Statements repesents a weighted average rate.

Euro %0 Starting Storing ko Eurg
Yaar sicied Year endad
31 December 31 Decemnber
2008 2007 208 2007
Weighted average reported raie for revenue 1274 1469 0.785 0.681
Weighted average reported rata
for operating profit 1248 1479 0801 0676
Year end rate 1.048 1397 0954 0716

45 Principal subsidiaries

Alist of the principal subsidiaries including the name, country of incorporation,
ang proportion of ownership is detalled below;

2 2007

%o %o

hﬁ-_:t indgect

Iarme of compsny Country of incomorabon "m m
Avis Location de Voitures SAS France 100 100
Avis Autovermietung GmbH & Co KG Germany 100 100
Avis Autonoleggio SpA ftaly 100 100
Avis Alquile un Coche SA Spain 100 100
Avis Rent A Car Limited UK 100 100
Avis Europe Intgrnational Reinsurance Limited Isle of Man 100 100
Avis Eurepe Holdings Limited UK 100 100
Avis Finance Company ple UK 100 100
Avis Management Services Limited UK 100 100

In addition, the assets and liabilities of Europe Leisure Holdings NV and its subsidiary
are consolidated in these Consolidated Financial Staterments in accordance with SIC 12,
Consolidation - Special Pupose Entities.

A compiete list of all Group subsidiaries is available from: The Investor Relations
Department, Avis Europe pic, Avis House, Park Road, Bracknell, Berkshirg, RG12 2EW.







Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Avis Europe plc

We have audited the Parent Company Financial Statements of Avis Eurepe plc for the year ended 31 December 2008
which compsise the Parent Company Balance Sheet, the Parent Company Cash Flow Statement, the Significant
Accounting Policies and the related notes These Parent Company Financial Statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therzin. We have also audited the information in the Directors” Remuneration Report that
is described as having been audited

We have reported separately on the Consolidated Financial Statements of Avis Europe plc for the year ended 31
December 2008.

Respective responsibifities of Directors and auditors

The Directors” respensibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors” Remuneration Report and the Parent
Company Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Staternent of Directors’
Responsibilities.

Our respensibility is to audit the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and Intemational Stzndards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the epinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s
members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any ather purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whase hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing,

We report to you our opinion as 1o whether the Parent Company Financial Staternents give a true and fair view and
whether the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our
opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Parent Company Financial Statements.
The information given in the Directors’ Repart includes that specific information presented in the Business Review,
the Corporate Governance Statement and the sections of the Remuneration Report that are referred to as audited that
are cross referred from the Business Review section of the Directars' Report.

1n addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting tecords, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
Parent Company Financial Statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman's Stuatement, the Chief
Executive's Revicw, the Business Review, the Corporate and Social Responsibility Report, the Directors Listing, the
Corporate Governance Statement, the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the unaudited part of the
Remuneratien Report and the Five Year Summary. We consider the implications for our repon if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Parent Company Financial Statements. Qur
respensibilities do not extend to any other information,

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with [ntemnational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the 2mounts and
disclosures in the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Repert to be
audited. [t also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the
preparation of the Parent Company Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Company's circumstances, consistertly applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit 50 as 1 obain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Parent Company
Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other icregularity or errer. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall zdequacy of the presentation of information in the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

+ the Parent Company Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally

Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2008;

+ the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneratior: Report to be audited have

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act £985; and

+ thgdnformation given in the Dircetors' Report is consistent with the Parent Company Financial Statements.
E’M L(—P

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Reading

3 March 2009

Notes:

) The maitttenance and integrity of the Avis Europe ple website is the responsibility of the Dirggtors; the work eared out by the auditors dees not
involve contideration of tese matters end, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsitility for anry changes that may have océurred 1o the Financial
Stazzments since they were imtially presemed on the webgite.

b} Legislation in the United Kingdom gaverning the preparation and di ination of Financial $ may differ from legislanon in othe:
jurisdictions.




Parent Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December

2008 2007

Notes £fm £m
Fixed assets
Investments I 202.0 315.0
Current assets
Debtors 2 117.5 111.0
Creditors amounts falling due within one year
Creditors 3 4.7 4.3)
Other financial liabilities - financial guarantees 4 (0.2) (0.2)
Current liabilities 4.9 4.5)
Net current assets 112.6 106.5
Total assets less current liabilities 3146 421.5
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 5 9.2 9.2
Share premium 6 294.8 2948
Reserves 7 10.6 117.5
Total shareholders' funds - equity 8 314.6 421.5

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Parent Company Financial Statements.

The Parent Company Financial Statements, including the accompanying Notes, were approved by the Board on 3

March 2009 and were signed on its behalf by:

Martyn Smith
Finance Director







Parent Company Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 December
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2008 2007

£m £m

Operating loss {114.8) 0.7)
Reverse current yeas impairment provision 113.2 0.2
(Increase)/decrease in debtors {2.9) 1.8
Increase/{decrease) in creditors 0.1 0.7
Net cash used in operating activities 4.0) 4.3
Finance revenug received 6.3 7.4
Ingrease in loans receivable from Group subsidiaries 23) (2
Purchase of own shares - {1.9)
Net cash generated from financing activities 4.0 4.3

Movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January and 31 December

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of these Parent Company Financiat Statements.

Financial statements |
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Significant Accounting Policies

Applicable to the Parent Company Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

Basis of preparation
The Company's functional currency is sterling, and the Balance Sheet,
Cash Fow Statement and refated notes are presented in sterding.

The Parent Company Financial Staternents set out on pages 78 to 82 have
been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable UK accounting standards and the Companies Act 1985. A summary
of the principal accounting poficies is set out below, which are consistent with
those followed in the preparation of the Company's Financial Statements for
the year ended 31 December 2008.

Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost fess provision for any impairment
where the recoverable amount is fess than cost. Fixed asset investments are
initially stated at cost, being their purchase cost together with any incidental
expenses of acquisitions. The camying values of fixed asset investments are
reviewed at each year end and if events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Any impairment of fixed asset
investments is charged to the Profit and Loss Account in the year in which

it arises.

Debtors

Debiors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade debtors is established when
there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect al!
amounts due according to the original terms of the debi. The amount of the
provision is the difterence between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, The carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount is recognised in the
Profit and Loss Account. When a trade debt is uncollectibie, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade debtors. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previousty written off are credited in the Profit and Loss Account.

Creditors
Creditors are initially measured at fair value and subsequentty measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided using the incremental liability approach and is
measured on a non-discounted basis at the average tax rates that are expected
to appty in the periods in which the iming differences are expected to reverse,
based on tax rates and laws substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of timing differences that have originated
but not reversed by the bafance sheet date except that:

a) Deferred tax is not recognised on the revaluation of non-monetary asseis
such as property unless a binding sale agreement exists at the balance
sheet date. Where rollover relief is available on an asset then deferred tax
is in any case not recognised.

b} Dederred tax is not recognised on unremitted eamings of overseas
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures unless dividends have been
accrued as receivable or there is a binding agreement to distribute past
eamings at the balance sheet daie.

¢) Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are regarded as
recoverable. Assets are regarded as recoverable when it is regarded as
more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which
the future reversal of the undertying timing differences can be deducted.

dy Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent differences.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency assets and fiabilities are transfated at the rates of exchange
ruling at the year end, Transactions during the year are recorded at rates of
exchange in effect when the transaction occurs.

Dividend distribution

Fina! dividends 1o the Company's sharehalders are recognised as a liability in
the Financial Statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by
the Company's shareholders. interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Share-based payments
Share-based paymenis are exclusively made in connection with employee
share option plangs (ESOPS).

FRS 20, Share-Based Payments, is not applied to shares, share options or
other equity instruments that were granted before or on 7 November 2002
and which had not vested at 1 January 2005, Equity-settled ESOPs granted
after that date are accounted for in accordance with FRS 20, such that the
falr value of the employee service received in exchange for the grant of

the opticn is recognised in the Profit and Loss Account over the related
performance period. The totat amount to be expensed over the vesting period
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options grarted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions for example profitability
growth targets). Non-market vesting condlitions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to becorne exercisable. It recognises the impact of the
vevision of original estimates in the Profit and Loss Account, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital and share premium when the options are exercised.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees, other than those previously asserted by the entity to be
insurance contracts, are initialfy recognised at their fair value and subsequently
measured at the higher of: () the unamortised balance of the related fees
received and defered; and (b) the expenditure required to settie the
commitment at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

{or the year ended 31 December

1 Fixed asset investments 2 Bebtors
2008 2007 2008 2007
Investment in subsidiaries £m £m £m £m
Cost Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries 1148 1108
At 1 January 4 7112 Cther prepayments 2.3 -
Additions 0.2 0.2 Deferred tax 0.4 0.2
At 31 December e 7114 1175 1110
Provision for impairment Inciuded within “Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries” are both cument account and
At 1 January 3964 3962 . )
- intercompany loan balances. The latter are repayable on demand, have no security and
Charged in the year 113.2 0.2 an interest rate of 6.7% (2007: 6.5%)
At 31 December 5096 3%4 : s
Net book amount 3 Creditors
At 1 January and 31 December 2020 3150 ﬁ ?gi"
m
Dezails o the Company's principal subsidiaries are provided in Note 45 of the ::"““'3 """"'%““” "’“"_':_ one year "
Consolidatad Financial Statements. ounts dug 10 Group subsidiaries 29 .
Amount due in respect of own shares purchased - 0.2
The Directors review at each yea end the camying value of the ficed asset imvestmens Cner Creditors :g :g

in the principal subsidiaries by undertaking a value in use calculation. In determining
the value in use, the Directors calculated the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to arise based on management's latest three-year plans, with
extrapolation thereafter, The calculated value in use is sensitive to a number of
assumptions which are discussed in tumn below. These patential changes in key
assumptions falt well within historic variations experienced by the business and are
tharefore cansidered reasonably posshle:

EBIT margin — The long-term EBIT margin is fixed by reference to management’s
estimated EBIT margin as at 2011, An increase/(decrease) in the EBIT margin by 50
basis points in 2010 only would result in a {decrease)increase in the impairment
provision of £(4) millionve4 million. An increase/(decrease) in the long-term EBIT margin
by 50 basis points in 2011 and beyond would result in 4 (decrease)/increase in the
impairment ¢f £(76) million/E76 miliion,

Discount rate — Future cash flows are discounted using 2 pre-tax discount rate of
10.2%. An increase/{decrease) in the disoount rate of 50 basis points would result in
an increase/(decrease) in the impairment provision of £108 milliorv(113) million.

Long-term growth rate — Cash flows beyond an initial three-year period are extrapolated
using & long-term average nominal growth rate of 4.0% 2007; 4,0%) comprising a

real growth sate of 2.0% and inflationary rate of 2.0%. A {decrease}increase in the
nominal growth rate of 1.0% to 3.0%/5.0% would resuft in an increase/{decrease) in the
impairment provision of £29 milliorE(33) million.

Exchange rate — The value in use calculation is performed in eures i line with the
majority of the cash flows of the Company's subsidiaries. The resultant euro valuation is
transiated into Sterling at the closing exchange rate. The main ferecasted non-euro cash
tlows are denominated in sterling and are converiad o euro based on a long-term euroy
sterling exchange rate expected to be in place at the time of the forecast transaction.
Most sterling cash flows are forecast to be converted into euro at a forecast exchange
rate of 1.27. An increase/{ecrease) in the euroésterling exchange rate by one euro cent
would result in an increasef{decrease) in the impairment provision of £5 million/e(5)
million arising upon the transiation of sterling cash flows. This analysis excludes any
trading impacts which may arise from changes in exchange rales.

Included within “Amounts due 1o Group subsidiaries® are bath current account and
intercompany loan balances. The latier are repayable on demand, have no security
and camry an interest rate of 8.7% (2007: 6.8%).

4 (ther financial Labilities

208 207
£ £m
Financial guarantea contracts 0.2 0.2

The fair values of financial guarantee contracts are calculated by discounted cash flow
analysis based upon the probabllity ot default of the underlying subsidiary undertaking
and the expected loss 1o the Company arising upon defautt.

5 Called-up share capital

2m 2007

Rumber &m Humber im

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 1p each 940,000,000 9.4 940,000,000 9.4

Issued and fully paid share capital
At 1 January and
31 December

920,524,047 9.2 920,524,047 9.2

Details of the Company’s share option sthemes are provided in Note 32 of the
Consalidated Financial Statements.

6 Share premium

207

2008
£m
At 1 January and 31 December 20948 2948

Financial statements |
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 31 December

7 Reserves 9 Auditor's remuneration
i —— ww  Auditors remuneration is bome by Avis Management Services Limited, an indirect
£m &m &m subsidiary undertaking.
At 1 January 2007 0.5 1162 1157
Retained profit for the year - 1.6 1.6 10 Directors' remuneration
Increase in equity reserve arising from charge Detalls of Directors' remuneration for the year are provided in Note 43 of the
Io income for snave options in the year - 21 21 Consofidated Financial Statements and the audited part of the Remuneration Repont
Purchase of own shares {21 = @V 0 pages 3910 42
(wn shares released on vesting of share awards 0.2 - 0.2 '
At 31 December 2007 (24 1189 175 11 Majority sharehglder
At 1 January 2008 (24) 1198 M75  pesais of the majority shareholder are provided In Nate 42 of the Consolidated
Retained loss for the year - 0071 (1071} Fingngial Statements.
increase in equity reserve arising from charge
1o income for share options in the year - 0.1 [IA] 12 Related party fransactions
Decrease in equity reserve arising from exercise —
of share optiznqs z the year 9 _ 1.9 09 The Company has taken advantage of the exemption within FRS 8, Related Party
W shares rel o vesting of share awards 30 = 20 Disclasures, not 1o disclose transactions with other entities within the same group.
At 31 December 2008 04 11.0 106 Detalls of related parly transactions involving Group undestakings are provided in

As alowed under section 230 of the Companies Act 985, no Profit and Loss Account
is presented in respect of the Company, The loss of the Company for the year was
£107.1 million (2007: profit of £1.6 million).

tn accondance with FRS 20, for share options that were issued after 7 November 2002,
and which had not vested at 1 January 2005, the fair vaue of the employee service
received in exchange for the gram of the ogtion is recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account over the refated performance period. The Company recharges these expenses
10 the relevant Group company in which the individual is employed.

8 Reconciliation of movements in sharcholders® equity

2007
£m £m
Retained {lossy/profit for the year {107.1) 18
Increase in equity reserve arising from charge
to income for share options-in the year 0.1 -
Decrease in equity reserve arising trom exercise
of share options in the year (1.9) -
Own shares released on vesting of share awards 2.0 0.2
Net (decrease)/tncreasa in shareholders’ equity (106.9) 1.8
At January a5 4197

At 31 December 3146 4215

Notg 43 of the Consolidated Financil Statements.

13 Contingent liabilities

The Company and certain subsidiaries have provided unsecured guarantzes 0 certain
third parties within the normal course of business, the majority of which were in favour
of certain lenders in respect of some of the Group's loan notes and borowing facilities,
together with guarantees provided 10 vehicle suppliers and property fessors. As at

31 December 2008, these guarantees in relation to drawn balances totalied

£998.0 millon (2007 £682.6 mitlion).

Certain Group companies are defendarts in a number of claims and legal proceedings
incidental to their operations. The Directors do not expect that any of these contingencies
will have a material impact on the resutts of financial position of the Company.
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Five Year Summary

Basis of preparation - continuing operations 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Revenue m 1,180 1,202 1,256 1,327 1,314
Underlying profit before taxation €m 46 32 30 38 38
Net exceptional costs before taxation €m 74 13 29 7 29
Basic eamings per share:

— as reported and adjusted for 2005 rights issue € cents (3.3 1.5 {0.2} 1.6 (1.2)
Adjusted/underlying eamings per share:

- as reported and adjusted for 2005 rights issue € cents 47 2.6 23 2.9 24
Net debt €m 966 946 1,008 981 1,133
Shareholders' funds €m 57) 87 85 97 70

Financial statements I






84 avis-europe.com Annuak Report 2008

Shareholder information

Registered office and head office

Avis House, Park Road, Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 2EW
Tel: +44 (0) 1344 426644

Fax: +44 (0) 1344 485616

Registered number; 3311438

Registrar

Shareholders with any queries relating to shareholdings, change of address,
lost share certificates or dividend payments should contact the Company's
registrar an Q871 384 2278 or write to Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer
Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 6DA. The registrar provides a wide range
of sharehotder information on-fine, Shareholders can check their holding

and find practical help on transferring shares or updaiing their details at:
www.shareview.co.uk

Website
The Avis Europe website, www.avis-europe.com, includes an Investor Centre
and is continuously updated with announcements and Avis news,

ShareGift

Shareholders with a smalt number of shares, the value of which makes it
uneconcmic to sell them, may wish to consider donating them to charity
through ShareGift, a registered charity administered by The Orr Mackintosh
Foundation. The share transfer form needed to make a donation may be
obtained from the Avis Europe registrar, Equiniti. Further information about
ShareGift is available at www.sharegift.org or by telephone: 020 7930 3737,

Founders Club

Feunders Club members and holders of other shareholder privileges should
use the following dedicated phone line for all reservations and enquiries
inctuding queries about discounts - 0B70 333 7000,

Avis Europe plc no longer offers discounts for new shareholders with effect
from 1 Januasy 2005.
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Award winning

British Travel Awards,
best leisure car hire
company 2008

Leading car rental provider
in Middle East 2008,
Business Traveller magazine

Buying Business Travel
Awards 2008 winner

Avis Europe plc
Avis House
Park Road
Bracknell
Berkshire
RG12 2EW

British Trave! Awards,
best car hire company
2008

Awarded Superbrand
status in Kuwait for 2009

World Travel Awards,
Asia’s leading car hire
company 2008

British Travet Awards,
pest business car hire
company 2008

Britain's most trusted
brang 2008, car hire sacior
— UK Readers Digest

Socap award for innovation
in customer service

Telephone +44 (0)1344 426644
Facsimile +44 {0)1344 485616
www.avis-europe.com




